# The Role of Extracellular Matrix Communication in Arsenic-Impaired Skeletal Muscle

# **Stem Cell Determination**

by

Teresa Anguiano

BA, Augustana College, 2007

MS, Southern Illinois University, 2010

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the

Graduate School of Public Health in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2020

#### UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

## GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

This dissertation was presented

by

Teresa Anguiano

It was defended on

May 6, 2020

and approved by

Chairperson: Bruce R. Pitt, PhD, Professor, Department of Environmental and Occupational Health, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh

Fabrisia Ambrosio, PhD, MPT, Associate Professor, Department of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation, University of Pittsburgh

Claudette St. Croix, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Cell Biology, School of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh

**Dissertation Director:** Aaron Barchowsky, PhD, Professor, Department of Environmental and Occupational Health, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh

Copyright © by Teresa Anguiano

2020

# The Role of Extracellular Matrix Communication in Arsenic-Impaired Skeletal Muscle Stem Cell Determination

Teresa Anguiano, PhD

University of Pittsburgh, 2020

#### Abstract

Hundreds of millions of individuals worldwide are exposed daily to pathogenic levels of arsenic in the environment. Anthropogenic exposures have caused morbidity, disease, and fatalities through millennia. Chronic arsenic exposures increase risks of cancer and non-cancer diseases, of which cardiovascular and metabolic diseases carry the most considerable disease burden. There is increasing realization that declines in skeletal muscle homeostasis and compositional quality underlie the etiology of cardiovascular and metabolic disease risk. However, the contribution and mechanisms of environmental factors, such as arsenic exposure, in promoting these declines are relatively unknown. Thus, this dissertation sought to fill this significant knowledge gap by investigating the hypothesis that arsenic promotes muscle dysfunction by disrupting intercellular communication within the muscle progenitor cell niche that is critical to muscle maintenance and determination of muscle composition. The studies used in vivo arsenic exposures with interventions combined with ex vivo cell culture experiments to demonstrate that arsenic imparts a dysfunctional memory of intercellular communication into the muscle extracellular matrix (ECM) that disrupts the differentiation fate of myogenic and fibro-adipogenic progenitor cells following injury. Human muscle progenitor cells exposed to low levels of arsenic or to ECM elaborated by connective tissue fibroblasts exposed to arsenic *in vivo* were misdirected from their myogenic fate to either fibrogenic or adipogenic determination. The studies found that arsenic-directed Notch1 signaling, a master regulator of intercellular communication and cell fate, in the ECM promoted the fibro-adipogenic determination of the progenitor cells. Importantly, *in vivo* intervention with SS-31, a mitochondrial protective peptide, or *ex vivo* pharmacological inhibition of Notch activation reversed the impaired tissue regeneration and dysfunctional cell fate determination caused by arsenic exposures. These studies identify the connective tissue fibroblast mitochondria as a target of arsenic-promoted muscle pathogenesis. The findings may have a significant impact on public health as they would reveal a plausible therapeutic intervention that may reduce the severity and burden of disease caused by arsenic exposures.

# **Table of Contents**

Prefacexi
Chapter 1: Introduction1
1.1 Overview of Arsenic1
1.1.1 Fate and Transport of Arsenic in the Environment
1.1.2 Routes of Human Exposure4
1.1.3 Arsenic Metabolism11
1.2 Human Health Effects of Arsenic13
1.3 Skeletal Muscle and the Muscle Stem Cell Niche as Targets of Arsenic Toxicity 20
1.3.1 Overview of Skeletal Muscle20
1.3.2 Satellite Cells and Myogenesis20
1.3.3 The Extracellular Matrix Composition and Communication22
1.3.4 Muscle Progenitors and Skeletal Muscle Management
1.3.5 Skeletal Muscle Dysfunction in Cardiometabolic Disease and Epidemiology
of Arsenic In Muscle Morbidity26
1.3.6 Arsenic Effects on Skeletal Muscle and Muscle Progenitor Cells27
1.4 Hypothesis and Aims28
2.0 Chapter 2: A Historic Perspective of Anthropogenic and Occupational Arsenic
Exposures
2.1 The Deadly Color of Fashion: A Historical Account of Green Arsenical Pigments

Myogenesis 3	7
Abstract	7
4.0 Introduction	9
4.1 Materials and Methods 4	1
4.2 Results	4
4.3 Discussion 5	4
5.0 Chapter 4: Arsenic Directs Stem Cell Fate by Imparting Notch Signaling into the	
Extracellular Matrix Niche 5	8
Abstract	8
5.1 Introduction	<i>:</i> 9
6.0 Materials and Methods 6	2
6.1 Results	8
6.2 Discussion7	'9
7.0 Chapter 5: Future Directions and Conclusions	34
7.1 Introduction	4
7.2 Results of Preliminary Studies and Discussion	6
8.0 Conclusions and Future Directions	2
Appendix: Antibodies and Reagents	15
Bibliography	8

# List of Tables

Table 1: Abundance of CTF mitochondrial channel and respiratory proteins	.71
Appendix Table 1: Primary Antibodies	. 95
Appendix Table 2: Secondary Antibodies and Dyes	. 95

# List of Figures

Figure 1: Oxidative methylation pathway for inorganic arsenic in mammals 12
Figure 2: Arsenic impairs myoblasts differentiation efficiency through an EGFR dependent
mechanism
Figure 3: Sustained EFGR activation and mitochondrial localization in arsenic-primed RC.
Figure 4: Images for graphs 3D-E 48
Figure 5: Dysfunctional mitochondrial effects of arsenic and EGF 50
Figure 6: Arsenic effects on EGFR and mitochondrial regulation of nuclear cyclinD1 52
Figure 7: Images for Grafts 6 C-D 53
Figure 8: ECM from CTF <sup>ars</sup> inhibits myogenesis and promotes fibro-adipogenic
differentiation
Figure 9: Arsenic effects on CTF mitochondrial morphology and respiratory complexes. 71
Figure 10: Mitochondrial SS-31 treatment reverses arsenic effects on ECM and
regeneration73
Figure 11: SS-31 reversal of arsenic-induced Notch1 expression in vivo
Figure 12: SS-31 reversal of arsenic-induced CTF Notch1 activity77
Figure 13: Notch-induced ECM DLL4 impairs hMPC myogenic differentiation
Figure 14: Arsenic-increased interstitial collagen expression in uninjured mice
Figure 15: Hematoxylin and Eosin stain of regenerating TA muscle
Figure 16: Arsenic exposure increases fibro-adipogenic tissue following injury
Figure 17: Effect of ex vivo arsenic exposure on CTF phenotype

Appendix Supplemental Figure 1: CTF Characterization										
Appendix	Supplemental 1	Figure 2:	Ef	fect of	Arse	enic on	CTF n	itochondria	l res	spiratory
protein	expression	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••		•••••	•••••	
Appendix	Supplemental	Figure	3:	Effect	of	ECM	DLL4	inhibition	on	hMuSC
differen	tiation	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••		•••••	•••••	

#### Preface

## Acknowledgments

I would first like to thank Dr. Aaron Barchowsky for his time, patience, guidance, and support. This man graciously adopted the role of my Principal Investigator, performing his general scientific stewardship duties in addition to maintaining my sanity throughout the years. I may not have been the most ideal of doctoral candidates, but I hope to have been among the most interesting that he has had in his extensive record of graduate mentees. I wish him health and fortune in all of his future endeavors. He is a man that is very deserving of all that is good and more.

I would like to thank my committee members, who include Dr. Bruce Pitt of the Department of Environmental and Occupational Health, Dr. Fabrisia Ambrosio of the Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, and Dr. Claudette St. Croix of the Department of Cell Biology. I am thankful for Dr. Pitt's mild temperament and appreciation for science. Dr. Ambrosio, warmly known as Faby, is an admirable woman who exemplifies innovative thought and who motivates all those around her with this exuberant energy that she manifests. Finally, Dr. St. Croix is a woman of science with a killer sense of style and a genuinely kind demeanor capable of putting anyone at ease. I am grateful for having had her as my academic advisor and for taking her imaging course.

I would like to thank my parents, Jose and Socorro Anguiano - my infinite sources of emotional support. I am immensely proud to be the daughter of hardworking immigrants who've made countless sacrifices to build a sustainable life for their three children. I can only hope to have made them as proud of me as I am of them. I also thank my older sister, Yadira Guzman, and brother, Ernesto Anguiano, for their humor and encouragement throughout the years. Les tengo mucho cariño y amor.

I thank past and current members of the Barchowsky laboratory. I especially thank Dr. Kevin Beezhold and Dr. Yesica Garciafigueroa for extending their friendship and support to me when I initially joined the lab. I would also like to thank all students, professors, and administrative staff in the Department of Environmental and Occupational Health.

Finally, I wish to thank my boyfriend, Stephen Thomas Packosky. Steve is a handsome man with piercing blue eyes and a beguiling crooked smile. He is one of the funniest and generous men I have ever encountered, and I was fortunate to have our paths cross when they did. I fell for his charm and gentle nature; I can only assume he appreciated my knowledge of dystopian literature and found my quirks endearing. His support and affection kept me going when times were stormy and speckled with uncertainty. I will forever consider him to be one of the greatest gifts the universe has granted me because together we are imperfectly perfect.

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

# **1.1 Overview of Arsenic**

Arsenic is a naturally occurring toxic metalloid, ranking 20<sup>th</sup> as the most abundant element comprising the earth's crust (Mandal & Suzuki, 2002). Because arsenic is an element, it is ubiquitously distributed in nature (ATSDR, 2016; Oremland & Stolz, 2003). The amount of arsenic in the environment supplied by natural sources, however, is surpassed by the amount of arsenic released into the environment through various anthropogenic activities, of which include: extraction of drinking water from underground aquifers, the combustion of fossil fuels, smelting of multiple metals, hide tanning waste, runoff from mine tailings, pigment production for dyes and paints, preservation of wood, and glass and electronics industries (ATSDR, 2016). Presently, arsenic, in the form of arsine gas and gallium arsenide, is widely used in manufacturing electronics and semiconductor devices (ATSDR, 2016), and inorganic arsenic is commonly used in the manufacture of specialty metals and glasses.

Arsenic (atomic number 33; relative atomic mass 74.92) can be found in several chemical forms and varying oxidations states. There are three primary forms in which arsenic compounds can be found: organic, inorganic, and arsine gas (ATSDR, 2016). The environmentally relevant forms of arsenic, organic and inorganic, can exist in four oxidation states (-3, 0, +3, and +5) (ATSDR, 2016; Hughes *et al.*, 2011). Arsenic is rarely observed in its elemental state (with a valence state of 0) because it can readily form covalent bonds with carbon, hydrogen, oxygen, sulfur, and other elements (Hughes *et al.*, 2011; Oremland & Stolz, 2003). Common arsenic ores include orpiment (yellow arsenic, As2S3), realgar (red arsenic, AsS), and arsenopyrite (grey

arsenic, FeAsS) (Barchowsky, 2020). Arsenic also has the capability of forming alloys with certain metals such as gold, lead, or copper (Barchowsky, 2020; Oremland & Stolz, 2003).

#### **1.1.1 Fate and Transport of Arsenic in the Environment**

#### Soil

Arsenic naturally occurs in the environment, but the abundance of arsenic among soils widely varies depending on the mineral content of the soils and the bedrock from which it is derived, the parent rock (Mitchell, 2014; Smedley and Kinniburgh, 2002). Arsenic is present in more than 200 different mineral species, of which more than half are arsenates, a fifth are sulfosalts and sulfites, and the remaining fifth include elemental arsenic, arsenites, arsenides, sililates, and oxides. (Onishi, 1969). In nature, arsenic can most often occur in its sulfide form in minerals containing copper, lead, silver, cobalt, nickel, antimony, and iron (IARC, 2017). The major arsenic-containing minerals include realgar (As<sub>4</sub>S<sub>4</sub>), orpiment and arsenic trisulfide (As<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub>), and arsenopyrites (FeAsS).

In the Earth's crust, arsenic can be found in concentrations ranging from 1.5-2 ppm (NRC, 2014). Arsenic in soils ranges from almost undetectable at 0.1 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> to 40 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, the average concentration measuring around 5-6 mg kg-1 (Bowen, 1979). Elevated levels of arsenic deposition in soil can be attributed to the erosion of bedrock by geothermal waters (Bundschuh et al., 2013; Lord et al., 2012) and mining operations. Arsenic can also accumulate in the soils as dust from volcanic eruptions (Liu et al., 2013), burning of fossil fuels (Piver, 1983), waste from industrial practices (Woolson, 1983), and in the form of agricultural products from the application of fungicides, herbicides, rodenticides, insecticides (Blaurock-Blesch, 2013; Hathaway et al., 1991), fertilizers, cotton desiccants, soil sterilants and defoliants (IARC, 2017). Common arsenical

pesticides include organic arsenicals as ingredients such as monosodium methanearsonate (MSMA V) and dimethylarsinic acid (DMAs V), also known as cacodylic acid (Hughes et al., 2011). Although lead arsenate pesticides have not been in use in the last 50 years, their residues persist in the environment. This poses a significant public health concern for those living in modern residential areas of the United States, where the land was formerly utilized as orchards, which includes acres of land in Washington, Wisconsin, and New Jersey (Hood, 2006).

#### Water

Water can contain both organic and inorganic forms of arsenic. Aerobic surface waters such as lakes and pond waters can contain methylated forms of arsenic (i.e., MMA and DMA; (Welch *et al.*, 2000), but they mostly include inorganic forms of arsenic as they are highly soluble in water (ATSDR, 2016). Arsenic levels in rivers, however, are higher than concentrations found in lakes, possibly due to the adsorption by iron oxides (Welch et al., 2000) and geothermal activity (Aggett and Kriegman, 1988). Concentrations of naturally-occurring arsenic in groundwater are generally below 10 µg will vary from region to region due to various factors such as geology and climate (Welch et al., 2000). Wells that tap into deep sources of groundwater will contain predominantly arsenite forms (AsIII) (Barchowsky, 2020), which is a highly toxic species. High levels of arsenic in drinking water of many countries are primarily due to the contamination of groundwater, which can be a result of weathering of arsenic-rich ore deposits and acid mine leachate that can contain over 100 mg/L inorganic arsenic (Welch et al., 2000). Due to high geothermal activity in the waters of Japan and New Zealand, the arsenic levels can range up to 6.4 mg/L (Nakahara, 1978) and up to 9.08 mg/L (Lord et al., 2012), respectively. In the United States, areas in Northeast, Northwest, Southwest, and Alaska with a high degree of geologic and tectonic activity have arsenic levels that range over 3 mg/L (ATSDR, 2016).

Arsenic is emitted into the atmosphere through weathering of arsenic-containing minerals and ores, by volcanoes through eruptions, from the burning of vegetation (Chung et al., 2014), and as a byproduct of industrial and commercial processes (ATSDR, 2016). Anthropogenic activities account for an estimated 24000 tons of arsenic released into the atmosphere (IARC, 2017). Arsenic, for example, is released from the smelting process, which is a separation of metal from rock, of various metal ores that include gold, nickel, zinc, lead, and cobalt. Burning of fossil fuels that contain arsenic is another source for arsenical air emissions (ATSDR, 2016). When arsenic is emitted into the atmosphere, it is primarily in the form of arsenous acid (As2O3), where it can adhere to small particulate matter that is dispersed over distances by the wind. Eventually, the particles settle back onto the earth via wet or dry deposition. Microbial sources in sediments and soils can also release arsines into the air, where it is then oxidized. Once the arsenic is converted to non-volatile forms, it can deposit back to the soil or contaminate surface water sources such as rivers and lakes (ATSDR, 2016).

## 1.1.2 Routes of Human Exposure

Arsenic is ubiquitously distributed throughout the globe, either as natural geological deposition or as a residue byproduct of the utilization of natural resources. It is of no surprise, then, that the human population is exposed to arsenic primarily through air, food, and water. In the occupational setting, workers are mainly exposed to arsenic through inhalation and dermal absorption (Chung et al., 2014). But the vast majority of the global population is substantially exposed daily to arsenic through the consumption of drinking water or the consumption of dietary

sources, specifically rice and fish (Mitchell, 2014). Overall, there are many pathways through which arsenic may adversely affect human health.

#### **Consumption of Arsenic from Contaminated Drinking Water**

As a consequence of destructive anthropogenic activities, millions of people around the world suffer from toxic health effects that result from drinking water contaminated with high levels of arsenic (Blaurock-Blesch, 2013). In 2014, the WHO warned that about 200 million people worldwide are exposed to arsenic concentrations exceeding the threshold of 10 µg/L (Gugliemi, 2017). Chronic exposure to high arsenic concentrations in drinking water has been a significant concern in many regions of the world, most notably in Vietnam, Mexico, the United States of American, People's Republic of China, including Taiwan, and in some Central American and South American countries (Naujokas et al., 2013; IARC, 2017; Hunt et al., 2014), the worst affected being West Bengal (India) and Bangladesh (Iyer et al., 2016). These areas may have experienced contamination of arsenic in their groundwater designated for drinking and agricultural purposes. The higher concentrations of arsenic tend to be found in areas where the soil pH is high and near clay and sand younger than 10,000 years. The arsenic in older sediments are expected to have already been washed out to sea as these sediments may have already been exposed to a great deal of water over geological time (Gugliemi, 2017).

Beginning in 1928, tube wells were installed in the rural areas of Bangladesh to be utilized as safe sources of drinking water (Ahmad et al., 2018). The issue with this is that the groundwater, especially water sourced from bedrock wells, became contaminated with naturally occurring high levels of arsenic. When the geographical sediments are manipulated, the arsenic is released from being bound to sulfides, iron oxides, and organic matter and contaminates the groundwater (Welch *et al.*, 2000). In Pakistan, an estimated 1200 wells, which constitutes approximately 2/3 of the wells throughout Pakistan, exceed the WHO-recommended threshold of arsenic of 10  $\mu$ g/L (Podgorski *et al.*, 2017). Wells along the Indus River Valley, which spans northwest India and Pakistan, may contain extremely high levels of arsenic (> 200  $\mu$ g/L). These wells provide water of high arsenic content to an estimated 60 million individuals (Podgorski *et al.*, 2017).

Millions of people were exposed to arsenic after many wells were drilled in Bangladesh and throughout the Indian subcontinent in the 1970s (Ahmad *et al.*, 2018; Podgorski *et al.*, 2017). Before the installation of the tube wells, people in rural areas were limited to surface water sources that include lakes, ponds, canals, and rivers. Most of these sources were heavily contaminated with biological hazards causing cholera and other diarrheal diseases. The groundwater located a few meters below the surface, however, was considered to be more sanitary. The tube wells were an attempt to avoid microbial contamination and incidences of diarrheal disease; they were to provide microbiologically safe water for the rural populations (Ahmad *et al.*, 2018).

By the 1990s, almost all of the total population of Bangladesh (97%) had access to drinking water through tube wells (Ahmad *et al.*, 2018). But by1993, the water that had low microbial content as determined to be contaminated with naturally-occurring arsenic. The WHO estimated that 35 to 77 million people in Bangladesh alone could be at risk of consuming drinking water with unsafe levels of arsenic (Ahmad *et al.*, 2018) as the country has about 6-11 million tube wells containing arsenic (Hawkesworth *et al.*, 2013) The concentrations of arsenic detected in the majority of the wells are within 0.10 - 0.30 mg/L; the highest concentration running as high as 4.7 mg/L (Ahmad *et al.*, 2018).

The concentrations of arsenic in drinking water in some private wells in the United States are as high as 5,000  $\mu$ g/L, which is in the range of the highest concentrations reported in Bangladesh (USGS, 2017). In an attempt to address the long-term chronic effects of exposure to

low concentrations of inorganic arsenic in drinking water in the United States, the EPA revised the current Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) for arsenic in drinking water from 50  $\mu$ g/L to 10  $\mu$ g/L in January 2001. The requirements for this final rule indicated that community water systems (CWSs), which are any public water system serving a minimum of 25 residents year-round, and non-transient, non-community water systems (NTNCWSs) such as churches, schools, and nursing homes, were required to meet compliance of the new arsenic MCL by January 2006 (EPA, 2001). Municipalities are mandated to test public drinking water sources for arsenic, but unregulated private wells remain a concern.

#### **Consumption of Arsenic from Contaminated Foods**

Among non-occupationally exposed individuals, food and drinking water are considered to be the primary sources for organic and inorganic arsenic exposures (Bernstam and Nriagu, 2000; Mantha et al., 2017). Humans run the risk of being exposed to both trivalent and pentavalent forms of arsenic from foods ingested daily (Oberoi *et al.*, 2019). Arsenic in food comes from uptake from the soil and irrigation water (Majumder & Banik, 2019; Meharg *et al.*, 2009; Nachman *et al.*, 2018; Punshon *et al.*, 2017). Soil is impacted by both anthropogenic and natural geological factors causing the content of arsenic in a given food to vary greatly (Carey *et al.*, 2012; Punshon *et al.*, 2017). However, genetics for plant uptake mechanisms also vary greatly, making generalized risk assessment a challenge (Nachman *et al.*, 2018; Punshon *et al.*, 2017).

Rice and grains are the most commonly ingested foods that contain arsenic. Rice is a staple food of Southeast Asia, but unfortunately, it is also a significant source of the highly toxic inorganic arsenic. While water contaminated with high levels of arsenic is used to irrigate paddy fields of areas in Bangladesh and West Bengal, rice grown in naturally or anthropogenically contaminated soils in other regions of the world, such as the southern parts of the United States and France, contain much more arsenic (Meharg *et al.*, 2009). Rice is particularly vulnerable to contamination as arsenic is concentrated in the germ layer of the kernels (Carey *et al.*, 2012).

Rice straw is the leftover stalk of the rice plant that remains once the rice plant has been harvested. Similar to how the grains of rice can accumulate substantial concentrations of arsenic, arsenic is also able to accumulate throughout the rice straw, which is then used as feed for livestock such as cattle in Asian regions. The high levels of arsenic in this straw could directly threaten the health of humans who then consume milk from the arsenic-exposed cattle (Abedin et al., 2002). In arsenic-contaminated rural areas of the Ganga-Meghna-Brahmaputra (GMB), a grown cow will consume 30-40 liters of water per day and consume 10-12 kg of straw, which could give an idea of how much arsenic they ingest in arsenic-contaminated regions (Chakraborti et al., 2016).

In the United States, arsenic was also added to the animal feed directly for decades as an attempt to induce growth and prevent disease (Silbergeld & Nachman, 2008). Roxarsone, marketed by Pfizer as 3-Nitro®, for example, was an inorganic arsenical compound used mainly as a nutritional supplement for chickens. Roxarsone had been in use since 1944, intended not only for promoting growth but for killing intestinal parasites and for making the meat look pinker, most likely due to roxarsone and arsenic's angiogenic behavior (Basu et al., 2008). 3-Nitro was assumed not to affect people who consumed the exposed animals as the drug contained the organic form of arsenic, which is less toxic than inorganic arsenic. However, due to growing suspicions that the organic arsenic could convert into its more toxic counterpart, Pfizer voluntarily withdrew roxarsone from the US market once FDA scientists determined that levels of inorganic arsenic in the livers of chickens treated with roxarsone were higher than the levels in the livers of chickens not treated with the compound (Nigra et al., 2017). At that same time, two newer arsenic animal drugs, carbarsone and arsanilic acid were also voluntarily withdrawn from their approved status

for use in animal feeds. By the end of 2015, the last remaining arsenic-based animal drug on the US market, called Histostat (nitarsone), had been discontinued (FDA, 2019; Nigra et al., 2017).

Before the arsenical animal drugs were banned, terrestrial animals contained arsenic levels in the range of 7-30 ng As/g dry mass (Dabeka *et al.*, 1993). Still, they were not, and are not, the only organisms in danger of arsenic accumulation. For instance, feral marine fish may provide higher concentrations of arsenic when compared with freshwater organisms (Francesconi & Kuehnelt, 2004) and terrestrial organisms, such as cattle or poultry (Kuehnelt and Goessler, 2003; Sakurai et al., 2004). The arsenic levels found in marine fish may contain anywhere between  $1\mu g$ As/g ww to more than ten µg As/g ww (species dependent) (Sele et al., 2015; Sloth & Julshamn, 2008), whereas the arsenic levels found in freshwater fish is typically less than 1 µg As/g ww (Lawrence et al., 1986). More specifically, seawater ordinarily contains 0.001-0.008 mg/l of arsenic (Penrose et al., 1977) so some shellfish can, therefore, contain levels of arsenic above 100 µg g<sup>-1</sup> (Mandal & Suzuki, 2002) However, seafood generally contains organic forms of arsenic, arsenobetaine and arsenocholine, which pose no toxicity potential to humans (ATSDR, 2016). Arsenobetaine is considered to be the primary organoarsenic compound found in fish (Borak & Hosgood, 2007) as it constitutes more than 95% of the total arsenic present (Francesconi & Edmonds, 1996). Arsenobetaine is distributed differently throughout the bodies of fish of different species. In Atlantic salmon, for example, the highest concentration of arsenobetaine can be found in muscle tissue. In contrast, the most elevated levels measured in Atlantic cod are present in the muscle, liver, and gall bladder (Sele et al., 2015).

#### **Ingestion of Arsenic from Soil**

Direct exposure to arsenic from soil is usually minimal in humans, but if such exposure were to occur, it would generally be via incidental ingestion, especially by children (Hughes *et al.*,

2011; Ngole-Jeme *et al.*, 2018). Young children have tendencies to play with dirt and in playgrounds and they also tend to place their hands in their mouths. Studies indicate that children living in areas near smelting activity displayed signs of elevated lead, cadmium, and arsenic due to soil contamination (Blaurock-Blesch, 2013). Another dietary source of arsenic is acquired through the ingestion of arsenic-containing clays and soils, such as in the deliberate practice of geophagia (Al-Rmalli *et al.*, 2010; Ngole-Jeme *et al.*, 2018), especially in pregnant women (Nyanza *et al.*, 2014). The bioaccessibilities of arsenic from mineral complexes in the soil are variable, but significant (Ngole-Jeme *et al.*, 2018). Heavy rainfall can induce downstream movement of arsenic from the mining-rich areas, which can then accumulate in the soil (Majumder & Banik, 2019) and nearby water sources.

#### **Inhalation of Arsenic**

The human exposure to arsenic through the air is relatively low. When compared to residential areas, the exposure to arsenic in airborne particulate matter is higher in areas with industrial activity (Chung *et al.*, 2014; Chung et al., 2014). The European Commission (2000) reported that level of arsenic in the air could "range 0-1 ng/m<sup>3</sup> in remote areas, 0.2-1.5 ng/m<sup>3</sup> in rural areas, 0.5-3ng/m<sup>3</sup> in urban areas, and up to about 50 ng/m<sup>3</sup> in the vicinity of industrial sites" (Hughes *et al.*, 2011).

According to the EPA, the general American public is exposed to an estimated 40-90 ng per day via inhalation (Pontius *et al.*, 1994). In the GMB Plain, people are directly exposed to high levels of arsenic through inhalation, which can then be absorbed by the respiratory tract. In the GMB Plain, cows ingest arsenic-contaminated water and straw and so their dung, utilized extensively for cooking purposes, contain a significant amount of arsenic. Cow dung cakes, which are used as a cheaper alternative to kerosene or coal, are readily available to the rural villages of

the region. The preparation of the cow dung cakes involves combining the dung with straw and more arsenic-containing water and drying the paddies in the sun before being used indoors in unventilated ovens. As the dung cakes are burnt as fuel, the arsenic is released in the smoke which is then inhaled. The villagers inhale 1859.2 ng of arsenic per day, of which a reasonably good amount (464.8 ng) could be absorbed by the respiratory tract (Pal *et al.*, 2007).

Occupationally, airborne arsenic exposures are significant in mining dusts and smelting. Arsenic is often a considerable workplace and environmental contaminant in areas where gold (Au) and Cu are smelted (Eisler, 2004; Enterline *et al.*, 1995).

## 1.1.3 Arsenic Metabolism

Inorganic arsenic is more rapidly absorbed by humans and is generally the more toxic species when compared to organic (methylated, dimethylated, or organo-sugars and lipids) arsenic (ATSDR, 2016). Overall, natural organic arsenical forms are considered to be the least toxic, whereas arsine gas has the highest toxicity (Barchowsky, 2020). The most common valance states of inorganic compounds include arsenite (AsIII or  $As^{3+}$ - trivalent form) and arsenate (AsV or  $As^{5+}$  – pentavalent form). Arsenite is considered a more toxicologically potent oxyanion than arsenate due to increased absorption and cellular uptake (Hughes *et al.*, 2011; McDermott *et al.*, 2010), as well the trivalent arsenicals' strong reactivity with compounds containing sulfhydryl groups (Cullen & Reimer, 1989; Styblo *et al.*, 2000).

Once inorganic arsenic is ingested, it is absorbed through aquaporins in the gastrointestinal tract (Z. Liu, 2010; Mukhopadhyay *et al.*, 2014; States, 2015) and undergoes reduction and methylation processes in the liver before the being eliminated most commonly through renal excretion in urine (Aposhian *et al.*, 2003; Hughes *et al.*, 2011). Inorganic arsenic is metabolized

by a sequential process involving a two-electron reduction of pentavalent arsenic, followed by oxidative methylation to pentavalent organic arsenic (Fig. 1). In this pathway, the pentavalent arsenic metabolite monomethylarsonic ( $MMA^V$ ) is the result of the oxidative methylation of inorganic  $As^3$ , which is then reduced to monomethylarsonous acid ( $MMA^{III}$ ), the trivalent methylated metabolite. Further oxidative reactions include methylation of  $MMA^{III}$  to form dimethylarsninic acid ( $DMA^v$ ), which in turn is reduced to dimethylarsinous acid ( $DMA^{III}$ ) (Aposhian *et al.*, 2003; Hughes *et al.*, 2011). The biotransformed metabolites are generally less toxic and more rapidly excreted than both forms of inorganic arsenicals (Aposhian *et al.*, 2003; Hughes *et al.*, 2011).



Figure 1: Oxidative methylation pathway for inorganic arsenic in mammals.

In addition to renal excretions, arsenic can be excreted through fecal matter, perspiration, milk, and bile (Aposhian *et al.*, 2003; Hughes *et al.*, 2011). Arsenic that is not excreted from the

body may accumulate in areas such as the skin, hair, nails, and muscles (Carter *et al.*, 2003; Hughes *et al.*, 2011). Inorganic arsenic has a particular affinity for hair and other keratin-rich tissues. In typical exposures, the average amount of arsenic present in hair is 0.8  $\mu$ g/g, concentrations higher than 1.0  $\mu$ g/g are indicative of poisoning or excess arsenic exposure (Arnold et al., 1990). The average amount of arsenic in nails is around 0.34  $\mu$ g/g, but clippings can contain anywhere from 20-130  $\mu$ g/g in cases of arsenic poisoning (ATSDR, 2016). Aside from nails, hair and teeth, analyses reveal that body tissues will contain less than 0.3  $\mu$ g/g<sup>-1</sup> (ATSDR, 2016). When the liver has exceeded its methylating capacities during times of exposures to elevated levels of inorganic arsenic, the body will increase its retention of the arsenic in the soft tissues (ATSDR, 2016; Carter *et al.*, 2003). The level of arsenic retention will largely determine the resulting toxicity of arsenic.

### **1.2 Human Health Effects of Arsenic**

Arsenic has had both a good and a bad reputation for centuries. Arsenical compounds have formerly been used for medicinal purposes by treating many diseases: malaria, ulcers, sleeping sickness, some forms of leukemia, syphilis, and skin conditions (Barchowsky, 2020; Hughes *et al.*, 2011). But the odorless and tasteless properties of arsenic have made it one of the most preferred and oldest poisons known to man – a "Poison of Kings." Arsenic, with its indiscernible nature, is considered to be highly toxic where one-tenth of a gram is acutely lethal in humans (Carter *et al.*, 2003; Hughes *et al.*, 2011). At specific points in history, arsenic was added to food or drink and causing arsenic poisoning symptoms – vomiting, diarrhea, and abdominal pain – that could have easily been mistaken for other common diseases of the time, such as cholera and pneumonia (ATSDR, 2016).

Chronic arsenic exposure became a modern global public health concern due to its toxicity and carcinogenic potential among hundreds of millions of individuals worldwide. The International Agency for Research on Cancer has classified inorganic arsenic as a Class 1 human carcinogen (IARC, 2017). Epidemiologic studies have associated arsenic exposure with an increased risk of cancers, including those of the stomach, liver, bladder, kidney, skin, and lung (Hughes *et al.*, 2011). In addition to the cancers, arsenic exposure has cardiovascular (Moon *et al.*, 2017), pulmonary (Sanchez *et al.*, 2018), neurological/cognitive (Tyler & Allan, 2014), hepatic (Das *et al.*, 2012), renal (Zheng *et al.*, 2015), gastrointestinal, reproductive, and immunologic toxicities (ATSDR, 2016; Engstrom *et al.*, 2013).

Cardiovascular disease and coronary artery disease, in particular, are the non-cancer diseases most strongly associated with environmental arsenic exposures (Moon *et al.*, 2017; Nigra *et al.*, 2016; NRC, 2014) and with the highest amount of mortality risk. Systematic review and meta-analysis of recent highly powered prospective epidemiological studies of the dose-dependent association of arsenic with coronary artery disease morbidity and mortality confirmed the significant risk of disease even at the current EPA maximum contaminant level (MCL) of  $10 \mu g/L$  (Moon *et al.*, 2017). The dominant form of disease stems from the atherogenic potential of arsenic and its propensity to enhance both vessel disease and prolongation of the cardiac Q-T interval (Nigra *et al.*, 2016; Wu *et al.*, 2014). Mechanistically, arsenic-stimulated ROS and inflammatory cytokine expression promote endothelial cell dysfunction, proatherogenic monocyte and macrophage phenotypes, smooth muscle expansion, and vessel wall stiffening (Lemaire *et al.*, 2014; Wu *et al.*, 2014). The vascular endothelium is highly sensitive to arsenic exposures, with low-level exposure promoting cell proliferation, angiogenesis, vessel remodeling, and loss of vasodilator response (Soucy *et al.*, 2003; Soucy *et al.*, 2005; Straub *et al.*, 2008; Tseng *et al.*,

2005). In contrast, high-level As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> exposure in cancer therapies is antiangiogenic and causes endothelial cell death with loss of vessels (Roboz *et al.*, 2000; Soucy *et al.*, 2003; Soucy *et al.*, 2005). Atherosclerotic mouse models show increased atherosclerosis following even moderate arsenic exposures and indicate smooth muscle cell remodeling and aberrant macrophage lipid metabolism as the prime pathogenic targets (Lemaire *et al.*, 2011; Lemaire *et al.*, 2015). In addition, mouse models have also demonstrated that low to moderate levels (<100  $\mu$ g/L) of exposure cause perivascular fibrosis and loss of perivascular matrix integrity, especially in the heart (Hays *et al.*, 2008; Soucy *et al.*, 2005). Blackfoot disease is a severe occlusive peripheral vascular disease associated with chronic, high-level arsenic exposure in drinking water, especially in endemic regions in Taiwan (Tseng *et al.*, 2005; C. H. Wang *et al.*, 2007). It is an arteriosclerosis manifested by acrocyanosis and Raynaud's phenomenon that may progress to endarteritis and gangrene of the lower extremities.

Chronic exposure to inorganic arsenic is associated with a range of nonmalignant respiratory symptoms, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), and respiratory disease mortality (Parvez *et al.*, 2013; Sanchez *et al.*, 2016; Sanchez *et al.*, 2018). Susceptibility to the respiratory effects of arsenic is enhanced by in utero exposure (Rahman *et al.*, 2011; Ramsey *et al.*, 2013; Sanchez *et al.*, 2016) and co-exposure to tobacco smoke (Parvez *et al.*, 2013). Also, arsenic exposure is associated with increased respiratory tract infections (Farzan *et al.*, 2016; Rahman *et al.*, 2011) and chronic lung infections, including pulmonary tuberculosis (A. H. Smith *et al.*, 2011). Prospective epidemiologic studies indicate that arsenic causes chronic loss of lung defenses, such as secretion of CC16 protein from airway cells (Parvez *et al.*, 2010). Rodent studies suggest that low to moderate levels of in utero arsenic exposure decreases immune gene expression and promote inflammatory protein expression (Kozul, Hampton, *et al.*, 2009; Ramsey *et al.*, 2013)

that may make mice more susceptible to airway infections (Kozul, Ely, *et al.*, 2009). In keeping with reduced lung defenses, as in the heart, arsenic compromises lung matrix, wound repair, and barrier function (Hays *et al.*, 2008; Lantz & Hays, 2006; Petrick *et al.*, 2009; Sherwood *et al.*, 2013).

Lung cancer accounts for the majority of arsenic-related cancer deaths, with in utero exposures increasing the risk of lung cancer later in life (ATSDR, 2016; IARC, 2017). Based upon a meta-analysis, Begum et al. estimated that about 4.51 additional lung cancer cases per 100,000 people for a maximum contamination level of 10  $\mu$ g/L of arsenic in drinking water and enhanced risk with co-exposure to tobacco smoke. It is likely that arsenic is not the primary carcinogen, but synergizes with the carcinogenic potential of tobacco smoke constituents. Arsenic is unique among the metals and chemical carcinogens since arsenic-promoted lung cancer is independent of the route of exposure with oral ingestion and inhalation giving equivalent increases in the risk of disease (A. H. Smith *et al.*, 2009). Metabolism of arsenic is also a critical component of lung cancer risk as higher percentages of MMA(III) are associated with higher risk (Kuo *et al.*, 2017).

Chronic arsenic exposures, especially higher-level exposures, are associated with metabolic diseases. Arsenic is predominantly metabolized in the liver and chronic exposure is associated with liver disease. Arsenic associated liver disease manifests initially as jaundice, abdominal pain, and hepatomegaly (Mazumder & Dasgupta, 2011). Liver injury may progress to cirrhosis and ascites, as well as to hepatocellular carcinoma (IARC, 2017; J. Liu *et al.*, 2008; Straif *et al.*, 2009). However, liver cancer is poorly associated with arsenic exposure (Straif *et al.*, 2009). Arsenic exposure and arsenic metabolites are associated with diabetes (Grau-Perez *et al.*, 2017; Kuo *et al.*, 2017). It is not clear, however, whether low-level arsenic is directly diabetogenic or enhances diabetes in diabetic individuals (Grau-Perez *et al.*, 2017; Maull *et al.* 

2012). Interestingly, a lower percentage of MMA is associated with the diabetogenic effects of arsenic (Grau-Perez *et al.*, 2017), and again in utero exposure may enhance disease in later life (reviewed in (Young *et al.*, 2018). Cell and animal studies have shown that arsenic directly impairs pancreatic beta cells and insulin release (Fu *et al.*, 2010; Martin *et al.*, 2017).

It is not surprising that the organs most susceptible to the effects of arsenic are those involved in the absorption, excretion, or accumulation processes of arsenic. The primary form of arsenic present in drinking water is the inorganic form of arsenic (Mantha et al., 2017; Naujokas et al., 2013), predominantly AsIII (Ahmad et al., 2018), rendering it highly incidental for developing kidney and bladder cancers. The unique kinetics of arsenic and metabolites significantly increase the risk for transitional cell carcinoma of the bladder (Cohen et al., 2013; IARC, 2017; Tokar et al., 2011). The metabolites are readily excreted into the urine, and enhanced concentration promotes cyclic epithelial cell death and regeneration that ultimately results in cellular transformation (Cohen et al., 2013). However, the metabolism of inorganic arsenic is not required to produce carcinogenic responses in the bladder epithelium, as hyperplasia and transformation is increased in mice lacking As3MT, relative to wild-type controls (Chen et al., 2011). Arsenic also forms intracellular cytoplasmic granules in the bladder epithelium (Yokohira et al., 2011). Bladder cancer risk is up to six-fold higher in arsenic-exposed females relative to males, and the association of arsenic exposure with bladder cancer risk is greatly enhanced in smokers or ever-smokers (Ferreccio et al., 2013). It appears that most renal cancers associated with arsenic exposure are transitional cell carcinomas and are thought to arise from the urothelial bladder cells (IARC, 2017).

The neurotoxicity of arsenic is well recognized, especially in the clinical signs of severe polyneuropathy from poisonings (ATSDR, 2016). Occupational exposures, as in copper smelters

or repeated exposures to high levels of arsenic, produce peripheral neuropathy (ATSDR, 2016; Sinczuk-Walczak et al., 2010). This neuropathy usually begins with sensory changes, such as numbness in the hands and feet, but later may develop into a painful "pins and needles" sensation. Both sensory and motor nerves can be affected, and muscle tenderness often develops, followed by weakness, progressing from proximal to distal muscle groups. Sensorimotor dysfunction is pronounced in exposed children (Parvez et al., 2011), suggesting that in utero or early development exposures increase susceptibility. Arsenic exposures, especially in utero and during early developmental exposures, also impair central cognition and memory behaviors (Tyler & Allan, 2014; Wasserman et al., 2014; Wasserman et al., 2011). A large cross-sectional study in Maine, USA, found that drinking water levels greater than 5  $\mu$ g/L were associated with cognitive deficits in children (Wasserman et al., 2014). This suggests that the 10 µg/L U.S. drinking water standard may not be protective for all health effects of arsenic. Studies in mice confirm that arsenic exposure during development impairs neural stem cell function, as well as epigenetically reduces cognition and enhances depression (Cronican et al., 2013; Tyler & Allan, 2014). Interestingly, studies in mice suggest that the impact of low (50  $\mu$ g/L) in utero and perinatal exposures on cognition may be less in females that respond to arsenic with more significant antioxidant adaptation (Allan et al., 2015).

Arsenic, especially with chronic early-life exposure, is immunotoxic and potentially increases the risk of infections and inflammatory-like diseases during childhood and in adulthood (ATSDR, 2016; Ferrario *et al.*, 2016). This immunosuppressive potential is prevalent in respiratory tract infections (Kozul, Ely, *et al.*, 2009; Rahman *et al.*, 2011; Ramsey *et al.*, 2013; Steinmaus *et al.*, 2016), and enhancement of a global inflammatory state may underlie the etiology of arsenic-promoted neural, cardiovascular, metabolic, and cancer disease. For example, arsenic exposures

alter transcriptional programming in circulating macrophages to enhance atherogenesis that underlies arsenic-promoted cardiovascular disease (Lemaire *et al.*, 2011). In addition to increasing inflammation, arsenic may increase allergy and autoimmune diseases (Ferrario *et al.*, 2016). Further impacts on the circulation include hematologic consequences of chronic exposure to arsenic that interferes with heme synthesis and increases urinary porphyrin excretion, which is a biomarker for arsenic exposure (Ng *et al.*, 2005).

The skin is also a primary target of arsenic toxicity, and skin lesions are often diagnostic of high-level arsenic exposure. In humans, chronic exposure induces a series of characteristic changes in skin epithelium, perhaps due to preferential uptake into sulfhydryl-rich keratin structures (Kitchin & Wallace, 2008). Diffuse or spotted hyperpigmentation and, alternatively, hypopigmentation can first appear between 6 months and three years with chronic arsenic exposure (ATSDR, 2016). The characteristic hyperpigmented spots or palmar-plantar hyperkeratosis usually follows the initial appearance of arsenic-induced pigmentation changes within years (ATSDR, 2016). Susceptibility to skin lesions increases with deficiencies in folic acid and vitamin B due to impaired methylation of ingested arsenic (Ahsan et al., 2007; Gamble et al., 2006). Arsenic-induced skin cancers include basal cell and squamous cell carcinomas (IARC, 2017). Skin cancer that presents as in situ squamous carcinoma that is often indistinguishable from Bowen's disease is common with protracted high-level arsenical exposure (ATSDR, 2016; IARC, 2017). The basal cell cancers are usually only locally invasive, but squamous cell carcinomas may have distant metastases. The skin cancers often occur in areas of the body not exposed to sunlight (e.g., on palms of hands and soles of feet) and usually occur as multiple primary malignant lesions.

#### 1.3 Skeletal Muscle and the Muscle Stem Cell Niche as Targets of Arsenic Toxicity

#### **1.3.1 Overview of Skeletal Muscle**

Skeletal muscle tissue represents the most abundant type of tissue in the human body, accounting for approximately 40% of the average human body weight (Birbrair, Zhang, Wang, *et al.*, 2014). Skeletal muscle is a highly organized network of connective tissue, neurovascular structures, and various types of resident cells. Its primary functions are to support soft tissues, maintain posture and position, generate movement, and contribute to metabolic homeostasis. Adult skeletal muscle in mammals is a stable tissue under normal circumstances; it possesses the extraordinary ability to repair itself and regenerate new muscle fibers if any fibers are lost to damage through injury or pathological conditions such as muscular dystrophy (Tedesco *et al.*, 2010).

#### 1.3.2 Satellite Cells and Myogenesis

Postnatal skeletal muscle repair is a highly orchestrated process involving the integrated activation of several molecular and cellular responses. The adult satellite cells, the primary skeletal muscle resident stem cell, are central to the repair program is responsible for myofiber regeneration and growth (Tedesco *et al.*, 2010). These stem cells usually reside in a quiescent state until activated by growth signals or damage (Kuang et al., 2007; Relaix et al., 2005). The signals trigger asymmetrical division, either for self-renewal or to differentiate and generate a population of myoblasts that fuse, forming nascent myotubes, which then mature into myofiber replacements (Siegel et al. 2011; Zammit et al. 2004).

Satellite cells are classically defined by their anatomical location, being positioned between the basal lamina and sarcolemma of muscle fibers. Satellite cells have also been distinguished by the presence of a canonical paired box transcription factor 7 (Pax7) (Seale et al., 2000; Tedesco et al., 2010) and various surface receptors including a7 integrin, CD29/B1 integrin, CXCR4 (Maesner et al., 2016), CD34 (Beauchamp et al., 2000), c-met (Cornelison and Wold, 1997), CD56/NCAM (Seale et al., 2000), caveolin-1 (Gnocchi et al., 2009), M-cadherin (Irintchev et al., 1994, Cornelison and Wold, 1997), and syndecans 3 and 4 (Cornelison et al., 2001). None of these surface markers, however, are specific or exclusive to identifying satellite stem cells. As satellite cells proliferate before they undergo myogenic differentiation, they begin to lose their expression of Pax7 and begin to express four myogenic regulatory transcription factors (MRFs) that help promote myogenesis, including Myf5, MyoD, myogenin, and MRF4 (Hernandez-Hernandez et al., 2017). While the activation of satellite cells is marked by the rapid onset of MyoD and Myf5 expression, myogenin marks the commitment to differentiate into myoblasts. Activated myoblasts also express begin desmin, an intermediate filament (IF) protein that commonly found along the entirety of immature and mature muscle fibers. Data from knockout studies of desmin in mice indicate that desmin is essential for the structure and function of skeletal muscle. The mice lacking desmin present with abnormal neuromuscular junction morphology and adipocyte accumulation (Agbulut et al., 2001). However, the upregulation of desmin is not exclusively specific to myoblasts, as it is also expressed by other progenitor cells in regenerating muscle (e.g., myogenic pericytes, refs).

#### 1.3.3 The Extracellular Matrix Composition and Communication

Skeletal muscle is comprised of living tissue and a noncellular component that provides the structural integrity of the overall muscle niche known as the extracellular matrix (ECM). Although the ECM comprises only about 1 to 9% of skeletal muscle's cross-sectional area (Light and Champion, 1984), it is a principal component of muscle health and metabolic activity. Resident muscle cells recognize and bind to growth factors and cell-surface receptors embedded within the ECM, which is continuously subjected to remodeling. These interactions trigger signaling cascades capable of mitigating transcriptional changes of various ECM-related genes which can then influence cell adhesion, migration, proliferation, and differentiation (Grounds, 1987; Yanagishita, 1993). When the microenvironment of the ECM endures drastic change, the consequences can be manifested in clinical dysfunction of the muscle. Fibrosis, for example, is an indication of an injury or disease state of skeletal muscle. Fibrosis is an induced pathological syndrome that results from an excess accumulation of ECM-associated components. The ECM, therefore, relies on a delicate balance of roles played by the resident cells and their molecular programs, all of which maintain the intricate workings that allow the muscle to develop, function, thrive, and regenerate.

The ECM is comprised of water, polysaccharides (Frantz et al. 2010), metalloproteinases, and fibrous proteins, such as elastin, laminin, and various collagens (Alberts et al., 2007). Fibrous collagen is the most abundant structural protein in adult interstitial ECM (Rumian et al., 2007) and each layer of muscle ECM is mostly comprised of collagen types 1 and III (Kjaer, 2004; Light and Champion, 1984), which are secreted and organized primarily by CTF and possibly pericytes residing in the interstitial space (Frantz et al., 2010; Archile-Contreras et al., 2010; Gillies and Lieber, 2011). Collagen IV, which is not typically found in fibrillar ECM (Gillies and Lieber, 2011; Grounds et al., 2005; Yurchenco and Patton, 2009), can be found concentrated in the

basement membrane of mature skeletal muscle (Kjaer, 2004) and may to serve as an intermediary between myofibers and the fibrillar ECM (Voermans et al., 2008). Overall, collagens help to regulate cell adhesion, provide tensile strength to the muscle, support migration and chemotaxis of resident cells, and direct tissue development (Rozario and Desimone, 2010)

Although no one cell surface marker can indisputably identify a fibroblast, Tcf4 (transcription factor7-like 2, Tcf7L2) (Mathew et al., 2011) and  $\alpha$ SMA (alpha-smooth muscle actin (Tomasek et al. 2002) have been identified as common cell markers for CTF. Studies where Tcf4-expressing cells were ablated in mice showed impaired muscle regeneration with premature satellite cell differentiation, followed by a depletion of the early pool of satellite cells, and smaller regenerated myofibers (Murphy et al., 2011). These results suggest that during regeneration, CTF may not only regulate satellite cell expansion, but they may also regulate the myogenic differentiation program of the satellite cells.

# **1.3.4 Muscle Progenitors and Skeletal Muscle Management**

Satellite cells typically reside on the surface of myofibers beneath the basal laminin  $\alpha 2$ . Laminin  $\alpha 2$  is a component that helps anchor myofibers in the ECM, provides membrane stability, and plays a role in the regeneration of muscle fibers (Uezumi et al., 2014). The primary cell source for laminin  $\alpha 2$  in skeletal muscle is fibroblast activation protein- $\alpha$  (FAP)-expressing stromal cells (Roberts et al., 2013). FAP+ stromal cells in muscle also express PDGFR $\alpha$  (Platelet-Derived Growth Factor Receptor Alpha), Sca-1 (Stem cells antigen-1), and CD90 (Roberts et al., 2013), which are cell surface markers shared by mesenchymal progenitors. Moreover, with the FAP+ cell population localized in the interstitial spaces of muscle along where the mesenchymal progenitors reside, these FAP+ stromal cells may also be closely related to, if not the same as, mesenchymal progenitors (Tedesco *et al.*, 2017).

Mesenchymal progenitor cells express markers that overlap with various types of side populations within skeletal muscle, and these overlapping traits make it challenging to decipher the origin and function between all the populations (Tedesco *et al.*, 2017). One particular subset of mesenchymal progenitors embodies a plasticity in that they differentiate into bipotent cells with either fibrogenic or adipogenetic traits. These are the mesenchymal progenitor cells that are Lin–Sca-1+CD34+, and that also express PDGFR $\alpha$  and  $\alpha$ -SMA, have the capability of generating either fibroblasts or adipocytes in vitro, and thus are aptly referred to as fibro/adipogenic progenitors (FAPs). (Joe *et al.*, 2010; Tedesco *et al.*, 2017; Uezumi *et al.*, 2014)).

Quiescent FAPs are generally abundant in healthy muscle, but their numbers rapidly increase in response to acute muscle damage as they participate in the muscle regeneration process. Under normal conditions, the skeletal muscle will include resident cells positive for Tcf4 and PDGFR- $\alpha$ . Following denervation and chronic damage, however, the muscle may experience an increase of cells co-labeled with the two markers, indicating a rise in the total number of FAPs during the regeneration process (Contreras *et al.*, 2016). This study also revealed an increase in the production of collagen I and the chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan, Neural/glial antigen 2 (NG2), within the injured muscle (Contreras *et al.*, 2016). If a muscle is in a chronic state of injury and damage, the muscle tissue can undergo fatty degeneration and be replaced by a combination of white fatty tissue and fibrous tissue (Lipton & Schultz, 1979). The accumulation of intramuscular fat, termed myosteatosis, can be observed in the etiology of metabolic diseases, obesity and sarcopenia (Correa-de-Araujo *et al.*, 2017; Prado *et al.*, 2018) where the formation of fat cells could be attributed to the expression of PDGFR $\alpha$  (Wren *et al.*, 2008). Only PDGFR $\alpha$ +
cells were efficient in undergoing adipogenic differentiation both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Uezumi *et al.*, 2010). This infiltration of fat and fibrosis can undoubtedly diminish the muscle's function, potentially limiting the success of regenerative capacities by altering the muscle environment.

We observed that flow-sorted FAPs that were CD31<sup>-</sup>CD45<sup>-</sup>Sca-1<sup>+</sup> $\alpha$ 7-integrin<sup>-</sup> from young and old mice also express  $\alpha$ SMA and NG2, a chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan. NG2 is a reported marker of pericytes (Birbrair, Zhang, Wang, et al., 2014; Moyle et al., 2019) that pericytes may be distinct from FAPs and/or CTF as they reside in different locations (Moyle et al., 2019; Tedesco et al., 2017). However, when the muscle is injured, pericytes migrate to the interstitial ECM (Birbrair, Zhang, Wang, et al., 2013) and the distinctions between the progenitor populations are not as straightforward. NG2 was not initially known to be expressed in FAPs but these cells are likely a subset of pericytes that can also be Sca-1<sup>+</sup>NG2<sup>+</sup>PDGFRa<sup>+</sup> (Birbrair, Zhang, Wang, et al., 2013). Pericytes are a heterogeneous cell population with distinct subsets. In skeletal muscle, there are two classes of pericytes: Type I (PDGFRa<sup>+</sup>Nestin<sup>-</sup>NG2<sup>+</sup>) and Type II (PDGFRa<sup>-</sup>Nestin<sup>+</sup>NG2<sup>+</sup>) (Birbrair, Zhang, Wang, et al., 2014). Type I is considered to be non-myogenic as they express aSMA and produce collagen 1 (Birbrair, Zhang, Wang, et al., 2014). In contrast, type 2 are myogenic, in that these cells express desmin and can form multinucleated myofibers. Type-1 pericytes contribute to fibrosis and fat accumulation (Birbrair, Zhang, Wanget al., 2013), whereas the type-2 is likely to contribute to muscle, as well as neural tissue regeneration after injury (Birbrair, Zhang, Wang, et al., 2014; Santos et al., 2019). Conclusively, by identifying the full capacities and origins of various cell populations residing within the skeletal muscle niche, such as the myogenic and non-myogenic pericytes, we may be better suited for developing targeted therapies for a spectrum of skeletal muscle disorders.

# 1.3.5 Skeletal Muscle Dysfunction in Cardiometabolic Disease and Epidemiology of Arsenic in Muscle Morbidity

Loss of lean body mass and muscle quality are increasingly recognized as a major risk, if not etiological, factors for cardiovascular, lung, and metabolic disease (Correa-de-Araujo et al., 2017; Prado et al., 2018). Loss of muscle quality is critically important to overall well-being as highlighted by the fact that skeletal muscle comprises 40-50% of total body mass and that myosteatosis, increased skeletal muscle intra- and inter-myofiber adiposity, is associated with increased risk of all-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality (Carobbio et al., 2011; Goodpaster et al., 2000; Miljkovic & Zmuda, 2010; Prado et al., 2018). Increased myosteatosis may be one of the earliest clinical signs of insulin resistance and impaired metabolism (Goodpaster et al., 2000; Sell et al., 2006; Vigouroux et al., 2011). As the importance of muscle quality decline and myosteatosis in etiology and promotion of disease has only recently increased, there is a limited number of epidemiological studies to implicate their full impact on disease. This knowledge gap is magnified when considering environmental factors, such as arsenic exposure, in promoting deleterious change in muscle quality. However, epidemiological studies are indicating that 7.5-10% of the hundreds of millions of arsenic-exposed individuals present with sensorimotor deficits, muscle atrophy, and weakness, as well as impaired gait (Chakraborti et al., 2003; Mukherjee et al., 2003; Parvez et al., 2011). Populations exposed to very high arsenic levels demonstrate rates of muscle morbidity in the range of 35-85% (Chakraborti et al., 2003; Mukherjee et al., 2003). Thus, it is plausible that significant environmental exposure may surreptitiously contribute to myosteatosis, muscle quality decline, weakness, and disability in large populations, ultimately leading to enhanced risk of cardiovascular and metabolic diseases.

#### 1.3.6 Arsenic Effects on Skeletal Muscle and Muscle Progenitor Cells

Our findings indicate that low to moderate arsenic exposure directly affects skeletal muscle metabolism and composition (Ambrosio et al., 2014; Garciafigueroa et al., 2013) and disrupts MuSC function to impair muscle quality and regeneration (Cheikhi et al., 2020; Cheikhi et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2016). We found that low  $(10 \,\mu g/L)$  to moderate  $(100 \,\mu g/L)$  arsenic exposures in mice caused both dose and time-dependent increased ectopic fat deposition in skeletal muscle (Garciafigueroa et al., 2013), as well as dysfunctional bioenergetics, physical properties, and regenerative capacity (Ambrosio et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2016). In keeping with our observations in mice and human cells, others have shown that developmental arsenic exposures result in more fibrotic and adipogenic muscle tissue, especially following muscle injury (Szymkowicz et al., 2018). Mechanistically, the arsenic-induces an epigenetic memory that impairs the transcriptional program in muscle progenitor cells to disrupt differentiation and misdirect cell fate (Bain et al., 2016; Cheikhi et al., 2020; Cheikhi et al., 2019; Hong & Bain, 2012; Zhang et al., 2016). Disrupting the between the resident cell population in the progenitor cell niche and modifying their molecular contributions to the ECM microenvironment compromises the overall ECM structure and intercellular communication that is mediated by the ECM constituents (Engler et al., 2006; L. Smith et al., 2017; Stearns-Reider et al., 2017; Williams et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2016). We found that when human muscle stem cells (hMSC) are cultured on decellularized ECM constructs derived from arsenic-exposed skeletal muscle, there was an increase in fibrogenic conversion of the hMuSC, when compared to the hMuSC cultured on control ECM constructs (Zhang et al., 2016). These data confirmed that the myofiber-producing MPCs are receptive to signals from the skeletal muscle ECM and suggested that arsenic can impart ECM change that misdirects MPC differentiation. Furthermore, CTF isolated from arsenic exposed mice (CTFars) retain elevated NF-

 $\kappa$ B-driven ECM gene transcript levels, relative to CTF isolated from control mice (CTF<sup>ctr</sup>) (Zhang et al., 2016) that may promote ECM remodeling and dysfunctional ECM to cell communications. However, much is unknown regarding the mechanisms underlying miscommunication in the ECM that lead to arsenic promotion of fibro-adipogenic programs and impaired muscle maintenance and metabolism.

#### 1.4 Hypothesis and Aims

As indicated, arsenic exposures are a critical global public health hazard that many millions of individuals worldwide. Arsenic poses a significant risk to health by promoting cardiometabolic diseases; however, the etiology of arsenic disease promotion is poorly understood. Our previous work indicated that skeletal muscle progenitor cells and their anatomical niche are targets of arsenic that may promote muscle dysfunction and compromise metabolism in a manner consistent with increased cardiometabolic disease risk. Previous studies revealed that arsenic exposures disrupt the regulation of proteins essential for producing vital ECM components and signaling mechanisms responding to the ECM, a complex meshwork that supports skeletal muscle integrity and function (Bain *et al.*, 2016; Hays *et al.*, 2008; Petrick *et al.*, 2009; Zhang *et al.*, 2016). The ECM provides a niche for resident cells such as muscle stem cells, endothelial cells, pericytes, macrophages, and CTFs, as well as the mechanical structure needed for functional muscle contractions. Disrupting the molecular dynamics within the ECM microenvironment and its interaction with these cell populations is sufficient to compromise the homeostatic balance of the skeletal muscle and overall physiological function.

We previously found that muscle isolated from arsenic-exposed mice displayed misshapen mitochondria with damaged cristae (Ambrosio *et al.*, 2014). CTF isolated from these mice also retained disrupted mitochondrial morphology, as well as a phenotype with elevated expression of specific ECM-modulating proteins (Zhang *et al.*, 2016). Further studies demonstrated that when hMPC were seeded onto decellularized ECM constructs derived from arsenic-exposed gastrocnemius muscle, there was increased fibrogenic conversion of the MPCs, as compared to MPCs seeded onto control ECM constructs (Zhang *et al.*, 2016). Overall muscle maintenance, including repair and regeneration, involves tightly regulated bi-directional communication between muscle niche components, such as the ECM, the CTF that elaborate the ECM, and the myofiber producing MPCs. Thus, arsenic-induced changes in CTF mitochondria and matricellular regulator expression may directly impair tissue regeneration by signaling for aberrant MPC responses by maladaptive ECM constituents.

This dissertation research investigated two aims that explored the central hypothesis that arsenic targets the skeletal muscle niche by disrupting the highly orchestrated balance between resident CTF and myomatrix composition. Furthermore, we explored the arsenic-induced stimulation of CTF-mediated matrix alterations that result in MPC lineage misdirection and, ultimately, a decline in healthy myogenesis. We also examined novel interventions to rescue the dysfunctional arsenic-exposed CTF phenotype and thereby restore healthier elaboration of ECM constituents and the overall integrity of regenerating muscle. Specifically, we investigated the aims of 1: demonstrating that a mitochondrial protectant can revert the phenotype of As(III)-exposed CTFs to restore impaired MPC differentiation and muscle regenerative capacity and 2: determining if an arsenic-induced ECM orchestrates Notch-dependent MPC misdirection that drives the memory for arsenic-induced myogenic impairment.

## 2.0 Chapter 2: A Historic Perspective of Anthropogenic and Occupational Arsenic Exposures

### 2.1 The Deadly Color of Fashion: A Historical Account of Green Arsenical Pigments

Manuscript to be submitted to lay press.

Green is typically the color associated with luck, paradise, and lush vegetation - but the color has not always had such a positive reputation. Green has also been used to denote the color of jealousy, greed, decay, poison, and other unfavorable facets of nature. These portrayals are not without merit, however. Throughout the 19th century, variations of a deadly green pigment was ubiquitously found in home décor and fashions even as they were notoriously accompanied with detrimental health effects.

#### Scheele's Green – The Dawn of a Greener Era

In the Middle Ages, wearing green-colored garments was often indicative of belonging to a higher class or having an elevated status as the green dyes were expensive to produce. At the time, green dyes were made of components found in the natural environment, such as "buckthorn berries, the juice of nettles and leeks, and many other plants and trees (Parute, 2018)." These plant-based dyes were typically not long-lasting and somewhat challenging to prepare until the invention of a new vivid green pigment. In 1775, German-Swedish chemist Carl Wilhelm Scheele "almost accidentally" discovered a brilliant yellowish-green compound. This single pigment became known as Scheele's green or by other descriptive names that included mineral green, mountain green, and Swedish green (Sharples 1876).

Scheele's green was formed from a precipitate produced as a result of combining copper sulfate with sodium arsenic (Zerr and Rubencamp, 1908), a known carcinogen in today's world. Scheele never made a quantitative analysis but the formula most commonly accepted for Scheele's green is CuHAsO3, having the following composition: Arsenic trioxide (As2O3) 52.83%, Cupric oxide (CuO) 42.37%, and Water (H2O) 4.80% (Sharples 1876). The copper arsenite compound (also known as cupric hydrogen arsenite or acidic copper arsenite) is not soluble in water (US Bureau of Labor Statistics, 1917) like a typical dye would be. Still, it could be dissolved in acids or ground into a fine green-colored powder.

Scheele suspected his brilliant pigment of having a poisonous disposition and felt that people should be aware of its properties (Kelleger, 2018). Scheele stated that "the water with which the color is lixiviated contains a little arsenic, and must not be thrown out in a place to which cattle have access (Sharples, 1876)." Manufacturers, enticed by the pigment's cheap cost, were unreceptive to its potential toxicity and continued with production. The color then grew extremely popular because it yielded a brilliantly saturated green with no tinge of gray or brown undertones. Earlier dyes tended to lean towards one of its compounding contributors, as green was typically attained by overlaying a blue dye with a yellow dye, or the other way around (Meier, 2014). In addition, the new green pigment was longer-lasting and less expensive to produce when compared to the existing traditional dyes, therefore making it highly profitable for manufacturers to produce (Kelleger, 2018).

Scheele's green was used to color home furnishings and interior décor, such as carpeting, lampshades, curtains, and wallpaper (Hawksley, 2016; Wright, 2017). The arsenical pigment was also utilized to color fabrics used in making waistcoats, shirts, shoes, boot linings, stockings, socks, gloves, silk handkerchiefs, dresses, ball gowns, hats, and trousers. It was also used to stain

artificial flowers, fruits, leaves, and feathers that had been included in headdresses and other fancy hair adornments (Hawksley, 2016; Whorton, 2010). The fact that some of these decorative components were found to contain up to a grain and a half of arsenic apiece (Whorton, 2010) did not deter consumers as arsenic was ubiquitously used for domestic purposes. Arsenic had already been included in facial creams and soaps marketed to improve complexion and to enhance the luminosity of the skin - which was yielded by destroying red blood cells beneath the skin (Hawksley, 2016). Although arsenic has long been known to be poisonous, the use of the odorless, tasteless, and colorless toxic metalloid was not perceived as a danger as long as it was not ingested.

As implausible as it may seem, arsenic within apparel was able to make its way into the human body. The wearing of green garments led to various arsenic exposure-related disabilities and deaths. Scheele's green pigment powder was often loosely applied to fabric (Laricheva, 2015) used in gloves and purses, and often stained the wearer's hands when the pigment was not adequately sealed (Whorton, 2010; Wright, 2017). Those who wore any green-colored garment next to their skin could have also experienced a rash or a more severe dermal irritation that produced open sores on the hands, face, and other parts of the body (Kelleger, 2018; Whorton, 2010).

The toxic dust coating green eveningwear also could shed into the air as a woman danced around at a ball, allowing for the arsenic to be inhaled by other attendants (Whorton, 2010). When a London physician named George Rees analyzed a sample of muslin tinted with the Scheele's green pigment that would be included in a ball gown, it was found to contain more than sixty grains of Scheele's green per square yard. Considering that a dress at that time required about twenty yards of fabric, one could easily be worn containing more than 1,000

grains of arsenic (Whorton, 2010). To make matters worse, the Massachusetts State Board of Health, Lunacy and Charity reported in 1884 "that a dress made from arsenic-green tarlatan might shed twenty to thirty grains of poisonous pigment in just one hour of dancing (Hawksley, 2016)." To put this into greater perspective, a British newspaper later reported that four to five grains of arsenic was sufficient to kill a human being (Hawksley, 2018).

#### **Paris Green – Brighter Hues Come with Deadlier Expenditures**

In an attempt to improve Scheele's Green, a bolder, more stable (albeit extremely toxic) green pigment, was developed in 1814 by two industrialists at the Wilhelm Dye and White Lead Company located in Schweinfurt, Germany (Vic, 2010; Zerr and Rubencamp, 1908). This new pigment, (copper aceto-arsenite, cupric aceto arsenite), was known as Schweinfurt green, emerald green, Vienna green (Vic, 2010), English green, meadow green, parrot green, and most popularly as Paris green (US Bureau of Labor Statistics, 1917; Sharples, 1876). This hue shown more brilliant than any existing pigment, even as the quality of lighting at the time was improving from candlelight to gas (Wright, 2017). The brighter form of lighting provided an avenue for the social and fashionably elite to showcase their bolder shades of jewel-toned hues, ignoring the circulating rumors implicating all the health risks involved in creating their extravagant fashions.

The associated dangers of Paris green were many as the inorganic compound also served as a notably potent rodenticide and insecticide (US Bureau of Labor Statistics, 1917). Acute exposure to Paris green induced symptoms such as headaches, dizziness, rapid heart rate, dermatitis, eye and respiratory tract irritation, diarrhea, vomiting, and dehydration. Chronic exposures led to more severe side effects, including acute hemolysis, convulsions and seizures, and even death.

#### **Occupational Exposure in the Fashion Industry**

For the general modern population, arsenic exposure through dermal absorption tends to be reasonably negligible when compared to people who work with arsenic in an industrial setting. For these types of workers, inhalation and dermal absorption of arsenic are typically the major routes in which they may be chronically exposed to the dangerous element (Chung *et al.*, 2014). Because the finely ground arsenical pigment was not well-contained during processing, the workers inhaled a considerable amount of the pigment dust on a daily basis. Floors in these facilities were infrequently cleaned, which allowed for workers to track the green dust from room to room, including the area where they would take their meal breaks. Additionally, with the workers changing into their street clothes before leaving the factories, the toxic dust likely made its way into their homes (US Bureau of Labor Statistics, 1917).

No matter the route in which arsenic enters the body, whether workers inhaled air containing the pigment dust, accidentally absorbed it from ulcers on their skin, or ingested it from eating with their green-tinted hands, the arsenic would eventually make its way to the lungs. When arsenic deposits in the lung, it is distributed throughout the body via the bloodstream where it can reduce the number of blood cells, resulting in an arsenic-related anemic condition (ATSDR, 2016). It was this same hematological response, however, that attributed the use of arsenic (arsenic trioxide) in the modern-day treatment of acute promyelocytic leukemia (Antman, 2001).

Nevertheless, the toll that arsenic was taking on the green pigment-handling factory workers was growing considerably in the 19th century. The general public was slowly becoming more aware of the deadly effects attributed to the arsenicals as headlines were beginning to recount heart-wrenching stories of deaths brought about by the occupational exposure to the

toxic substances. One such tragic story involved the death of a 19-year-old artificial flower maker named Matilda Scheurer in November of 1861. The artificial flowers Matilda produced were included in adorned headdresses of the time. Matilda, along with thousands of other young and poor workers like her, was exposed to the arsenic pigment as she worked to dust the green powder onto the fabric that would be used to procure the flower's green leaves. Not only was her skin exposed to the pigment, but she inhaled the fugitive pigment particles throughout her 14-to 16-hour workdays (Whorton, 2010).

Absorption of the arsenic within the pigment dust may have occurred through dermal absorption and inhalation, but arsenical poisonings could also be due to accidental ingestion. The green pigment would become trapped under the fingernails, which would have easily been ingested during the point of eating or biting of the nails. In the case of Matilda, her autopsy reported her fingernails had been prominently stained green and the whites of her eyes had also turned green. The arsenic was found to be present in her stomach, lungs, and liver (Mathews, 2015).

Despite these devastating stories of factory workers being circulated among the major newspapers of the time, consumers still sought after the most vivid of pigments that science could create. The trend of using the arsenical pigments and dyes continued until the end of the century when chemists were able to formulate less toxic compounds that eventually superseded several of the existing arsenical-containing pigments. Following the First World War, women's fashions also became "more streamlined" and strayed from the "elaborate decorations of the late Victorian period (Behlen and Fenner, 2016), meaning that the demand for the arsenic-laden artificial flowers and other adornments was no longer vast. This would mark the end of a major

public health crisis, in which chemistry and industry advancements invigorated consumerism and the fashion industry... at deadly costs.

### 3.0 Chapter 3: Arsenic Stimulates Myoblast Mitochondrial EGFR to Impair Myogenesis

This is a truncated version of a publication in Toxicological Sciences (Cheikhi et al., 2020)

Amin Cheikhi<sup>1,2,3#</sup>, Teresa Anguiano<sup>2#</sup>, Jane Lasak<sup>3</sup>, Baoli Qian<sup>2</sup>, Amrita Sahu<sup>3</sup>, Hikaru Mimiya<sup>3</sup>, Charles C. Cohen<sup>2</sup>, Peter Wipf<sup>4</sup>, Fabrisia Ambrosio<sup>2,3,5,6</sup> & Aaron Barchowsky<sup>2,6\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Division of Geriatric Medicine, Department of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh
<sup>2</sup>Department of Environmental and Occupational Health, University of Pittsburgh,
<sup>3</sup>Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Pittsburgh
<sup>4</sup>Department of Chemistry, University of Pittsburgh
<sup>5</sup>McGowan Institute for Regenerative Medicine, University of Pittsburgh
<sup>6</sup>Department of Bioengineering, University of Pittsburgh
<sup>7</sup>Department of Pharmacology and Chemical Biology, University of Pittsburgh

# These authors contributed equally to this study.

FUNDING: NIH NIA Grant AG052978-01 (FA), the Pittsburgh Claude D. Pepper Older Americans Independence Center P30 AG024827 (AC), NIEHS Grant R01ES023696 (FA and AB) and R01ES025529 (FA and AB) supported this work. We acknowledge the NIH-supported microscopy resources in the Center for Biologic Imaging (NIH grant #1S10OD019973-01). Finally, flow cytometry was performed in the University of Pittsburgh Unified Flow Core (NIH grant 1S10OD019942-01).

## Abstract

Arsenic exposure impairs muscle metabolism, maintenance, progenitor cell differentiation, and regeneration following acute injury. Low to moderate arsenic exposures target muscle fiber and progenitor cell mitochondria to epigenetically decrease muscle quality and regeneration. However, the mechanisms for how low levels of arsenic signal for prolonged mitochondrial dysfunction are not known. In this study, arsenic attenuated murine C2C12 myoblasts differentiation and resulted in abnormal undifferentiated myoblast proliferation. Arsenic prolonged ligand-independent phosphorylation of mitochondrially localized epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), a major driver of proliferation. Treating cells with a selective EGFR kinase inhibitor, AG-1478, prevented arsenic inhibition of myoblast differentiation. AG-1478 decreased arsenic-induced colocalization of pY<sup>845</sup>EGFR with mitochondrial cytochrome c oxidase subunit II (MTCO2), as well as arsenic-enhanced mitochondrial membrane potential, reactive oxygen species generation, and cell cycling. All of the arsenic effects on mitochondrial signaling and cell fate were mitigated or reversed by addition of mitochondrially-targeted agents that restored mitochondrial integrity and function. Thus, arsenic-driven pathogenesis in skeletal muscle requires sustained mitochondrial EGFR activation that promotes progenitor cell cycling and proliferation at the detriment of proper differentiation. Collectively, these findings suggest that the arsenicactivated mitochondrial EGFR pathway drives pathogenic signaling for impaired myoblast metabolism and function.

#### **4.0 Introduction**

Arsenic exposure poses a significant risk of cardiovascular and metabolic (cardiometabolic) diseases in hundreds of millions of individuals worldwide (Kuo et al., 2017; Moon et al., 2017; Sung et al., 2015). Despite strong epidemiological evidence of these associations, the etiology for arsenic-promoted cardiometabolic diseases is unclear. Over the past decade, skeletal muscle metabolic dysfunction and decline of muscle composition have become a primary focus in establishing the major underlying risks for insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes (T2D) (Goodpaster et al., 2003; Granados et al., 2019; Miljkovic et al., 2013), as well as cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality (I. Miljkovic et al., 2015; Reinders et al., 2016). We previously reported that arsenic exposures increase ectopic skeletal muscle adiposity (Garciafigueroa et al., 2013), an earlier indication of insulin resistance and impaired metabolism than elevated serum free fatty acids or glucose (Goodpaster et al., 2000; Sell et al., 2006; Vigouroux et al., 2011). Arsenic also degrades muscle maintenance and regeneration (Ambrosio et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2016). The fundamental mechanism for the effects of low to moderate arsenic exposures (10-100 ppb in drinking water) leading to muscle dysfunction and quality decline appears to be disruption of muscle and stem cell mitochondrial function and mitochondrial control of epigenetic regulatory programs (Ambrosio et al., 2014; Cheikhi et al., 2019). Indeed, arsenic reportedly increases DNMT3a-dependent DNA methylation of myogenic genes to impair muscle progenitor cell differentiation (Cheikhi et al., 2019; Hong & Bain, 2012; Steffens et al., 2011). However, it remains unclear how low levels of arsenic, which are stoichiometrically unlikely to affect mitochondrial respiration directly, signal for sustained mitochondrial dysfunction.

Low (nM) levels of arsenic activate receptor-initiated signal amplification cascades, which promote pathogenic phenotypic change and transformation in target cells (Andrew *et al.*, 2009; Garciafigueroa et al., 2013; Simeonova & Luster, 2002; Straub et al., 2009). The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) has long been a focus of investigation of receptor-mediated arsenic actions, especially those contributing to carcinogenesis (Andrew et al., 2009; Germolec et al., 1998; Simeonova & Luster, 2002; Simeonova et al., 2002) and stimulation of progenitor cell proliferation at the expense of differentiation (Patterson & Rice, 2007; Reznikova et al., 2010). Arsenic and other stressors stimulate non-canonical (ligand-independent) EGFR activation where proliferative signals are sustained as the receptor is not degraded upon ligand binding (Andrew et al., 2009; Simeonova et al., 2002; Tan et al., 2016). In cancer cells, activated EGFR scaffolds mitochondrial remodeling enzymes, disrupts respiration, increases reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation, and enhances cell growth and motility (Bollu et al., 2014; Demory et al., 2009; Li et al., 2017; Yao et al., 2010). While the role of sustained mitochondrial EGFR activity has not been explored in muscle progenitor cells or skeletal muscle regeneration, it is clear that mitochondrial dysfunction impedes myogenic differentiation and muscle maintenance (Sahu et al., 2018; Tsitkanou et al., 2016; Wagatsuma & Sakuma, 2013). Dysfunctional mitochondrial metabolism also underlies development of myosteatosis (intramuscular adipose tissue) (Gumucio et al., 2019), a pathogenic mechanism in the etiology of cardiometabolic diseases (Miljkovic et al., 2013; I. Miljkovic et al., 2015; Reinders et al., 2016).

We previously reported that arsenic, in low nM concentrations, targets muscle and progenitor cell mitochondria to disrupt muscle metabolism, maintenance, and regeneration (Ambrosio *et al.*, 2014; Cheikhi *et al.*, 2019). However, the mechanisms through which low nM levels of arsenic initiate and sustain abnormal mitochondrial morphology and function, as well as

alter muscle progenitor cell fate decisions, are unknown. Thus, we investigated the hypothesis that arsenic requires receptor-mediated signal amplification to disrupt mitochondrial function and retain myoblasts in an activated, proliferative state, which ultimately impairs myogenic differentiation.

#### 4.1 Materials and Methods

*Cell Culture*. C2C12 myoblasts were plated at 10,000 cells per cm<sup>2</sup> on glass coverslips and cultured until 80% confluent in growth medium (GM, Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Hyclone) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Invitrogen) at 37 °C and 5% CO2. Myogenic differentiation was induced with differentiation medium (DM, Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium supplemented with 2% horse serum and 1% penicillin/streptomycin) in the presence or absence of sodium arsenite (2-500 nM, Fisher Scientific) and AG-1478 (1 µM, Fisher Scientific). At the end of the differentiation period, the cultures were fixed and imaged to quantify myotube formation relative to undifferentiated reserve cell RC proliferation (RC) (Nagata et al., 2014; Yoshida et al., 1998). In separate experiments, C2C12 cultured in non-coated 25  $\text{cm}^2$  flasks were differentiated in the absence or presence of 20 nM arsenic for 4 days, and then mononucleated, undifferentiated RC were collected by mild trypsinization and separated from myotubes by filtering through a 40-µm strainer. The RC were either rinsed and fixed for flow cytometry or replated in arsenic-free GM on glass coverslips and allowed to proliferate for 3 days in the absence or presence of SS-31 or XJB-5-131 before fixing and immunofluorescent imaging.

*Quantitative flow and imaging flow cytometry analyses*. To quantify receptor protein expression and phosphorylation, RC were harvested at the fourth day of differentiation, washed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and fixed in 1.5% paraformaldehyde in PBS. The cells were permeabilized with 0.05% Triton X-100 in PBS for 15 minutes at room temperature, washed with PBS plus 0.5% BSA (PBB), and then incubated with primary antibody in PBB for two hours at 37 °C. For flow cytometric analysis of EGFR phosphorylation, cells were immunostained with rabbit anti-pY<sup>845</sup>EGFR (1:100, Cell Signaling # 2231) and mouse anti-EGFR (1:100, containing mouse anti-EGFR (1:100, BD Laboratories #610017). After three washes with PBB, the samples were incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature with the secondary conjugated antibodies, Alexa Fluor 568-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (1:500, ThermoFisher Scientific) or Alexa Flour 488-goat anti-mouse IgG (1:500, ThermoFischer Scientific). The labelled cells were then washed three times with PBB, and fluorescence quantified by flow cytometry using a Biosciences FACSCanto flow cytometer.

*Quantitative immunofluorescence imaging*. Control and arsenic-primed RC were plated on coverslips in 24 well-plates or eight-well chamber slides. After three days in culture, the cells were washed three times with HBSS, fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde for 10 minutes at room temperature, and permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100 made in PBS solution for 15 minutes. The cells were then washed with PBS followed by PBS with 0.5% BSA (PBB). Cells were then blocked with 5% donkey serum (Millipore, S30-100KC) diluted in PPB for 60 minutes, and then washed again three times with PBB before adding primary antibodies for 60 minutes. Primary antibodies recognized: Cyclin D1, (1:100, R&D Systems AF4196), pY<sup>845</sup>EGFR (1:150, Cell Signaling Technology 2231), and MTCO2 (1:200, ThermoFisher Scientific 12C4F12). Cell monolayers were washed with PBB and then species specific, fluorescent conjugated secondary antibodies

were added for 60 minutes. These antibodies included: Alexa Fluor 488 donkey anti-rabbit IgG (H+L) (1:2000, Invitrogen, A21206), Alexa Fluor 647-conjugated donkey anti-goat IgG (H+L) (1:700, Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories 705-605-003); and Cy3-Conjugated donkey antimouse (1:800, Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories 715-165-151). All samples were additionally stained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI, Biolegend) for one minute. Slides were washed with PBS and coverslips mounted with Fluoromount-G (eBioscience 004958-02).

Z stack images were acquired by confocal microscopy using a Nikon A1 Confocal Laser Microscope with NIS-Elements C Software (Center for Biologic Imaging, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania). Fluorescent intensities and Colocalization measurements were determined using Nikon Elements AR (Nikon Elements) and Imaris software. Statistical analyses of fluorescent signals were performed using GraphPad Prism v8.2 software.

*Mitochondrial membrane potential.* At the end of the differentiation protocol, RC were re-seeded in a 96 well black culture plate at 50,000 cells/well and incubated at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in a humidified chamber. After 6 hours of equilibration, mitochondrial membrane potential was measured. Alternatively, RC were replated in a 96 well black culture plate at 10,000 cells/well and cultured for 4 days with or without 100  $\eta$ M of mitochondrial targeting SS-31 (Campbell *et al.*, 2019; Mitchell *et al.*, 2020; Szeto & Liu, 2018). At the end of the incubation periods, the culture medium was discarded, the cells were rinsed with PBS, and then incubated in assay medium (140 mM NaCl, 2.5 mM KCl, 1.8 mM CaCl2, 1 mM MgCl2 and 20 mM HEPES, pH = 7.4, mOsm = 300) containing an excess of JC-1 (1  $\mu$ M). After 90 minutes of equilibration at 37 °C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, the ratio of the fluorescence of JC-1 aggregates formed as mitochondrial membrane potential ( $\Delta$   $\Psi$ m) increases (ex 353 nm, em 595 nm) to JC-1 monomer (ex 485, em 535) was then measured every 10 minutes over 3 hours.

*Measurement of mitochondrial superoxide*. Cells were stained with 250 ηM of MitoSOX red (Ex: 488 nm/Em: 575 nm, cat #: M36008, ThermoFisher) for 15 min at 37 °C in the dark. The cells were then collected by trypsinization and washed with Hank's balanced salts solution (HBSS), fixed in 1.5% paraformaldehyde for 10 min, washed to remove any residual paraformaldehyde, and resuspended in 0.5 ml of PBS. Relative MitoSOX fluorescence intensity per cell was then quantified by flow cytometry.

#### 4.2 Results

#### Arsenic stimulates EGFR to attenuate myogenesis

The most common exposures to arsenic come from drinking contaminated water, and humans drinking water containing 50 ppb arsenic have a blood concentration of approximately 90  $\eta$ M inorganic arsenic (Hall *et al.*, 2006). Comparatively lower levels should distribute in skeletal muscle tissue. Thus, we used 2-500  $\eta$ M concentrations to examine arenite effects on C2C12 myogenic differentiation. We confirmed the observations of Bain *et al.* (Hong & Bain, 2012; Steffens *et al.*, 2011) that the point of departure for impairing myoblast fusion into myofibers and myofiber length is between 20  $\eta$ M and 50  $\eta$ M arsenite (Figures 2A-C). We previously found that arsenic stimulates proliferation of undifferentiated, mononucleated RC (Cheikhi *et al.*, 2019). As seen in (Figures 2D-E) this proliferation decreased the relative proportion of multinucleated myotubes. To examine the role of EGFR in arsenite-stimulated RC proliferation, we added the selective EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor, AG-1478, with arsenite at the start of the differentiation protocol. The ratio of RC to differentiated myotubes in the cultures receiving AG-1478 with arsenic was the same as in control cultures (Figure 2). Taken together, these findings confirm that



exposure to arsenic promotes RC proliferation and aberrant retention of "stemness" (Cheikhi *et al.*, 2019), and implicate sustained EGFR activity in arsenic-impaired differentiation.

Figure 2: Arsenic impairs myoblasts differentiation efficiency through an EGFR dependent mechanism. (A-C) C2C12 cultures were exposed to the indicated range of arsenite concentrations during the myogenic differentiation protocol. The cultures were fixed and myotubes were immunostained antibody to MHC (green) and nuclei were stained DAPI (A). A fusion index was calculated (B) and tube length measured (C). Significant differences from control (0  $\eta$ M As) were determined using one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's test and difference at p<0.01 is designated by \*\* (n=6). (D) Cultures were differentiated in the absence or presence of 20  $\eta$ M arsenite (As) and/or 1  $\mu$ M AG-1478 (AG) for 4 days, and then fixed and brightfield images were captured (scale bar=50  $\mu$ m). The multinucleated myotubes and mononuclear RC were enumerated and the ratio of RC to myotubes calculated. The graph in (E) presents the mean + SEM of the RC/myotube ratio and significant differences between groups was calculated using ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison (\*\*=p<0.01 from control, ^=p<0.05 from As).

# Arsenic stimulates prolonged EGFR activation and colocalization with mitochondrial regulatory proteins.

Given the protective effects of AG-1478, we next sought to investigate whether arsenic stimulated noncanonical EGFR activation by quantifying EGFR phosphorylated on tyrosine 845 (pY<sup>845</sup>EGFR) in RC that were re-plated after the differentiation protocol and cultured in arsenic-free growth medium for 6 hours. Src family kinase phosphorylation of EGFR tyrosine 845 is a hallmark of oxidant-mediated, noncanonical EGFR activation, as well as activated mitochondrial EGFR (Boerner *et al.*, 2004; Bollu *et al.*, 2014; Demory *et al.*, 2009; Lambertini & Byun, 2016). As seen in Figure 3A, RC from C2C12 cultures exposed to arsenic during the differentiation protocol and replated in the absence of arsenic retained elevated pY<sup>845</sup>EGFR, relative to RC from the arsenic-free differentiation protocol. Flow cytometric analyses of the RC confirmed that arsenic exposure during the 4 days of differentiation increased pY<sup>845</sup>EGFR without affecting EGFR expression (Figure 3A). However, the flow cytometric analysis indicated that only a portion of the RC from the arsenic-exposed cell population retained activated EGFR.

Activated mitochondrial pY<sup>845</sup>EGFR binds to and phosphorylates the MTCO2 subunit of complex IV in the respiratory chain (Boerner *et al.*, 2004; Demory *et al.*, 2009). Quantitative immunofluorescent imaging demonstrated that arsenic increased colocalization of pY<sup>845</sup>EGFR with MTCO2 (Figures 3B-C) in the replated RC progeny, and adding AG-1478 with arsenic during differentiation prevented this sustained colocalization (Figures 3B-C).



Figure 3: Sustained EFGR activation and mitochondrial localization in arsenic-primed RC.

(A) Protein levels of total EGFR and pY845EGFR were compared by flow cytometry in control RC (green) and arsenic-primed RC (red) re-plated for 6 hours in the absence of arsenic. The bar charts report the mean + SEM of fluorescent intensity in cells from a combined three separate experiments. \*\*\* p<0.001 by two-tailed Student's t-test. (B) Replated RC were immunostained with antibodies to pY845EGFR (green) and MTCO2 (red) and imaged with confocal microscopy (scale bar=50 microns). Arsenic (As, 20 $\eta$ M) and AG-1478 (AG, 1 $\mu$ M) were added only in the differentiation phase of the experiment. (C) Pearson's colocalization coefficients for pY845EGFR and MTCO2 were calculated and the graph shows mean +/- SEM for six separate cell images from each group. (D-E) Pearson's colocalization coefficients for pY845EGFR and MTCO2 were calculated six separate cell images of control or arsenic-primed RC, as well as control and arsenic-primed RC that received either XJB-5-131 (XJB, 100  $\eta$ M) or SS-31 (100  $\eta$ M) after being replated and cultured for 4 days. Statistical differences were determined by one-way ANOVA, followed by Tukey's post-hoc test (\*\*p<0.1 different from control and ^^p<0.01 different from arsenic).



Figure 4: Images for graphs 3D-E.

At the level of mitochondrial function, low-level arsenic exposure led to a sustained excess of mitochondrial superoxide production in RC progeny, as well as morphological change, over multiple divisional generations in arsenic-free growth medium; an indication of altered epigenetic memory (Cheikhi et al., 2019). Since elevated ROS is a non-canonical activator of EGFR, we confirmed a role of mitochondrial ROS and/or disrupted respiration in maintaining the pY<sup>845</sup>EGFR/MTCO2 colocalization by reversing arsenic effects with two mitochondrially targeted compounds that have separate mechanisms of reducing ROS. Control and arsenic-primed RC progeny (re-plated in arsenic-free medium) were cultured for 4 days with either XJB-5-131, a mitochondrial targeting catalytic electron scavenger (Javadov et al., 2015), or SS-31, a mitochondrial targeting peptide that preserves the integrity of the mitochondrial membrane phospholipid cardiolipin (Campbell et al., 2019; Mitchell et al., 2020; Szeto & Liu, 2018). Addition of either compound to arsenic-primed RC progeny reversed the arsenic-promoted pY<sup>845</sup>EGFR colocalization with MTCO2 to a level comparable to the control RC progeny (Figures 3D-E and 4). Note that despite removing arsenite at the time of replating, pY<sup>845</sup>EGFR remained elevated in that arsenic-primed RC.



Figure 5: Dysfunctional mitochondrial effects of arsenic and EGF.

(A) Flow cytometric analysis of mitochondrial membrane potential using JC-1 ratiometric dye in arsenic (20nM) or EGF (100  $\eta$ M) exposed RC, relative to control. Percentages show the relative abundance of cells in quadrant 2 (JC-1 aggregates) and quadrant 4 (JC-1 monomers). (B) Quantification of JC-1 aggregates that indicate more positive membrane potential. AG-1478 (1  $\mu$ M) was added to cells simultaneously with arsenic in the differentiation protocol and JC-1 fluorescence was measured in undifferentiated RC. (C) SS-31 (100  $\eta$ M) was added to RC replated in arsenic-free medium and JC-1 fluorescence was measure after 3 days in culture. (D) Flow cytometric analysis of cardiolipin oxidation (loss of NAO fluorescence) in RC treated with EGF or arsenic in the differentiation protocol. The percentage of the cell population in quadrant 3 (decreased NAO staining) is given. (E) Mitochondrial superoxide was measured in undifferentiated control RC and RC exposed to arsenic and AG-1478 during the differentiation protocol. All experiments were repeated three times and group comparisons were made using ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test for significance (\*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001 relative to control, ^p,0.05, ^^0,0.01 relative to arsenic).

### Mitochondrial dysfunction from arsenic-stimulated mitochondrial pY<sup>845</sup>EGFR

Phosphorylation of MTCO2 by activated pY<sup>845</sup>EGFR causes mitochondrial morphological change and increased ROS generation as cytochrome C oxidase becomes dysfunctional (Demory *et al.*, 2009). We previously observed that arsenic exposure during the differentiation protocol promotes mitochondrial remodeling, increased mitochondrial mass, increased  $\Delta\Psi$ m, and increased

mitochondrial ROS in the replated RC progeny (Cheikhi *et al.*, 2019). Flow cytometric analysis with JC-1 dye demonstrated that treating cells with EGF caused a similar  $\Delta\Psi$ m increase and that adding EGF with arsenic resulted in no more of a  $\Delta\Psi$ m increase than adding either agent alone (Figure 5A). Treating the arsenic-exposed cells with AG-1478 or SS-31 during differentiation prevented the increased  $\Delta\Psi$ m in the arsenic-primed replated RC progeny (Figures 5B-C). Dysfunctional cytochrome c oxidase promotes cardiolipin oxidation and remodeling of the inner mitochondrial membranes (Mitchell *et al.*, 2020; Szeto & Liu, 2018). Addition of either EGF or arsenic decreased the amount of reduced cardiolipin (10-nonyl acridine orange (NAO) staining) in the RC progeny (Figure 5D). Addition of EGF and arsenic together was again less than additive in oxidizing cardiolipin, suggesting that they act through the same mechanism. This mechanism is likely driven by activating mitochondrial EGFR, since AG-1478 attenuated mitochondrial ROS generation in the arsenic-primed progeny (Figure 5E).

# Arsenic-enhanced RC stemness and proliferation requires activated EGFR and mitochondrial dysfunction.

Arsenic exposure increases the "stem-like character" (i.e. increased CD34 and CD133 expression) and proliferation of RC progeny, and this proliferative response was associated with RC populations with sustained cyclin D1 levels (Cheikhi *et al.*, 2019). AG-1478 has been shown to inhibit EGFR-induced cyclin D1 upregulation and cell cycle progression (W. Liu *et al.*, 2014; Zhu & Bunn, 2001). Adding AG-1478 with arsenic during differentiation also decreased arsenic-increased nuclear cyclin D1 levels in replated RC progeny (Figures 6A-B). Nuclear cyclin D1 levels in the arsenic-primed RC progeny were also returned to control levels by adding either XJB-5-131 or SS-31 to the re-plated RC progeny (Figures 6C-D, 7). Taken together, these data suggest that the adverse effects of arsenic on myogenesis may be sustained through noncanonical

mitochondrial EGFR activation, which is known to dysregulate cyclin D1-dependent myogenic cell cycle progression (Owusu-Ansah *et al.*, 2008).



#### Figure 6: Arsenic effects on EGFR and mitochondrial regulation of nuclear cyclinD1.

(A) Representative images of cyclin D1 immunofluorescence in undifferentiated RC replated in arsenic-medium. AG-1478 was added simultaneously with arsenic in the differentiation protocol. (B-D) Quantitative comparison of nuclear cyclin D1 levels in replated RC. Groups of cells in C and D were treated with SS-31 or XJB-5-131 after replating and all groups in B-D were fixed and analyzed after three days in arsenic-free culture. Representative images of cells from C and D are provided in Supplemental Figure 2. All experiments were repeated three times and the data are presented as mean +/- SEM of relative fluorescence per cell captured in five separate images. Group comparisons were made using ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test for significance (\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01 relative to control,  $^p<0.05$ ,  $^p<0.01$  relative to arsenic).



Figure 7: Images for Grafts 6 C-D.

#### 4.3 Discussion

Skeletal muscle homeostasis and regeneration is critically dependent on the balance between muscle stem cell self-renewal and commitment to differentiation. Here, we demonstrate that arsenic exposure disrupts this critical balance to impair myogenesis, and identify mitochondrial EGFR activation as an upstream mechanism for arsenic dysregulation of RC fate. Indeed, low-level arsenic stimulation of mitochondrial pY<sup>845</sup>EGFR was associated with remodeling of the mitochondrial membranes, increased  $\Delta\Psi$ m, increased mtROS, and proliferative signaling at the expense of myogenic differentiation. This mechanism for low-level arsenical effects on mitochondrial function and cell fate varies greatly from mechanisms through which much higher levels of arsenic inhibit mitochondrial ATP generation and promote cell death.

Skeletal muscle maintenance and regeneration depend on resident stem cells (satellite cells, MuSC), that are normally found in a quiescent state (Lipton & Schultz, 1979; Schultz, 1989). In response to injury, MuSCs activate, enter a state of transient amplification, and begin to express muscle regulatory transcription factors (MRFs) (Charge & Rudnicki, 2004; Hawke & Garry, 2001). The commitment to terminal differentiation occurs with expression of the MRF, myogenin, and degradation of the transcriptional repressor of differentiation, Pax7 (Ciciliot & Schiaffino, 2010; Olguin *et al.*, 2007). *In vivo*, EGFR is activated in adult MuSCs and RCs as they exit quiescence in the early stage of myogenic differentiation (Golding *et al.*, 2007; Nagata *et al.*, 2014) and this response is recapitulated in differentiating myoblasts *in vitro* (Andrechek *et al.*, 2002; Ford *et al.*, 2003). However, prolonged EGFR activity inhibits myogenic differentiation as the activated MuSCs are locked in a proliferative state (Golding *et al.*, 2007; Leroy *et al.*, 2013). While most attention has focused on ligand-dependent canonical action of plasma membrane EGFR, noncanonical, ligand-independent EGFR signaling in different cellular organelles is now

recognized to be a primary driver of pathogenic cell proliferation and proliferative diseases (Demory *et al.*, 2009; Tan *et al.*, 2016).

Murine C2C12 myoblasts provide a useful model for studying the consequence of adverse EGFR activation in quiescent MuSCs (Charville *et al.*, 2015; Golding *et al.*, 2007; Leroy *et al.*, 2013; Nagata *et al.*, 2014; Yoshida *et al.*, 1998). C2C12 RC display key characteristics that are shared by MuSC *in vivo*, including quiescence, activation, self-renewal and generation of myotubes (Yoshida *et al.*, 1998). The C2C12 differentiation model was shown to be extremely sensitive to arsenic and arsenic-induced epigenetic repression of myotube differentiation (Hong & Bain, 2012; Steffens *et al.*, 2011). These previous studies found that  $\eta$ M arsenic suppressed MRF activation with increased DNMT3a-dependent methylation of the *Myod* promoter. We found that  $\eta$ M arsenic induces C2C12 *Dnmt3a* through mitochondrially-regulated epigenetic changes, and that this epigenetic regulation enhances C2C12 proliferation over myogenic differentiation (Cheikhi *et al.*, 2019). The current findings suggest that low,  $\eta$ M levels of arsenic promote signal amplification through mitochondrial EGFR and its downstream pathways that disrupt respiratory chain activity, promote mitochondrial remodeling, and alter mitochondrial to nuclear communication.

In addition to increasing DNMT3a repression of MRF expression, arsenic may suppress differentiation through EGFR and mitochondrial-dependent temporal dysregulation of cyclin D1 (Figure 5). We previously found that arsenic-induced temporal dysregulation of cyclin D1 oscillatory behavior impedes adipogenic stem cell differentiation (Beezhold *et al.*, 2016). In the current studies, arsenic-increased nuclear cyclin D1 levels were attenuated by AG-1478 or reversed by adding XJB-5-131 or SS-31 to arsenic-primed RC. Sustained nuclear cyclin D1 affects self-renewal and differentiation in MPC by preventing MyoD binding to DNA (Wei & Paterson,

2001). Growth factor-stimulated nuclear cyclin D1 bound to cyclin-dependent kinase 4 (cdk4) is essential for allowing MPCs to choose to remain in cell cycle or exit to terminal differentiation (Wei & Paterson, 2001). Thus, by sustaining mitochondrial EGFR activity and its consequent effects on mitochondrial function, arsenic likely prevents the fall in cyclin D1 in G0 of cell cycle that allows MyoD and other MRF complexes to transactivate differentiation.

The full health impacts of arsenic effects on muscle mitochondrial function and impaired regeneration are unknown. There have been only a few epidemiological studies focused specifically on arsenic-impaired muscle function. Parvez *et al.* found that even low to moderate level arsenic exposures (less than 100 ppb) cause strength and motor deficits in children (Parvez *et al.*, 2011). Others found rates of muscle morbidity, atrophy, and weakness in the range of 35-85% in populations exposed to very high arsenic levels (Chakraborti *et al.*, 2003; Mukherjee *et al.*, 2003). The effects of arsenic on sensory motor coupling and neural maintenance of muscle are a large component of these morbidities. We found direct effects of arsenic on muscle strength, muscle regeneration and muscle compositional change, as well as on isolated muscle cells that are likely independent of neural input (Ambrosio *et al.*, 2014; Cheikhi *et al.*, 2019; Garciafigueroa *et al.*, 2013; Zhang *et al.*, 2016). Our findings of low-level arsenic-induced compromise of muscle mitochondrial function, bioenergetics, and compositional change towards ectopic adiposity (myosteatosis) may explain an underlying mechanism for arsenic-promoted diseases beyond skeletal muscle defects.

Loss of muscle quality is critically important to overall well-being as highlighted by the fact that skeletal muscle comprises 40-50% of total body metabolism, and that myosteatosis is associated with increased risk of all-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality (Carobbio *et al.*, 2011; Goodpaster *et al.*, 2000; Miljkovic & Zmuda, 2010; Prado *et al.*, 2018), as well as diabetes

(Miljkovic *et al.*, 2013). Thus, continued findings of direct effects on low-level arsenic on muscle metabolism, function, and composition warrant further population level investigation of the role of these environmentally-derived pathologies in the etiology of arsenic promoted diseases. The finding that mitochondrial protectants can mitigate and reverse arsenic-promoted pathogenic determination of progenitor cell fate has broad implications for developing mitochondrially directed strategies to treat disease in arsenic-exposed populations.

### 5.0 Chapter 4: Arsenic Directs Stem Cell Fate by Imparting Notch Signaling into the

#### **Extracellular Matrix Niche**

This article is currently in review at Toxicological Sciences.

Teresa Anguiano<sup>1</sup>, Amrita Sahu<sup>2</sup>, Baoli Qian<sup>1</sup>, Wan-Yee Tang<sup>1</sup>, Fabrisia Ambrosio<sup>1,2,3,4</sup> & Aaron Barchowsky<sup>1,5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Environmental and Occupational Health, University of Pittsburgh,
 <sup>2</sup>Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Pittsburgh
 <sup>3</sup>McGowan Institute for Regenerative Medicine, University of Pittsburgh
 <sup>4</sup>Department of Bioengineering, University of Pittsburgh
 <sup>5</sup>Department of Pharmacology and Chemical Biology, University of Pittsburgh

**FUNDING:** NIEHS grants R01ES023696 (FA and AB) and R01ES025529 (FA and AB) supported this work. We acknowledge the NIH-supported microscopy resources in the Center for Biologic Imaging (NIH grant #1S100D019973-01).

#### Abstract

Compromise of skeletal muscle metabolism and composition may underlie the etiology of cardiovascular and metabolic disease risk from environmental arsenic exposures. We reported that arsenic impairs muscle maintenance and regeneration by inducing maladaptive mitochondrial phenotypes in muscle stem cells (MuSC), connective tissue fibroblasts (CTF), and myofibers. We also found that arsenic imparts a dysfunctional memory in the extracellular matrix (ECM) that disrupts the MuSC niche and is sufficient to favor the expansion and differentiation of fibrogenic MuSC subpopulations. To investigate the signaling mechanisms involved in imparting a dysfunctional ECM, we isolated skeletal muscle tissue and CTF from mice exposed to 0 or 100 µg/L arsenic in their drinking water for five weeks. ECM elaborated by arsenic-exposed CTF

decreased myogenesis and increased fibrogenic/adipogenic MuSC subpopulations and differentiation. However, treating arsenic-exposed mice with SS-31, a mitochondrially targeted peptide that repairs the respiratory chain, reversed the arsenic-promoted CTF phenotype to one that elaborated an ECM supporting normal myogenic differentiation. SS-31 treatment also reversed arsenic-induced Notch1 expression, resulting in an improved muscle regeneration after injury. We found that persistent arsenic-induced CTF Notch1 expression caused the elaboration of dysfunctional ECM with increased expression of the Notch ligand DLL4. This DLL4 in the ECM was responsible for misdirecting MuSC myogenic differentiation. These data indicate that arsenic impairs muscle maintenance and regenerative capacity by targeting CTF mitochondria and mitochondrially-directed expression of dysfunctional regulators in the stem cell niche. Therapies that restore muscle cell mitochondria may effectively treat arsenic-induced skeletal muscle dysfunction and compositional decline.

### **5.1 Introduction**

The World Health Organization estimates that disease burden is increased in more than 200 million people worldwide who are exposed to arsenic concentrations in drinking water exceeding the threshold of 10  $\mu$ g/L (Bailey *et al.*, 2016). Chronic arsenic exposure increases the risk of developing a number of cancers and non-cancer diseases that include cardiovascular and metabolic diseases (Kuo *et al.*, 2017; Moon *et al.*, 2017). In addition, arsenic exposures contribute to adverse health outcomes that include skeletal muscle weakness, mobility dysfunction, and impaired muscle metabolism (Mazumder and Dasgupta, 2011; Parvez *et al.*, 2011).

Skeletal muscle tissue accounts for 40-50% of body weight in lean individuals and approximately 50% of metabolism. Loss of lean body mass and muscle quality are increasingly recognized as significant risks, if not etiological factors for cardiovascular, lung, and metabolic disease (Correa-de-Araujo et al., 2017; Prado et al., 2018). Muscle quality is critically important to overall well-being, as increased fibrosis and adiposity (fibro-adipogenesis, myosteatosis) are associated with an elevated risk of all-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality (Miljkovic-Gacic et al., 2005; Miljkovic and Zmuda, 2010; Santanasto et al., 2017). Increased inter- and intramyocellular fat is an early sign of insulin resistance and impaired metabolism (Goodpaster *et al.*, 2000; Sell et al., 2006; Vigouroux et al., 2011). As awareness of the importance of muscle quality decline and myosteatosis in the etiology and promotion of disease has only recently increased (Aleixo et al., 2020; Nachit and Leclercq, 2019; Prado et al., 2018), few studies have investigated environmental influences on muscle decline and myosteatosis. Nonetheless, a limited number of epidemiological (Parvez et al., 2011) and animal studies (Ambrosio et al., 2014; Garciafigueroa et al., 2013; Yen et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2016) found that environmental arsenic exposure impairs skeletal muscle function and promotes ectopic fat deposition, dysfunctional metabolism, dysfunctional myogenesis, and aberrant progenitor cell differentiation.

Skeletal muscle is composed of highly metabolic, insulin-sensitive fibers, neural and vascular structures, elaborate networks of connective tissue and extracellular matrix (ECM), and multiple stem/progenitor cell populations (Moyle *et al.*, 2019; Tedesco *et al.*, 2010; Tedesco *et al.*, 2017). While the primary role of the ECM is to provide structural support required for motor function, it is also an essential repository for cellular communications and helps to regulate metabolic functions (Hays *et al.*, 2008; Zhang *et al.*, 2016). The ECM is predominantly generated by connective tissue fibroblasts (CTF) and vascular-associated cells, and it provides the regulatory
niche for resident stem cells (Gillies and Lieber, 2011). Disrupting the interactions within these resident cell populations and modifying their molecular contributions to the ECM microenvironment compromises the balance within the skeletal muscle niche, including its overall structure and metabolism (Engler *et al.*, 2006; Smith *et al.*, 2017; Stearns-Reider *et al.*, 2017; Williams *et al.*, 2015; Zhang *et al.*, 2016).

We have previously shown that human muscle stem cells (hMuSC) cultured on decellularized ECM constructs derived from arsenic-exposed skeletal muscle undergo a fibrogenic conversion, unlike hMuSC cultured on control ECM constructs (Zhang et al., 2016). These data confirm that hMuSC are receptive to signaling from the skeletal muscle ECM and suggest that arsenic exposure imparts changes within the ECM that misdirect hMuSC differentiation. Furthermore, CTF isolated from arsenic-exposed mice (CTF<sup>ars</sup>) retain elevated NF-κB-driven ECM gene transcript levels, relative to CTF isolated from control mice (CTF<sup>ctr</sup>) (Zhang et al., 2016), and these levels may promote ECM remodeling and dysfunctional ECM to cell communications. We also found that arsenic targets mitochondrial morphology and dynamics to disrupt muscle metabolism, mitochondrial oxidant generation, and epigenetic memory in muscle progenitor cells (Ambrosio et al., 2014; Cheikhi et al., 2020; Cheikhi et al., 2019). Thus, in the current study, we investigated whether arsenic effects on CTF mitochondria underlie dysfunctional elaboration of a stress memory into the ECM. Given that signaling from this memory may also direct MuSC fate and impair muscle maintenance and regenerative capacity, we also investigated the signaling mechanisms involved in imparting the CTF<sup>ars</sup> ECM memory that reduces myogenesis and drives fibro-adipogenic differentiation of hMuSC.

## **6.0 Materials and Methods**

Animal exposures. Six-week-old male C57Bl/6J mice (Jackson Laboratory) were exposed to 0 or 100 sodium meta-arsenite (NaAsO<sub>2</sub>; Fisher Scientific) in their drinking water for five weeks, at which time mice were euthanized and hind limb muscles collected. Arsenite was used as it is the most environmentally-relevant toxic form of inorganic arsenic in drinking water. We found that this exposure causes pathological tissue and ECM remodeling in multiple organs of the mouse without causing any signs of overt lethality or changes in weight gain (Ambrosio et al., 2014; Garciafigueroa et al., 2013; Soucy et al., 2005; Straub et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2016). Fresh arsenite-containing water was provided every 2-3 days to ensure that there is little arsenite oxidation to pentavalent arsenate. All studies were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Pittsburgh. As shown in the scheme in Figure 3A, in experiments evaluating SS-31 for reversing arsenic effects, arsenic exposure was stopped after five weeks, and the mice received daily i.p. injections of SS-31 (1 mg/kg in saline) or saline for one week. Bilateral tibialis anterior (TA) muscles were then injured with 20  $\mu$ l of 1.2% (w/v) barium chloride (BaCl<sub>2</sub>). The mice were allowed to recover for two weeks, and, after euthanizing, TA muscles were evaluated for tissue regeneration, gastrocnemius muscles were collected for gene transcript and ChIP analysis, and CTF were isolated from the remaining hind limb muscles.

*CTF isolation.* For each isolation, CTF were isolated from the hind limb muscles of two mice, essentially as described (Goetsch *et al.*, 2015). After euthanizing the mice, hind limb muscles were removed and finely minced in Hank's balanced salt solution (HBSS). The minced pieces were collected by centrifugation at 900g for five minutes, resuspended in Collagenase XI (2 mg/ml in HBSS C7657 Sigma Aldrich), and digested for 60 minutes at 37°C with shaking

every 10 minutes. The suspension was centrifuged for five minutes at 900g, and the supernatant was discarded. The pellet was resuspended in dispase II (2.4 U/ml in HBSS, ThermoFisher 17105041) and digested for 45 minutes at 37°C with shaking every 10 minutes. The suspension was again centrifuged for five minutes at 900g, the supernatant was discarded, and the pellet was resuspended in 0.1% Trypsin. After a 30 minute incubation followed by centrifugation, the resulting cell pellet was resuspended in growth medium (DMEM (4.5 g glucose/ml) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Hyclone), 10% horse serum (Hyclone), 1% penicillin-streptomycin antibiotics and 0.5% chicken essential extract). The suspension was filtered through a 70 micron strainer and the cells in the filtrate were seeded in collagen-coated six-well plates. Non-adherent cells were removed after three hours and the adherent CTFs were cultured in fresh growth medium. Greater than 95% of the adhered CTF<sup>etr</sup> and CTF<sup>ars</sup> stained positive for the fibroblast marker,  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ SMA).

*CTF ECM elaboration, decellularization, and myoblast differentiation.* Primary CTF were seeded onto collagen-coated eight-well glass chamber slides (10,000 cells/well) and allowed to elaborate an ECM for 2-3 days. The ECM was decellularized by incubating the wells with HBSS at room temperature for 10 minutes and then in distilled water for one hour. The slides were then rinsed three times with HBSS until all the cells and cell ghosts were removed. Human skeletal muscle stem cells (hMuSC, ScienCell #3510) were seeded onto the decellularized ECM construct at 10,000 cells/well and differentiated for two days by culturing in differentiation medium (DMEM (4.5 g/L glucose) supplemented with 2% Horse Serum (Hyclone) and 1% penicillin-streptomycin). At the end of the differentiation period, the cultures were fixed and prepared for immunofluorescent imaging.

To examine the effect of inhibiting  $CTF^{ctr}$  and  $CTF^{ars}$  Notch on hMuSC differentiation on the elaborated ECM, DAPT (1  $\mu$ M) was added to CTF one day after seeding and for an additional two days of ECM elaboration. DAPT was removed by decellularizing and rinsing the ECM prior to seeding hMuSC. To demonstrate the role of ECM DLL4, the elaborated ECM was coated with antibody (1  $\mu$ g/ml) for three hours at 37°C. The antibody solution was rinsed away prior to seeding hMuSC for differentiation.

Quantitative immunofluorescence imaging. CTF<sup>ctr</sup> and CTF<sup>ars</sup> were seeded on coated eight-well chamber glass slides and cultured until near confluence. hMuSC were seeded on ECM elaborated onto the glass slides and cultured in differentiation medium for two days. At the end of the experimental period for both cell types, the cells were then fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde for 15 minutes at room temperature, washed three times with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), and permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS for 15 minutes at room temperature. Slides were then washed three times with PBS and five times with PBS + 0.5% BSA (PBB). Slides were subsequently blocked with 5% natural donkey serum (Millipore S30-100KC) diluted in PBB for 60 minutes, washed five times with PBB, and then incubated with primary antibodies (Supplemental Table 1: List of antibodies and dilutions) for 60 min at room temperature. After five washes with PBB, the slides were incubated with fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibodies (Supplemental Table 1) for 60 minutes, washed five times with PPB, three times with PBS, and stained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI; BioLegend 422801) for one minute. After mounting coverslips with Fluromount-G (eBiosciences 004958-02), the slides were imaged using a Nikon A1 confocal microscope (University of Pittsburgh Center for Biologic Imaging). Multiple fields were imaged per culture. The mean fluorescent intensity of each protein (desmin,

NICD, PDGFRα, and CD34) was quantified using Nikon Elements AR software (Nikon). Intensity of MyoD within cell nuclei was calculated and averaged per field of view.

*Transmission electron microscopy*. CTF grown in coated 12-well plastic plates were fixed in 2.5% glutaraldehyde in 100 mM PBS (8 gm/l NaCl, 0.2 gm/l KCl, 1.15 gm/l Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>.7H2O, 0.2 gm/l KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH 7.4) overnight at 4°C. Monolayers were washed three times with PBS and then post-fixed in aqueous 1% osmium tetroxide, 1% Fe<sub>6</sub>CN<sub>3</sub> for 1 hr. After three washes with PBS, the cells were dehydrated through a 30-100% ethanol series and then several changes of Polybed 812 embedding resin (Polysciences, Warrington, PA). Cultures were embedded in by inverting Polybed 812-filled BEEM capsules on top of the cells. Blocks were cured overnight at 37°C and then cured for two days at 65°C. Monolayers were pulled off the coverslips and reembedded for cross section. Ultrathin cross sections (60 nm) of the cells were obtained on a Reichert Ultracut E microtome, post-stained in 4% uranyl acetate for 10 minutes and in 1% lead citrate for seven minutes. Sections were imaged using a JEM 1011 TEM (JEOL, Peabody, MA) at 80kV. Images were taken using a side-mount AMT 2k digital camera (Advanced Microscopy Techniques, Danvers, MA).

Second Harmonics Generation imaging (SHG) of whole mount muscles. SHG imaging of intact TA muscles was performed as we previously described. Briefly, after two weeks of recovery from BaCl<sub>2</sub> injury, TAs were excised, placed in 2% paraformaldehyde for two hours, and then in Scaleview solution (Olympus) for at least one week. Scaleview solution was replenished every three days. The samples were rinsed and stored in PBS at 4°C until imaged. All imaging was performed with an Olympus multi-photon microscope (Model FV1000, ASW software, Tokyo, Japan). Prior to imaging, samples were placed in hanging drop slides in PBS and a coverslip was placed over the well and in contact with the muscle. The muscle was oriented with the superior border aligned parallel to the superior edge of the slide and the dorsal surface of the muscle against the coverslip. Images were taken of the medial and lateral muscle bellies at the site of injury to a depth of  $100\mu m$ , with a step thickness of  $2\mu m$  and a scan pixel count of 1024x1024.

*Western analysis.* Western analyses for changes in OXPHOS complex protein abundance were performed, as previously described (Barchowsky *et al.*, 1999; Klei *et al.*, 2013). Briefly, CTF cultures were lysed in RIPA buffer containing protease, kinase, and phosphates inhibitors, and homogenized by sonication. After centrifugation at 10,000 g for 5 minutes at 4°C, protein content of the supernatant was determined by BCA assay (ThermoFisher) and the remainder of the supernatant was mixed with 6x Laemmli sample loading buffer. Equal amounts of protein were separated by PAGE and transferred to PDVF membranes (Immobilon-IF, EMD Millipore Corporation, Billerica, MA). After blocking, the membranes were incubated with Total OXPHOS Rodent WB Antibody Cocktail (Abcam #ab110413) and antibody to VDAC (Abcam # ab15895), rinsed, and then incubated with IRDye® 800CW Donkey anti-Mouse IgG or IRDye® 680LT Donkey anti-Rabbit IgG (Li-COR Biosciences), respectively. Digital infrared imaging and quantification of the protein bands was performed using a LI-COR Odyssey Clx imager and Image Studio v5.2 software.

*Gene transcript and ChIP analysis*. Gastrocnemius muscles were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and RNA was isolated from pulverized tissue powder using the AllPrep DNA/RNA/miRNA Universal Kit (Qiagen, Germantown, MD). Isolated RNA was reverse transcribed using iScript<sup>™</sup> gDNA Clear cDNA Synthesis Kit (BIO-RAD, Hercules, CA). Notch1 mRNA levels were quantified by SYBR Green-based real-time PCR (qPCR) using SsoAdvanced<sup>™</sup> Universal SYBR® Green Supermix (BIO-RAD, Hercules, CA). Transcript levels were normalized to the expression level of Rpl44, and the fold changes of *Notch1* relative to

universal mouse reference RNA (Qiagen) were calculated using  $2-\Delta\Delta$  Ct method. Each sample duplicate. Primers (Forward: measured in sequence: Rpl44 5'was AGATGAGGCAGAGGTCCAA-3' and Reverse: 5'-GTTGTAAGAAAGGCGGTCA-3') and 5'-Notch1 (Forward:5'-ACAGTGCAACCCCCTGTATG-3', Reverse: TCTAGGCCATCCCACTCACA-3'). For ChIP analysis, pulverized tissue powder was fixed with 1% formaldehyde for 15 minutes, followed by quenching with a 125mM glycine solution. Crosslinked proteins were pelleted and washed with PBS containing protease inhibitor cocktail. Chromatin isolation and immunoprecipitation was performed using ChIP-IT kit (Active Motif, Carlsbad, CA), following the manufacturer's instructions.1-2 µg of ChIP-validated antibodies against RNA Polymerase II (A2032, Epigentek, Farmingdale, NY), or H2A.Zac (ab18262, Abcam, Cambridge, MA) were used for immunoprecipitation of each sample. 1% of nonimmunoprecipitated chromatin was used as input. Following reverse crosslinking and elution of chromatin, DNA from each sample was purified with QIAquick PCR purification kit (Qiagen). Ten ng of purified DNA was used for PCR of the 5' promoter region of Notch1 (-107 to +90 nt) using the primers: forward: 5'- CACAAGGGGGTAAGGGTTC-3' and Reverse: 5'-GGCTCGTTCCTTCACTGC-3'. The percent of immunoprecipitated DNA relative to the input was calculated.

*Statistical analysis.* Data in graphs are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Significance between groups was determined by Student's t-tests or one-way ANOVA followed by either Dunnett's or Tukey's tests for multiple comparisons. *A priori*, differences were considered to be significantly different at p<0.05. Statistical analysis and graphing were performed using Graphpad Prizm v8.3.1 software.

### 6.1 Results

*ECM elaborated from arsenic-exposed CTF impairs myogenic differentiation.* We previously found that environmentally relevant exposure to arsenic (100  $\mu$ g/L: 2-5 weeks) in drinking water impairs skeletal muscle maintenance and injury repair (Ambrosio *et al.*, 2014; Zhang *et al.*, 2016). 100  $\mu$ g/L in drinking water is not an uncommon human exposure and is approximately the EC90 we found for arsenic promoted remodeling of mouse liver vasculature in this mouse model (Ambrosio *et al.*, 2014; Garciafigueroa *et al.*, 2013; Soucy *et al.*, 2005; Straub *et al.*, 2008; Straub *et al.*, 2007; Zhang *et al.*, 2016). While the exact translation of this exposure to the human equivalent is difficult, allometric scaling (FDA, 2005) would estimate this to be a human exposure of approximately 20  $\mu$ g/L, or twice the WHO/EPA safe drinking water level.

CTF<sup>ars</sup> retained aberrant expression of ECM proteins when cultured in the absence of arsenic, and arsenic exposure caused decellularized ECM scaffolds to direct naïve heterogenic hMuSC populations toward fibrogenic instead of myogenic differentiation (Zhang *et al.*, 2016). To test the functional consequence of the aberrant ECM elaborated by the CTF<sup>ars</sup>, we seeded CTF isolated from the hind limb muscles of control or arsenic-exposed (100 µg/L: 5 weeks) mice and allowed them to elaborate matrix for 2-3 days. The cells were then removed, and hMuSC not exposed to arsenic were cultured in myogenic differentiation, as determined by MyoD and desmin expression, was reduced in hMuSC seeded on ECM elaborated by CTF<sup>ars</sup> when compared to hMuSC seeded onto ECM from CTF<sup>ctr</sup>. In contrast, the hMuSC seeded on the CTF<sup>ars</sup> ECM had an increased number of cells expressing both the proliferation marker CD34 (Figs. 1D-E) and fibro-adipogenic marker PDGFRα (Fig. 1F-G).



#### Figure 8: ECM from CTF<sup>ars</sup> inhibits myogenesis and promotes fibro-adipogenic differentiation.

Hind limb muscle CTF were isolated from control mice ( $CTF^{ctr}$ ) and mice exposed for five weeks to 100 µg/L arsenic in drinking water ( $CTF^{ars}$ ). The CTF were seeded in the absence of arsenic and allowed to elaborate matrix for three days. The cells were removed, and unexposed hMuSC were cultured on the elaborated ECM in differentiation medium for two days. Cells were fixed and immunostained for the indicated proteins, as well as stained for nuclei (DAPI) and actin filaments (phalloidin). Immunofluorescence in 40x or 60x magnification confocal images was quantified and the data are presented as mean and SEM of the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) per cell or nuclei captured in individual microscopic fields (images from three replicate cultures representative of cultures isolated from at least four mice per treatment). Statistical differences were determined by unpaired t-tests (\*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001). *Arsenic targets CTF mitochondria to impair myogenesis and muscle regeneration.* The fact that the CTF<sup>ars</sup> elaborated a pathogenic ECM even when cultured in the absence of arsenic suggests that the cells retained an epigenetic-driven memory of the arsenic stress, as we found in MuSC isolated from arsenic exposed mice and in myogenic cell lines exposed to arsenic in culture (Ambrosio *et al.*, 2014; Cheikhi *et al.*, 2019). Specifically, we showed that the regulation of this memory was directed by dysfunctional mitochondria (Cheikhi *et al.*, 2019). The CTF<sup>ars</sup> possessed the same elongated mitochondrial networks with disrupted cristae (Figure 2A) that we found in arsenic exposed muscle tissue, MuSC, and myocytes (Ambrosio *et al.*, 2014; Cheikhi *et al.*, 2019). Despite the apparent increase in large fused mitochondria, there was an approximately 25% loss of respiratory Complex I and Complex II proteins, as well as the voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC) protein in CTF<sup>ars</sup> relative to other respiratory complex proteins and relative to levels in control CTF (Figure 2B, Table 1).



#### Figure 9: Arsenic effects on CTF mitochondrial morphology and respiratory complexes.

**A.** CTF<sup>ctr</sup> and CTF<sup>ars</sup> isolated from two mice per treatment were cultured in the absence of arsenic for three days and then fixed and processed for imaging at 25,000x magnification by transmission electron microscopy. The length of mitochondria in 3-4 separate images was measured using Image J software (dots are individual mitochondria). Statistical significance between groups was determined by unpaired t-test (\*\*p<0.01). **B.** CTF<sup>ctr</sup> and CTF<sup>ars</sup> from two mice per treatment were amplified in culture and total protein was probed for expression of mitochondrial respiratory complexes by immunoblotting (second blot presented in Figure S2). The abundance of respiratory complex proteins (green) and VDAC (red) are given in Table 1.

Protein	Control	Arsenic	Arsenic / Control
Complex V (ATP5A)	4320 <u>+</u> 480.6	3477 <u>+</u> 430.3	0.80 +/- 0.08
Complex IV (MTCO1)	1385 <u>+</u> 74.0	1285 <u>+</u> 51.8	0.89 +/- 0.06
Complex III (UQCRC2)	1144 <u>+</u> 64.7	983.0 <u>+</u> 66.8	0.86 +/- 0.04
Complex II (SDHB)	1044 <u>+</u> 25.0	789.0 <u>+</u> 36.2***	0.75 +/- 0.03^
Complex I (NDUFB8)	374.2 <u>+</u> 16.7	271.7 <u>+</u> 4.8***	0.73 +/- 0.03^
VDAC	41717 <u>+</u> 1831	31567 <u>+</u> 725.1***	0.75 +/- 0.02^

<b>Fable 1: Abundance</b>	of CTF	mitochondrial channel	l and r	espiratory	proteins.
---------------------------	--------	-----------------------	---------	------------	-----------

Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM of relative Infrared band intensity or fold intensity relative to control

\*\*\* designates significant difference (p<0.001) between cells from control and arsenic mice (n=6) as determined by an unpaired t-test.

^ designates significant difference (p<0.05) from the fold control abundance of Complex IV (n=6) as determined by one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test.

SS-31 is a mitochondrially-targeted peptide that binds cardiolipin and cardiolipinassociated proteins to preserve or restore respiratory chain function (Campbell *et al.*, 2019; Szeto and Liu, 2018). We have demonstrated that SS-31, and other mitochondrial protectant compounds, reverse arsenic effects on myocyte mitochondrial function and epigenetic regulation (Cheikhi *et al.*, 2020; Cheikhi *et al.*, 2019). To test whether repairing the respiratory chain could revert the CTF<sup>ars</sup> phenotype *in vivo*, mice were treated with SS-31 for one week after stopping arsenic exposure. The mice then received bilateral injections of BaCl<sub>2</sub> in their TA muscles to produce a defined myofiber injury and were allowed to recover for two weeks (Figure 3A: experimental paradigm). As seen in Figures 3B-D, SS-31 treatments reversed the effects of the arsenic exposure as CTF<sup>ars/SS-31</sup> elaborated a matrix with the same myogenic instruction as that elaborated by CTF<sup>ctr</sup>. It should be noted that ECM from CTF<sup>ctr/SS-31</sup> had a negative effect that was equivalent to ECM from CTF<sup>ars</sup>. Regardless, the SS-31 treatment only slightly impaired *in vivo* regeneration of injured TA myofibers (number of centrally nucleated regenerating fibers and myotube fusion index), but completely reversed arsenic-inhibited repair (Fig. 3E-G).



Figure 10: Mitochondrial SS-31 treatment reverses arsenic effects on ECM and regeneration.

**A.** Experimental scheme and timeline for mouse exposure, SS-31 intervention and TA injury. **B.** Myofiber differentiation (**C.** desmin positive structures and **D.** nuclear MyoD expression) of unexposed hMuSC seeded on ECM elaborated from CTF isolated from control, arsenic, and SS-31 (CTF<sup>SS-31</sup>, CTF<sup>ars/SS-31</sup>) mice (six replicate cultures from four mice in each treatment). **E.** Whole TAs were isolated and cleared for SHG imaging of intact muscle. **F-G.** Regenerating centrally nucleated fibers and muscle fiber fusion index were quantified and compared for statistical differences. Mean  $\pm$  SEM values from six mice in each treatment group were compared by one-way ANOVA followed

by Tukey's ad hoc multiple comparison. In C-D \*\* designates statistical significance from hMuSC seeded on CTF<sup>ctr</sup> ECM (p<0.01) and ^ designates difference from cells seeded on CTF<sup>ars</sup> ECM (p<0.05). In F-G, \*\*\*\* designates difference from control or arsenic (p<0.0001).

#### Arsenic-stimulated Notch signaling mediates dysfunctional repair and ECM

*elaboration.* Notch proteins are master regulators of cell fate. Continuous Notch signaling in muscle inhibits myogenesis but promotes fibro-adipogenic differentiation of muscle progenitor cells (Brack et al., 2008; Buas and Kadesch, 2010; Kitzmann et al., 2006; Marinkovic et al., 2019; Pasut et al., 2016; Verma et al., 2018). In screening for regulatory gene changes in the uninjured gastrocnemius muscles of the groups of mice shown in Figure 4, we found that arsenic induced a sustained increase in Notch1 expression and that SS-31 treatment returned Notch1 mRNA to control expression levels (Figure 4A). Notch1 expression remained elevated three weeks after arsenic was removed from the drinking water, suggesting prolonged epigenetic regulatory change. Indeed, ChIP analysis of the Notch1 promoter revealed that the transcriptional start site was held in an open, RNA polymerase Pol II-bound conformation (Fig. 4B), perhaps driven by the increased binding of the active epigenetic mark, acetylated H2A.Z (Fig. 4C), in muscles from the arsenic-exposed mice. As we previously reported (Cheikhi et al., 2019), this epigenetic memory was driven by arsenic-promoted mitochondrial dysfunction, since SS-31 treatment reversed arsenic-induced Notch1 mRNA expression and the binding of active epigenetic marks on the *Notch1* promoter.



#### Figure 11: SS-31 reversal of arsenic-induced Notch1 expression in vivo.

**A.** Quantitative PCR measure of Notch1 mRNA levels in uninjured gastrocnemius muscle from the mice in Figure 3 (n=8 mice). **B-C**. ChIP analysis of Pol II or H2A.Zac binding at the Notch1 promoter. Means and + SD of the treatment groups were compared with one- way ANOVA followed by Tukey's ad hoc multiple comparison. Significant differences from control are indicated by \*\* (p<0.01) or \*\*\* (p<0.001), and from arsenic by ^ (p<0.05) or ^^^ (p<0.001); n=8 mice in each treatment group.

To demonstrate that arsenic-induced CTF *Notch1* expression and functionally increased Notch1 signaling, CTF<sup>ctr</sup> and CTF<sup>ars</sup> were seeded in arsenic-free culture and compared for activated Notch1 (NICD) protein expression and expression of the NICD-driven Notch ligand, DLL4. Quantitative immunofluorescence analysis demonstrated that CTF<sup>ars</sup> retained elevated NICD levels *ex vivo*, relative to control CTF (Fig. 5A-B). The CTF<sup>ars</sup> also retained increased expression of DLL4 (Fig. 5A; C). In contrast, CTF<sup>ars</sup> isolated from mice that received one week of SS-31 treatment had NICD and DLL4 levels that were essentially equal to CTF<sup>ctr</sup> (Fig. 5A-C). In addition, treating CTF<sup>ars</sup> with the  $\gamma$ -secretase inhibitor, DAPT, *ex vivo* reduced both NICD and DLL4 expression. These data suggest arsenic exposure creates an epigenetic memory for enhanced Notch signaling in CTFs and that DLL4 expression was downstream of NICD transactivation.

•



#### Figure 12: SS-31 reversal of arsenic-induced CTF Notch1 activity.

**A-C.** CTF were isolated from hind limb muscles (excluding TA and gastrocnemius) from the mice in Figure 3 and cultured for 24 hr before fixing and quantitative immunofluorescence analysis of activated Notch (NICD) and DLL4 protein expression. D-E. Groups of CTF<sup>ars</sup> were cultured *ex vivo* with 1  $\mu$ M DAPT and abundance of NICD and DLL4 was compared to CTF<sup>ctr</sup> and CTF<sup>ars</sup> (note that values for CTF<sup>ctr</sup> and CTFars NICD in **B** and **D** are from the same cultures, while data in **C** and **D** are from separate cultures). Mean <u>+</u> SEM of the MFI/cell from the groups (cont = control, As = arsenic) were compared using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's ad hoc multiple comparison. Significant differences from control are indicated by \*\* (p<0.01) or and from arsenic by ^^ (p<0.01).



#### Figure 13: Notch-induced ECM DLL4 impairs hMPC myogenic differentiation.

**A-C.** CTF<sup>ctr</sup> and CTF<sup>ars</sup> were seeded and cultured for one day before adding 1  $\mu$ M DAPT to the designated groups. On culture day 3, cells were removed and hMuSC were seeded on elaborated ECM and cultured in differentiation medium for two days before fixing and quantifying desmin and nuclear MyoD expression. **D-E.** CTF<sup>ctr</sup> and CTF<sup>ars</sup> were cultured for three days to elaborate ECM. The cells were removed and the ECM was incubated with an antibody that blocks DLL4/Notch binding. After rinsing to remove unbound antibody, hMuSC were seeded and cultured in differentiation medium for two days before fixing and quantifying desmin and nuclear MyoD expression. Mean <u>+</u> SEM expression from the groups were compared using one-way ANOVA and Tukey's ad hoc multiple comparison. Significant differences from CTF<sup>ctr</sup> ECM are indicated by \* (p<0.05), \*\* (p<0.01), or \*\*\* (p<0.001) and from CTF<sup>ars</sup> ECM by ^^ (p<0.01) or ^^^ (p<0.001).

To investigate the functional importance of Notch1 and NICD-induced DLL4 in arsenicinhibited myogenesis, CTF<sup>ctr</sup> and CTF<sup>ars</sup> were again seeded to elaborate a matrix. After one day, DAPT was added to groups of the CTF<sup>ctr</sup> and CTF<sup>ars</sup> cultures, and decellularized ECM was prepared on culture day 3. hMuSC were then seeded on the ECM for two days in differentiation media. ECM elaborated by CTF<sup>ars</sup> cultures inhibited the generation of desmin positive fibers myofibers and decreased hMuSC nuclear MyoD levels (Fig. 6A-C). However, treating the CTF<sup>ars</sup> with DAPT attenuated the effect of the CTF<sup>ars</sup> elaborated on hMuSC differentiation. To demonstrate that the effect of DAPT resulted from decreased DLL4 elaboration into the ECM, decellularized ECM from CTF<sup>ctr</sup> or CTF<sup>ars</sup> was incubated with an antibody that blocks DLL4 binding to Notch. Unbound antibody was rinsed from the ECM and hMuSC were seeded in differentiation medium. Blocking ECM DLL4 increased hMuSC myogenic differentiation to levels greater than control and more than reversed the effect of the CTF<sup>ars</sup> phenotype (Figs. 6D-E). Antibody blocking of DLL4 may have been more effective than DAPT since the antibody would block both basally expressed and NICD-induced DLL4.

# 6.2 Discussion

Collectively, the data indicate that low-to-moderate arsenic exposure induces functional ECM-associated changes in the MuSC niche. These findings may help explain muscle weakness and metabolic dysfunction experienced by individuals in arsenic-endemic areas. Furthermore, the data implicate arsenic effects on mitochondria in creating prolonged epigenetic signaling for dysfunctional ECM and dysregulated MuSC fate. The study demonstrates that muscle tissue and CTF isolated from mice weeks (1.5-2 human year equivalents) after arsenic exposure was

terminated retained elevated Notch1 expression and signaling that misdirected populations of MuSC away from myogenesis and towards fibro-adipogenesis. The CTF<sup>ars</sup> phenotype was also accompanied by atypical mitochondrial morphology. Intervention with SS-31 reversed arsenic-inhibited tissue regeneration, epigenetic induction of Notch1, and functional impairment from the ECM elaborated by CTF<sup>ars</sup>. Together, these data implicate aberrant Notch1 signaling as the mechanism for the arsenic-promoted myomatrix remodeling that impairs muscle metabolism, maintenance, and regeneration.

Notch signaling is a key regulator of MuSC quiescence, self-renewal activity, and stem cell fate determinations that promote muscle pathologies (Bjornson et al., 2012; Gerli et al., 2019; Kitzmann et al., 2006). Notch activity represses skeletal muscle myogenesis by preserving MuSC in a proliferative stem cell-like state (e.g., increased CD34 expression, Figure 1) while concomitantly reducing the number of CD34-positive reserve cells that fuse to make myotubes (Cappellari et al., 2013; Gerli et al., 2019; Kitzmann et al., 2006). Notch promotes asymmetric MuSC division and divergent fates of daughter cells (Conboy and Rando, 2002). Over-activation of Notch signaling in skeletal muscle impaired stem cell support of muscle regeneration (Brack et al., 2008) and/or promoted differentiation of subpopulations of MuSC into brown adipocytes (Pasut et al., 2016) or pericytes (Cappellari et al., 2013). While increased DLL4 signaling is sufficient for directing MuSC subpopulations towards pericyte differentiation, maximal transdifferentiation occurs with co-stimulation by PDGF-BB, a platelet-derived growth factor that activates PDGFRa (Cappellari et al., 2013). Pericytes can be derived from multiple lineages and, as a result, express heterogenic phenotypes even within the same tissues (Dias Moura Prazeres et al., 2017). The data in Figure 1 suggest that as CTF<sup>ars</sup>-elaborated ECM reduces hMuSC myogenic differentiation, it enhances a population of cells expressing PDGFRa and aSMA, which are indicative of type 1 pericytes (Birbrair *et al.*, 2013). This is significant since type 1 pericytes are more prone to adipogenic differentiation relative to their myogenic type 2 counterparts (Birbrair *et al.*, 2013) and may underlie the increase in perivascular ectopic adipose tissue that we reported in skeletal muscle of arsenic exposed mice (Garciafigueroa *et al.*, 2013).

Notch signaling is initiated when the membrane-bound ligands of the Delta-like (DLL1, DLL3, DLL4) and the Jagged (JAG1 and JAG2) families engage and transactivate Notch receptors on neighboring cells (Buas and Kadesch, 2010; Wakabayashi et al., 2015). Notch signaling is essential for MuSC quiescence, health, and expansion of myogenic progenitors in postnatal myogenesis and regeneration (Bjornson et al., 2012; Brack et al., 2008; Conboy et al., 2003). However, myogenic differentiation requires a temporal switch from Notch signaling to cell-cell transactivation of wnt/β-catenin signaling. Sustained NICD or DLL4 signaling, such as observed from the CTF<sup>ars</sup>-elaborated ECM, prevents this transition and directs the fibroadipogenic and pericytes differentiation of MuSC populations. (Cappellari et al., 2013; Moyle et al., 2019; Pasut et al., 2016). The novel observation that CTF<sup>ars</sup>-elaborated DLL4 is essentially a memory of arsenic-promoted stress imparted into the ECM and that it continues to direct pathogenic tissue remodeling, even after arsenic has been removed, is significant. It has important implications for the impacts of chronic arsenic exposures on muscle maintenance and regenerative capacity. It is also consistent with our previous demonstration that decellularized muscle ECM scaffolds isolated from arsenic-exposed mice caused hMuSC to be redirected to a fibrogenic determination rather than their normal myogenic fate (Zhang et al., 2016). It appears that, without intervention such as SS-31 administration, the pathogenic ECM and epigenetic memory of arsenic exposures persists. However, it remains unclear whether or when these

81

memories may ultimately be spontaneously erased. The data in Fig. 3-4 suggest that this reversal could occur years after human arsenic exposure is terminated.

The successful *in vivo* reversal of arsenic-inhibited tissue regeneration and Notch signaling resulting from SS-31 administration confirms our previous findings that arsenic targets mitochondria to impart the persistent epigenetic memory of stress (Ambrosio et al., 2014; Cheikhi et al., 2019). Arsenic-promoted mitochondrial respiratory chain dysfunction and possibly mitochondrial oxidants appear to be upstream of epigenetic control of genes regulating DNA and chromatin methylation and acetylation (Cheikhi et al., 2019; Cronican et al., 2013) and Notch1/DLL4 signaling in skeletal muscle (Figure 4). Mitochondrial dynamics and ROS generation have been placed upstream of Notch expression and signaling in a range of stem cells with implications on their homeostasis and fate (Paul et al., 2014; Wakabayashi et al., 2015). However, Notch signaling has also been shown to affect mitochondrial function, as it inhibits mitochondrial complex 1 by repressing expression of multiple Nduf subunit transcripts (Lee and Long, 2018). The arsenic-promoted decrease in mitochondrial complexes 1 and 2 (Fig. 2B, Table1) would be consistent with a reciprocal feed-forward dysregulation of mitochondrial signaling and Notch activation. The memory of this dysregulation may be manifest in the enhanced binding of epigenetic marks in the Notch1 promoter, such as the increased acetylation and DNA binding of H2A.Zac that may be promoted by decreased deacetylase substrate NAD<sup>+</sup> (decreased complex 1) or increased acetylase substrate acetyl-CoA (dysfunctional complex 2)(Shaughnessy et al., 2014; Wallace and Fan, 2010; Weinhouse, 2017).

The axis of oxidative stress leading to Notch expression is strongly linked through activation of the Nrf2 (nuclear factor, erythroid factor 2, type 2) transcription factor, as the *Notch1* promoter contains Nrf2 responsive ARE cis-elements (Wakabayashi *et al.*, 2015). However, this

is not a linear relationship as the NICD affects Nrf2 expression and both transcription factors can elicit feedback mechanisms on the respective signaling pathways (Wakabayashi *et al.*, 2015). It is important to note that Nrf2 appears to be essential for the regenerative response of muscle, as well as lung tissue, and that induction of Notch may be a portion of this essentiality (Paul *et al.*, 2014; Shelar *et al.*, 2016; Wakabayashi *et al.*, 2015). However, Nrf2 is also important for limiting the increased flux of ROS that is critical for initiating Notch signaling, stem cell self-renewal and tissue regeneration, as excessive ROS impairs these temporal transitions (Paul *et al.*, 2014; Shelar *et al.*, 2016). Arsenical effects on mitochondria are very effective in activating myocyte antioxidant responses (Cheikhi *et al.*, 2019), and the data in Figures 5 and 6 suggest that chronic activation may be linked to loss of temporal *Notch1* regulation both through cell-autonomous and ECM signaling. However, the data in Figure 4 also suggest that mitochondrial driven epigenetic regulation may contribute to or bypass the Nrf2 axis of *Notch1* regulation.

In summary, the present study demonstrated that arsenic exposure impairs muscle regeneration by eliciting chronic mitochondrial-driven activation of Notch signaling at the level of fibroblast elaboration of ECM bound NICD-induced DLL4. This DLL4 is a memory of arsenic-promoted stress imparted into the ECM that pathogenically misdirects the fate of the heterogenous MuSC populations. Remarkably, the memory of arsenic exposure is held both in mitochondrial-driven epigenetic regulation and cell elaborated transactivating ligands. As Notch signaling is activated in resident MuSC populations of the skeletal muscle niche, subpopulations are disproportionally activated to proliferate and overwhelmingly advance non-myogenic/adipogenic cells that decrease regenerative integrity and contribute to decline of muscle metabolism and tissue integrity.

## 7.0 Chapter 5: Future Directions and Conclusions

# 7.1 Introduction

Skeletal muscle ECM is a dynamic tissue that provides both structural integrity and cellular integration. Although the ECM comprises only approximately 1% to 9% of skeletal muscle cross-sectional area (Light & Champion, 1984), it is a principal element of muscle health and metabolic activity. Resident muscle cells recognize and bind to growth factors and structural ligands embedded within the ECM, which is continuously subjected to remodeling (Frantz *et al.*, 2010; Rozario & DeSimone, 2010). Fibrous collagen is the most abundant structural protein in adult interstitial ECM (Rumian *et al.*, 2007), where it provides the operational framework for muscle and adipose tissue (Flint & Pickering, 1984). Each layer of muscle tissue is primarily comprised of type 1 and type III collagen fibrils secreted and organized mainly by connective tissue fibroblasts (CTFs) (Frantz *et al.*, 2010; Kjaer, 2004; Light & Champion, 1984). Overall, collagens help to regulate cell adhesion, provide tensile strength, support migration and chemotaxis of resident cells, and direct tissue development (Rozario & DeSimone, 2010).

In skeletal muscle, there must be order to the production of the ECM constituents, otherwise, remodeling of the ECM can affect the muscle's regenerative capacity and overall composition (Frantz *et al.*, 2010; Rozario & DeSimone, 2010; Zhang *et al.*, 2016). Typically, a muscle can be dominated by either a Type I muscle fiber, generally considered to be a slow-twitch oxidative muscle fiber or a Type II fiber that is a fast-twitch glycolytic muscle fiber (Zimmerman *et al.*, 1993). Slow-twitch muscle, such as the soleus muscle, has a higher proportion of type I

collagen than type III collagen. In comparison, fast muscles will contain more type III collagen, as seen in the gastrocnemius muscles (Miller *et al.*, 2001; Zimmerman *et al.*, 1993).

Muscle fiber composition is not permanently determined, as external stimuli can promote changes within the ECM to influence muscle fiber direction (Rozario & DeSimone, 2010). The type I muscles tend to have much more mitochondria and, therefore, contain a much higher phospholipid content (Blackard *et al.*, 1997; Costa *et al.*, 2008). Type II muscle fibers are more associated with cancer and diabetes, as they are not as insulin-sensitive as the type I fibers (Clore *et al.*, 2000; Y. Wang & Pessin, 2013). Type II muscles are more affected by age, as the aging muscle experiences a switch from a dominance of fast-twitch fibers to those of slow-twitch (N. Miljkovic *et al.*, 2015). The oxidative type I muscles are smaller and so the loss of muscle mass in aging can be attributed to the smaller muscle fiber and not necessarily muscle fiber loss (Nilwik *et al.*, 2013). Furthermore, age-related decline in muscle strength may be due to the accumulation of intramuscular adipose tissue. It is plausible that ECM remodeling underlies the cues for these fiber and compositional cell-type changes.

In addition to aging, environmental factors, such as arsenic exposure, may cause pathogenic ECM remodeling that misdirects muscle composition (Zhang *et al.*, 2016). As we found in Chapter 4, arsenic can activate CTF Notch1 signaling to increase their expression and ECM deposition of Notch DLL4 ligand. This DLL4 deposition hindered hMPCs from proper myogenic differentiation on the ECM, and instead redirected their differentiation to cell phenotype expressing PDGFR $\alpha$  (Figure 8). Others have shown that dermal fibroblasts from individuals with systemic sclerosis (SSc) produced collagen in excess amounts, resulting in one of the disease's prevailing features of fibrotic tissue (Dees *et al.*, 2011). Fibroblasts from these patients also presented high levels of Notch1 activation (Dees *et al.*, 2011). The data suggest that Notch-1 activates the CTF to produce excess collagen proteins into the ECM. Inhibition of Notch-1 with the  $\gamma$ -secretase inhibitor, DAPT, reduced the basal col1a1 and col1a2 mRNA production in these SSc fibroblasts, as well as their release of collagen protein (Dees *et al.*, 2011).

To further investigate the hypothesis that arsenic-induces an ECM memory for myogenic impairment both through induction of Notch-dependent transcriptional programs and dependent on Notch signaling in the ECM, we examined arsenic-induced changes in ECM composition and niche cell population dynamics. By understanding the relationships between ECM-associated cell populations, we anticipate discovering new strategies for restoring normal elaboration of ECM constituents and intercellular communication that support healthy muscle maintenance and regenerative capacity.

## 7.2 Results of Preliminary Studies and Discussion

Disruptive ECM remodeling and altered ECM constituent (e.g., collagens, laminins, elastins) expression in multiple organs have been consistent findings in arsenic-exposed animal studies (Hays *et al.*, 2008; Petrick *et al.*, 2009; Soucy *et al.*, 2005; Straub *et al.*, 2007; Szymkowicz *et al.*, 2018; Zhang *et al.*, 2016). However, the direction of arsenic-induced ECM matrix constituent changes has been mixed. It may be dependent on the organ, localization of the ECM within the organ, life stage of the exposure (i.e., in utero versus young adult), or species examined. We previously found that arsenic-exposures changed the collagen orientation of the skeletal muscle matrix (Zhang *et al.*, 2016), increased transcript for collagens I and II in CTF isolated from arsenic-exposed mice (Zhang *et al.*, 2016), and increased perivascular adiposity (Garciafigueroa *et al.*, 2013). To confirm these changes at the protein level *in vivo* and to begin characterizing the

cells responsible for ECM and adiposity changes, we compared the abundance of collagen and markers of adiposity in TA muscles from control and arsenic-exposed mice., Arsenic increased interstitial collagen I and III expression in the uninjured muscle (Figure 14A and C-D). Interstitial PDGFR $\alpha$ , an adipose tissue marker, was increased in the arsenic-exposed muscle, but staining for fat with Lipidtox dye only trended towards an increase. PDGFR $\alpha$  is one marker for type 1 pericytes that have been shown to generate both the fibrotic and adipogenic remodeling in muscle (Birbrair, Zhang, Files, *et al.*, 2014; Birbrair *et al.*, 2013). In addition, we found an increased abundance of the pericyte marker, NG2, in both perivascular and interstitial locations (Figure 14B).

To determine whether similar changes in ECM constituent expression and fibro-adipose tissue remodeling occurred in regenerating muscle, we quantified collagen, PDGFR $\alpha$ , NG2, and lipids in TA muscles that were acutely injected with 20 nM arsenite 24 hours before receiving BaCl<sub>2</sub> injury. The muscles were excised and sectioned after a two week recovery. The fibro-adipogenic tissue remodeling was more severe in this exposure paradigm (Fig 15), relative to the environmentally-relevant sub-chronic drinking water exposures (Zhang *et al.*, 2016). Nonetheless, the images and quantification in Figure 16 reveal highly significant increases in PDGFR $\alpha$ , NG2, and lipids in the regenerating tissue. Surprisingly, collagen I expression appeared to be reduced in this model. This finding is not consistent with the increased muscle collagen expression reported in a cardiotoxin injury model of whole life arsenic-exposed fish (Szymkowicz *et al.*, 2018), and may reflect the non-environmentally-relevant exposure paradigm. Alternatively, collagen expression in the fish model was measured using a global collagen stain, and we cannot exclude the possibility that other collagens are increasing while the collagen I is decreased. This alternative will be explored in future studies to provide mechanistic insight, as well as to help define the

arsenic-affected cell types involved in specific collagen elaboration and functional impacts of switching collagen expression.



Figure 14: Arsenic-increased interstitial collagen expression in uninjured mice.

Mice were exposed to 0 or 100  $\mu$ g/L arsenic for five weeks before TA muscles were excised, sectioned and processed for staining with antibodies to (A) collagen I, (B) NG2, collagen III, or PDGFR $\alpha$  and dyed with Lipidtox deep red, phalloidin, and DAPI. (C-F) Integrated densities of staining in individual 40x fields imaged from n=2 mice.



Figure 15: Hematoxylin and Eosin stain of regenerating TA muscle.

An additional preliminary finding in the studies in Figure 16 was that the PDGFR $\alpha$  and NG2 staining was highly colocalized. The co-localization increased with arsenic exposure (Mander's overlap coefficient: control 0.62 + 0.01, arsenic 0.72 + 0.01 (mean + s.d, p<0.01 for arsenic relative to control, n=6 images from 2 mice in each treatment)). This suggested that the type 1 pericytes could be expanding in the interstitium to increase the tissue adiposity. As an initial test of this hypothesis and to further characterize the muscle cells that we isolated and termed CTF ((Zhang *et al.*, 2016), Chapter 4), we stained *ex vivo* cultures for the pericyte marker NG2 and the "fibroblast" marker  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ SMA). The images in Figure 17 suggest that the CTF isolate is a heterogeneous cell population with NG2 positive,  $\alpha$ SMA positive, and co-stained cells. It should be noted that  $\alpha$ SMA is not an exclusive fibroblast marker and has been shown to be expressed by a number of cells in the muscle niche including pericytes, but not FAPS or other mesenchymal progenitors (Birbrair, Zhang, Wang, *et al.*, 2014; Tedesco *et al.*, 2017). Intriguingly, the addition of arsenic to the cultures increased the NG2 staining while there was only a slight, but not significant increase in  $\alpha$ SMA staining. The arsenic response did not appear to be dose-

dependent in the observed range, and the threshold for induction of the NG2 expression may be much lower and in the range of environmental exposures.



Figure 16: Arsenic exposure increases fibro-adipogenic tissue following injury.

Mice were exposed to 0 or 100  $\mu$ g/L arsenic for five weeks before receiving bilateral BaCl2 injury to the TA muscles. After two week recovery, the TA were excised, sectioned, and processed for staining with antibodies to (A) PDGFR $\alpha$ , (B) NG2 or Collagen I and dyed with Lipidtox deep red, phalloidin, and DAPI. (C-F) Integrated densities of staining in individual 40x fields imaged from n=3 mice.



**Figure 17: Effect of ex vivo arsenic exposure on CTF phenotype.** CTF isolated from control mice were plated and exposed to the indicated amounts of arsenic for 24 hours. After fixing, the cells were stained with antibodies to NG2 and αSMC, as well as DAPI.

## **8.0 Conclusions and Future Directions**

These preliminary studies strongly suggest that arsenic may induce expansion of the NG2 positive population of muscle progenitor niche cells. However, the rigor of the observations needs to be increased with observations in more mice following both the uninjured and recovery from injury exposure paradigms. In addition, careful characterization of the CTF isolated from both control and arsenic-exposed mice will be necessary to rigorously examine the mechanisms for arsenic-induced cell phenotypes that contribute to dysfunctional tissue regeneration and advance the risk of cardiometabolic disease caused by arsenic exposure. Specifically, the questions of which niche progenitor cell is induced to promote fibro-adipogenic determination over healthy muscle maintenance and regeneration and why are essential to answer before effective intervention strategies can be identified to reduce the burden of arsenic-promoted diseases. Elucidating the mechanisms integrating cellular and ECM communications that underlie the pathogenic effects on muscle and muscle metabolism will contribute significantly to this effort.

We potentially observe the upregulation of type -1 pericyte-associated proteins among CTF<sup>ars</sup>. These pericytes are capable of producing collagen in an organ-dependent manner (Birbrair, Zhang, Files, *et al.*, 2014), and type-1 pericytes delivered intramuscularly in mice generated ectopic fat (Birbrair *et al.*, 2013). We observed significant increases in PDGFR $\alpha$  in hMPC plated on matrix elaborated by CTF isolated from arsenic exposed mice (Figure 8), as well as in both arsenic exposed uninjured and regenerating muscle (Figures 14, 16), suggesting that arsenic is promoting phenotypic change through activation or differentiation of the interstitial cells. The high degree of co-localization in both control and arsenic-exposed muscle indicates that the pool of type 1 pericytes and their transformation into adipose-like cells may be increased to account for the

increased cellularity and apparent lipid accumulation in the regenerating muscles shown in Figures 15-16. Further, studies will be needed, perhaps with NG2 lineage-tagged transgenic mice (available commercially; (Birbrair *et al.*, 2013)) to confirm the origins of the signals for fibro-adipogenic differentiation of the muscle progenitors and the identity of the progenitors that give rise to adiposity in both uninjured and regenerating muscle.

It will be essential to identify interventions that prevent or, more importantly, reverse the effects of arsenic on the increase in NG2 positive cells and adiposity in the muscle interstitium. The studies in Chapter 4 suggest that restoring mitochondrial function with SS-31 or blocking Notch signaling can prevent or revert arsenic-promoted fibro-adipogenic tissue expansion. The interventions prevented the matrix from CTF of arsenic-exposed mice from reducing hMPC myogenesis and increasing fibro-adipogenic differentiation. Thus, it will be important to demonstrate that the interventions prevent a "priming" of the uninjured muscle that results in the expansion or activation of the pericytes to enhance fibro-adipogenic remodeling after injury. Dees *et al.* found that "primed" or activated dermal fibroblasts had high levels of Notch activation (Dees *et al.*, 2011), and it will be essential to confirm that Notch and elaboration of Notch ligands are the central axis for dysfunctional communications and misdirection of cell fate within the arsenic-exposed niche.

Finally, the studies are limited by only being conducted in male tissues, although the sex of the commercial hMPC was not determined. There are sexual dimorphisms in muscle composition, aging, and pathogenic declines (N. Miljkovic *et al.*, 2015). Unpublished studies in the Barchowsky laboratory found substantial differences in the effects of arsenic exposure on metabolism and adiposity in male and female mice. Thus, it will be important to investigate these differences in the context of muscle adiposity and the differential potential for arsenic to promote myosteatosis in males and females. These studies would greatly impact the public health significance of the work as they would influence the development of effective interventions to reduce the burden of arsenic-promoted disease across the entire human population.

# Appendix: Antibodies and Reagents

# Appendix Table 1: Primary Antibodies.

Primary Antibody	Host	Company	Catalogue No.	Dilution
Anti-Actin, α-Smooth Muscle	Mouse	Sigma	A2547	1:250
CD34 Antibody [EP373Y]	Rabbit	Abcam	ab81289	1:100
Anti-Desmin	Rabbit	Abcam	ab15200	1:1000
Anti-DLL4	Rabbit	Abcam	Ab7280	1:500
DLL4 blocking antibody	American	eBiosciences /	16-5948-82	1:100
	hamster	ThermoFisher		
Anti-PDGFR alpha [16A1]	Mouse	Abcam	ab96569	1:200
Anti-PDGF Receptor α	Rabbit	Cell Signaling	3174S	1:250
MyoD (G-1)	Mouse	Santa-Cruz	sc377460	1:800
Anti-activated Notch1	Rabbit	Abcam	Ab52301	1:200
anti-EGFR	Mouse	<b>BD</b> Laboratories	610017	1:100
anti-pY845EGFR	Rabbit	Cell Signaling	2231	1:100
Alexa Fluor-647 anti-	Mouse	<b>BD</b> Laboratories	Clone 12A3	1:100
pY845EGFR				
Anti- Cyclin D1	Goat	R&D Systems	AF4196	1:100
Anti-MTCO2	Mouse	ThermoFisher	12C4F12	1:200
Total OXPHOS Rodent WB	Mouse	Abcam	ab110413	6 μg/ml
Antibody Cocktail				
Anti-VDAC	Rabbit	Abcam	ab15895	1 μg/ml

# Appendix Table 2: Secondary Antibodies and Dyes.

Secondary Antibody	Host	Company	Catalogue	Dilution
			No.	
Alexa Fluor 488 anti- Rabbit	Donkey	Invitrogen	A21206	1:2000
IgG (H+L)				
Cy3 Conjugated anti-	Donkey	Jackson ImmunoResearch	715-165-151	1:800
Mouse Affinipure				
Alexa Fluor 647-conjugated	Donkey	Jackson ImmunoResearch	705-605-003	1:700
anti-goat IgG (H+L)				
Cy3 anti-Rabbit IgG (H+L)	Goat	Invitrogen /	A10520	1:250
		ThermoFisher Scientific		
IRDye® 800CW anti-Mouse	Donkey	LI-COR Biosciences	926-32212	1:20,000
IgG	-			
IRDye® 680LT anti-Rabbit IgG	Donkey	LI-COR Biosciences	926-68023	1:20,000
Alexa Fluor 647 Phalloidin		ThermoFisher	A22287	1:40
DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-		Biolegend		
phenylindole)				

Arsenic Directs Stem Cell Fate by Imparting Notch Signaling into the Extracellular Matrix Niche. Anguiano et al. Supplementary Information



## Appendix Supplemental Figure 1: CTF Characterization.

CTF were isolated from hind limb muscles of two mice in each group. The cells were fixed 24 hours after being plated in cultures and immunostained with antibody to  $\alpha$ SMA. Confocal images were captured at 40x magnification. Greater than 95% of isolated cells were  $\alpha$ SMA in all cultures.



**Appendix Supplemental Figure 2: Effect of Arsenic on CTF mitochondrial respiratory protein expression.** Respiratory protein expression measured by immunoblotting in the additional three replicate cultures of CTF<sup>ctr</sup> and CTF<sup>ars</sup> (first three replicates shown in Figure 2B). The abundances of respiratory complex proteins (green) and VDAC (red) from all six replicate cultures are given in Table 1.


## **Appendix Supplemental Figure 3: Effect of ECM DLL4 inhibition on hMuSC differentiation.** CTF<sup>ctr</sup> and CTF<sup>ars</sup> were cultured for three days to elaborate ECM. The cells were removed and the ECM was incubated with an antibody that blocks DLL4/Notch binding. After rinsing to remove unbound antibody, hMuSC were seeded and cultured in differentiation medium for two days before fixing and immunofluorescent imaging for desmin (green) and nuclear MyoD (red) expression. Nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue) and F-actin was stained with Alexa Fluor 647-phalloidin (magenta). Images were captured at 40x magnification.

## Quantitative immunofluorescence imaging analysis on Nikon Elements AR software.

Multiple fields were imaged per sample in the 8-well chamber culture slides using the same magnification and threshold settings. When quantifying the mean intensity per cell for several proteins (desmin, NICD, DLL4, PDGFR $\alpha$ , and DLL4), each image was designated as a region of interest (ROI). The mean intensity for each protein within the ROI was quantified by the Nikon Elements AR software. That value was then divided by the number of nuclei within the ROI to calculate the mean intensity per cell for each protein. The mean intensity of MyoD within cell nuclei was calculated by designating each nucleus within an image as a ROI. Each individual nuclear ROI in each field was then averaged by the Nikon Elements AR software. The average of the mean nuclear intensities from each image was graphed as a single data point.

## **Bibliography**

- Abedin, M. J., Cresser, M. S., Meharg, A. A., Feldmann, J., & Cotter-Howells, J. (2002). Arsenic accumulation and metabolism in rice (Oryza sativa L.). *Environ Sci Technol*, 36(5), 962-968. doi: 10.1021/es0101678
- Agbulut, Onnik, et al. "Lack of desmin results in abortive muscle regeneration and modifications in synaptic structure." *Cell motility and the cytoskeleton* 49.2 (2001): 51-66.
- Aggett J, Kriegman MR. The extent of formation of arsenic (III) in sediment interstitial waters and its release to hypolimnetic waters in Lake Ohakuri, Water Res, 1988, vol. 22 (pg. 407-11)
- Ahmad, S. A., Khan, M. H., & Haque, M. (2018). Arsenic contamination in groundwater in Bangladesh: implications and challenges for healthcare policy. *Risk Manag Healthc Policy*, 11, 251-261. doi: 10.2147/RMHP.S153188
- Ahsan, H., Chen, Y., Kibriya, M. G., Slavkovich, V., Parvez, F., Jasmine, F., . . . Graziano, J. H. (2007). Arsenic metabolism, genetic susceptibility, and risk of premalignant skin lesions in Bangladesh. *Cancer Epidemiol.Biomarkers Prev.*, 16(6), 1270-1278.
- Al-Rmalli, S. W., Jenkins, R. O., Watts, M. J., & Haris, P. I. (2010). Risk of human exposure to arsenic and other toxic elements from geophagy: trace element analysis of baked clay using inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry. *Environ Health*, 9, 79. doi: 10.1186/1476-069X-9-79
- Aleixo, G. F. P., Shachar, S. S., Nyrop, K. A., Muss, H. B., Malpica, L., & Williams, G. R. (2020). Myosteatosis and prognosis in cancer: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Crit Rev* Oncol Hematol, 145, 102839. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2019.102839
- Allan, A. M., Hafez, A. K., Labrecque, M. T., Solomon, E. R., Shaikh, M. N., Zheng, X., & Ali, A. (2015). Sex-Dependent effects of developmental arsenic exposure on methylation capacity and methylation regulation of the glucocorticoid receptor system in the embryonic mouse brain. *Toxicol Rep*, 2, 1376-1390. doi: 10.1016/j.toxrep.2015.10.003
- Ambrosio, F., Brown, E., Stolz, D., Ferrari, R., Goodpaster, B., Deasy, B., . . . Barchowsky, A. (2014). Arsenic induces sustained impairment of skeletal muscle and muscle progenitor cell ultrastructure and bioenergetics. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 74, 64-73. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2014.06.012
- Andrechek, E. R., Hardy, W. R., Girgis-Gabardo, A. A., Perry, R. L., Butler, R., Graham, F. L., . . Muller, W. J. (2002). ErbB2 is required for muscle spindle and myoblast cell survival. *Mol Cell Biol*, 22(13), 4714-4722. doi: 10.1128/mcb.22.13.4714-4722.2002
- Andrew, A. S., Mason, R. A., Memoli, V., & Duell, E. J. (2009). Arsenic activates EGFR pathway signaling in the lung. *Toxicol Sci*, 109(2), 350-357. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfp015
- Antman, K. H. (2001). Introduction: the history of arsenic trioxide in cancer therapy. *Oncologist, 6 Suppl 2*, 1-2. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.6-suppl\_2-1
- Aposhian, H. V., Zakharyan, R. A., Avram, M. D., Kopplin, M. J., & Wollenberg, M. L. (2003). Oxidation and detoxification of trivalent arsenic species. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 193(1), 1-8.

- Archile-Contreras AC, Mandell IB, Purslow PP. Phenotypic differences in matrix metalloproteinase 2 activity between fibroblasts from 3 bovine muscles. J. Anim. Sci. 2010; 88:4006–4015
- Arnold, H.L. Odam R.B., James W.D., Disease of the skin Clinical Dermatology, 8<sup>th</sup> ed., Saunders W.B. Company, Philadelphia 1990, p 121
- ATSDR. (2016). Addendum to the Toxicological Profile for Arsenic. Atlanta, GA: Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry Retrieved from https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/Arsenic\_addendum.pdf.
- Bailey, K. A., Smith, A. H., Tokar, E. J., Graziano, J. H., Kim, K. W., Navasumrit, P., . . . Fry, R. C. (2016). Mechanisms Underlying Latent Disease Risk Associated with Early-Life Arsenic Exposure: Current Research Trends and Scientific Gaps. *Environ Health Perspect*, 124(2), 170-175. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1409360
- Bain, L. J., Liu, J. T., & League, R. E. (2016). Arsenic inhibits stem cell differentiation by altering the interplay between the Wnt3a and Notch signaling pathways. *Toxicol Rep*, *3*, 405-413. doi: 10.1016/j.toxrep.2016.03.011
- Barchowsky, A. (2020). Arsenic. In M. L. a. G. D. Leikauf (Ed.), *Environmental Toxicants* (Forth Edition ed., pp. 367-388): John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Barchowsky, A., Roussel, R. R., Klei, L. R., James, P. E., Ganju, N., Smith, K. R., & Dudek, E. J. (1999). Low levels of arsenic trioxide stimulate proliferative signals in primary vascular cells without activating stress effector pathways. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 159(1), 65-75. doi: DOI 10.1006/taap.1999.8723
- Basu, P., Ghosh, R. N., Grove, L. E., Klei, L., & Barchowsky, A. (2008). Angiogenic potential of 3-nitro-4-hydroxy benzene arsonic acid (roxarsone). *Environ Health Perspect*, 116(4), 520-523. doi: 10.1289/ehp.10885
- Beauchamp JR, Heslop L, Yu DSW, Tajbakhsh S, Kelly RG, et al. (2000) Expression of CD34 and Myf5 defines the majority of quiescent adult skeletal muscle satellite cells. Journal of Cell Biology 151: 1221–1233.
- Beezhold, K., Klei, L. R., & Barchowsky, A. (2016). Regulation of cyclin D1 by arsenic and microRNA inhibits adipogenesis. *Toxicol Lett*, 265, 147-155. doi: 10.1016/j.toxlet.2016.12.002
- Begum M, Horowitz J, Hossain MI. Low-dose risk assessment for arsenic: a meta-analysis approach. *Asia Pac J Public Health*. 2015;27(2):NP20-NP35. doi:10.1177/1010539512466568
- Bernstam L, Nriagu J. 2000. Molecular aspects of arsenic stress. J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev 3:293–322.
- Birbrair, A., Zhang, T., Files, D. C., Mannava, S., Smith, T., Wang, Z. M., . . . Delbono, O. (2014). Type-1 pericytes accumulate after tissue injury and produce collagen in an organdependent manner. *Stem Cell Res Ther*, 5(6), 122. doi: 10.1186/scrt512
- Birbrair, A., Zhang, T., Wang, Z. M., Messi, M. L., Enikolopov, G. N., Mintz, A., & Delbono, O. (2013). Role of pericytes in skeletal muscle regeneration and fat accumulation. *Stem Cells Dev*, 22(16), 2298-2314. doi: 10.1089/scd.2012.0647
- Birbrair, A., Zhang, T., Wang, Z. M., Messi, M. L., Mintz, A., & Delbono, O. (2014). Pericytes: multitasking cells in the regeneration of injured, diseased, and aged skeletal muscle. *Front Aging Neurosci*, 6, 245. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00245

- Bjornson, C. R., Cheung, T. H., Liu, L., Tripathi, P. V., Steeper, K. M., & Rando, T. A. (2012). Notch signaling is necessary to maintain quiescence in adult muscle stem cells. *Stem Cells*, 30(2), 232-242. doi: 10.1002/stem.773
- Blackard, W. G., Li, J., Clore, J. N., & Rizzo, W. B. (1997). Phospholipid fatty acid composition in type I and type II rat muscle. *Lipids*, *32*(2), 193-198. doi: 10.1007/s11745-997-0024-1
- Blaurock-Blesch, E. "Arsenic (as) Exposure: Diagnosis and Treatment." Original Internist. Original Internist, Inc. 2013. Retrieved April 15, 2015 from HighBeam Research: <u>http://www.highbeam.com/doc/1G1-355868202.html</u>
- Boerner, J. L., Demory, M. L., Silva, C., & Parsons, S. J. (2004). Phosphorylation of Y845 on the epidermal growth factor receptor mediates binding to the mitochondrial protein cytochrome c oxidase subunit II. *Mol Cell Biol*, 24(16), 7059-7071. doi: 10.1128/MCB.24.16.7059-7071.2004
- Bollu, L. R., Ren, J., Blessing, A. M., Katreddy, R. R., Gao, G., Xu, L., . . . Weihua, Z. (2014). Involvement of de novo synthesized palmitate and mitochondrial EGFR in EGF induced mitochondrial fusion of cancer cells. *Cell Cycle*, *13*(15), 2415-2430. doi: 10.4161/cc.29338
- Borak, J., & Hosgood, H. D. (2007). Seafood arsenic: implications for human risk assessment. *Regul Toxicol Pharmacol*, 47(2), 204-212. doi: 10.1016/j.yrtph.2006.09.005
- Bowen, H J. M. Environmental Chemistry of the Elements. London: Academic Press, 1979.
- Brack, A. S., Conboy, I. M., Conboy, M. J., Shen, J., & Rando, T. A. (2008). A temporal switch from notch to Wnt signaling in muscle stem cells is necessary for normal adult myogenesis. *Cell Stem Cell*, 2(1), 50-59. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2007.10.006
- Buas, M. F., & Kadesch, T. (2010). Regulation of skeletal myogenesis by Notch. *Exp Cell Res*, 316(18), 3028-3033. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2010.05.002
- Bundschuh, Jochen, et al. "Naturally occurring arsenic in terrestrial geothermal systems of western Anatolia, Turkey: potential role in contamination of freshwater resources." Journal of hazardous materials 262 (2013): 951-959Campbell, M. D., Duan, J., Samuelson, A. T., Gaffrey, M. J., Merrihew, G. E., Egertson, J. D., . . . Marcinek, D. J. (2019). Improving mitochondrial function with SS-31 reverses age-related redox stress and improves exercise tolerance aged mice. Free Radic Biol Med. 134, 268-281. in doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.12.031
- Cappellari, O., Benedetti, S., Innocenzi, A., Tedesco, F. S., Moreno-Fortuny, A., Ugarte, G., ... Cossu, G. (2013). Dll4 and PDGF-BB convert committed skeletal myoblasts to pericytes without erasing their myogenic memory. *Dev Cell*, 24(6), 586-599. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2013.01.022
- Carey, A. M., Lombi, E., Donner, E., de Jonge, M. D., Punshon, T., Jackson, B. P., . . . Meharg, A. A. (2012). A review of recent developments in the speciation and location of arsenic and selenium in rice grain. *Anal Bioanal Chem*, 402(10), 3275-3286. doi: 10.1007/s00216-011-5579-x
- Carobbio, S., Rodriguez-Cuenca, S., & Vidal-Puig, A. (2011). Origins of metabolic complications in obesity: ectopic fat accumulation. The importance of the qualitative aspect of lipotoxicity. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*, 14(6), 520-526. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e32834ad966
- Carter, D. E., Aposhian, H. V., & Gandolfi, A. J. (2003). The metabolism of inorganic arsenic oxides, gallium arsenide, and arsine: a toxicochemical review. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 193(3), 309-334. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2003.07.009

- [CDER] Center for Drug Evaluation and Research. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. "Guidance for Industry Estimating the Maximum Safe Starting Dose in Initial Clinical Trials for Therapeutics in Adult Healthy Volunteers." (2005).
- Chakraborti, D., Mukherjee, S. C., Pati, S., Sengupta, M. K., Rahman, M. M., Chowdhury, U. K., . . . Basu, G. K. (2003). Arsenic groundwater contamination in Middle Ganga Plain, Bihar, India: a future danger? *Environ Health Perspect*, *111*(9), 1194-1201.
- Chakraborti, D., Rahman, M. M., Chatterjee, A., Das, D., Das, B., Nayak, B., ... Kar, P. B. (2016).
  Fate of over 480 million inhabitants living in arsenic and fluoride endemic Indian districts: Magnitude, health, socio-economic effects and mitigation approaches. *J Trace Elem Med Biol*, 38, 33-45. doi: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2016.05.001
- Charge, S. B., & Rudnicki, M. A. (2004). Cellular and molecular regulation of muscle regeneration. *Physiol Rev*, 84(1), 209-238. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00019.2003
- Charville, G. W., Cheung, T. H., Yoo, B., Santos, P. J., Lee, G. K., Shrager, J. B., & Rando, T. A. (2015). Ex Vivo Expansion and In Vivo Self-Renewal of Human Muscle Stem Cells. *Stem Cell Reports*, 5(4), 621-632. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2015.08.004
- Cheikhi, A., Anguiano, T., Lasak, J., Qian, B., Sahu, A., Mimiya, H., . . . Barchowsky, A. (2020). Arsenic Stimulates Myoblast Mitochondrial EGFR to Impair Myogenesis. *Toxicol Sci*, kfaa031. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfaa031
- Cheikhi, A., Wallace, C., St Croix, C., Cohen, C., Tang, W. Y., Wipf, P., . . . Barchowsky, A. (2018). Mitochondria are a substrate of cellular memory. *Free Radic Biol Med*, *130*(130), 528-541. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.11.028
- Cheikhi, A., Wallace, C., St Croix, C., Cohen, C., Tang, W. Y., Wipf, P., . . . Barchowsky, A. (2019). Mitochondria are a substrate of cellular memory. *Free Radic Biol Med*, *130*, 528-541. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.11.028
- Chen, B., Arnold, L. L., Cohen, S. M., Thomas, D. J., & Le, X. C. (2011). Mouse Arsenic (+3 Oxidation State) Methyltransferase Genotype Affects Metabolism and Tissue Dosimetry of Arsenicals after Arsenite Administration in Drinking Water. *Toxicological Sciences*, 124(2), 320-326. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfr246
- Chung, J. Y., Yu, S. D., & Hong, Y. S. (2014). Environmental source of arsenic exposure. *J Prev Med Public Health*, 47(5), 253-257. doi: 10.3961/jpmph.14.036
- Ciciliot, S., & Schiaffino, S. (2010). Regeneration of mammalian skeletal muscle. Basic mechanisms and clinical implications. *Curr Pharm Des, 16*(8), 906-914. doi: 10.2174/138161210790883453
- Clore, J. N., Harris, P. A., Li, J., Azzam, A., Gill, R., Zuelzer, W., . . . Blackard, W. G. (2000). Changes in phosphatidylcholine fatty acid composition are associated with altered skeletal muscle insulin responsiveness in normal man. *Metabolism*, 49(2), 232-238. doi: 10.1016/s0026-0495(00)91455-0
- Cohen, S. M., Arnold, L. L., Beck, B. D., Lewis, A. S., & Eldan, M. (2013). Evaluation of the carcinogenicity of inorganic arsenic. *Crit Rev Toxicol*, 43(9), 711-752. doi: 10.3109/10408444.2013.827152
- Conboy, I. M., Conboy, M. J., Smythe, G. M., & Rando, T. A. (2003). Notch-mediated restoration of regenerative potential to aged muscle. *Science*, *302*(5650), 1575-1577. doi: 10.1126/science.1087573
- Conboy, I. M., & Rando, T. A. (2002). The regulation of Notch signaling controls satellite cell activation and cell fate determination in postnatal myogenesis. *Dev Cell*, 3(3), 397-409.

- Contreras, O., Rebolledo, D. L., Oyarzun, J. E., Olguin, H. C., & Brandan, E. (2016). Connective tissue cells expressing fibro/adipogenic progenitor markers increase under chronic damage: relevance in fibroblast-myofibroblast differentiation and skeletal muscle fibrosis. *Cell Tissue Res*, *364*(3), 647-660. doi: 10.1007/s00441-015-2343-0
- Cornelison, D. D. W., and Barbara J. Wold. "Single-cell analysis of regulatory gene expression in quiescent and activated mouse skeletal muscle satellite cells." *Developmental biology* 191.2 (1997): 270-283.
- Cornelison DD, Filla MS, Stanley HM, Rapraeger AC, Olwin BB. Syndecan-3 and syndecan-4 specifically mark skeletal muscle satellite cells and are implicated in satellite cell maintenance and muscle regeneration. Dev Biol 239: 79–94, 2001
- Correa-de-Araujo, R., Harris-Love, M. O., Miljkovic, I., Fragala, M. S., Anthony, B. W., & Manini, T. M. (2017). The Need for Standardized Assessment of Muscle Quality in Skeletal Muscle Function Deficit and Other Aging-Related Muscle Dysfunctions: A Symposium Report. *Front Physiol*, 8, 87. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.00087
- Costa, P., Roseiro, L. C., Bessa, R. J., Padilha, M., Partidario, A., Marques de Almeida, J., . . . Santos, C. (2008). Muscle fiber and fatty acid profiles of Mertolenga-PDO meat. *Meat Sci*, 78(4), 502-512. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2007.07.020
- Cronican, A. A., Fitz, N. F., Carter, A., Saleem, M., Shiva, S., Barchowsky, A., . . . Lefterov, I. (2013). Genome-wide alteration of histone H3K9 acetylation pattern in mouse offspring prenatally exposed to arsenic. *PLoS One*, 8(2), e53478. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053478
- Cullen, W. R., & Reimer, K. J. (1989). Arsenic Speciation in the Environment. *Chemical Reviews*, 89(4), 713-764. doi: DOI 10.1021/cr00094a002
- Dabeka, R. W., McKenzie, A. D., Lacroix, G. M., Cleroux, C., Bowe, S., Graham, R. A., ... Verdier, P. (1993). Survey of arsenic in total diet food composites and estimation of the dietary intake of arsenic by Canadian adults and children. J AOAC Int, 76(1), 14-25.
- Das, N., Paul, S., Chatterjee, D., Banerjee, N., Majumder, N. S., Sarma, N., ... Giri, A. K. (2012). Arsenic exposure through drinking water increases the risk of liver and cardiovascular diseases in the population of West Bengal, India. *BMC Public Health*, 12, 639. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-639
- Dees, C., Tomcik, M., Zerr, P., Akhmetshina, A., Horn, A., Palumbo, K., . . . Distler, J. H. (2011). Notch signalling regulates fibroblast activation and collagen release in systemic sclerosis. *Ann Rheum Dis*, 70(7), 1304-1310. doi: 10.1136/ard.2010.134742
- Demory, M. L., Boerner, J. L., Davidson, R., Faust, W., Miyake, T., Lee, I., . . . Parsons, S. J. (2009). Epidermal growth factor receptor translocation to the mitochondria: regulation and effect. *J Biol Chem*, 284(52), 36592-36604. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.000760
- Dias Moura Prazeres, P. H., Sena, I. F. G., Borges, I. D. T., de Azevedo, P. O., Andreotti, J. P., de Paiva, A. E., . . . Birbrair, A. (2017). Pericytes are heterogeneous in their origin within the same tissue. *Dev Biol*, 427(1), 6-11. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2017.05.001
- Eisler, R. (2004). Arsenic hazards to humans, plants, and animals from gold mining. *Rev Environ Contam Toxicol, 180*, 133-165.
- Engler, A. J., Sen, S., Sweeney, H. L., & Discher, D. E. (2006). Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification. *Cell*, *126*(4), 677-689. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.06.044
- Engstrom, K. S., Hossain, M. B., Lauss, M., Ahmed, S., Raqib, R., Vahter, M., & Broberg, K. (2013). Efficient arsenic metabolism--the AS3MT haplotype is associated with DNA methylation and expression of multiple genes around AS3MT. *PLoS One*, 8(1), e53732. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053732

- Enterline, P. E., Day, R., & Marsh, G. M. (1995). Cancers related to exposure to arsenic at a copper smelter. *Occup.Environ.Med*, 52(1), 28-32.
- [EPA] Environmental Protection Agency. "Technical Fact Sheet: Final Rule for Arsenic in Drinking Water." United States Environmental Protection Agency Drinking Water Requirements for States and Public Water Systems (2001). Available <u>https://www.epa.gov/dwreginfo/chemical-contaminant-rules</u>
- European Commission, Ambient Air Pollution by AS, CD and NI compounds, 2000. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu.pitt.idm.oclc.org/environment/air/pdf/pp\_as\_cd\_ni.pdf, pp. 318.
- Farzan, S. F., Li, Z., Korrick, S. A., Spiegelman, D., Enelow, R., Nadeau, K., ... Karagas, M. R. (2016). Infant Infections and Respiratory Symptoms in Relation to in Utero Arsenic Exposure in a U.S. Cohort. *Environ Health Perspect*, 124(6), 840-847. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1409282
- [FDA] U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Arsenic-based Animal Drugs and Poultry. 2019. <u>https://www.fda.gov/animal-veterinary/product-safety-information/arsenic-based-animal-drugs-and-poultry</u>
- Ferrario, D., Gribaldo, L., & Hartung, T. (2016). Arsenic Exposure and Immunotoxicity: a Review Including the Possible Influence of Age and Sex. *Curr Environ Health Rep*, *3*(1), 1-12. doi: 10.1007/s40572-016-0082-3
- Ferreccio, C., Yuan, Y., Calle, J., Benitez, H., Parra, R. L., Acevedo, J., . . . Steinmaus, C. (2013). Arsenic, tobacco smoke, and occupation: associations of multiple agents with lung and bladder cancer. *Epidemiology*, 24(6), 898-905. doi: 10.1097/EDE.0b013e31829e3e03
- Flint, F. O., & Pickering, K. (1984). Demonstration of collagen in meat products by an improved picro-Sirius red polarisation method. *Analyst*, 109(11), 1505-1506. doi: 10.1039/an9840901505
- Ford, B. D., Han, B., & Fischbach, G. D. (2003). Differentiation-dependent regulation of skeletal myogenesis by neuregulin-1. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 306(1), 276-281. doi: 10.1016/s0006-291x(03)00964-1
- Francesconi, K. A., & Edmonds, J. S. (1996). Arsenic and Marine Organisms. In A. G. Sykes (Ed.), *Advances in Inorganic Chemistry* (Vol. 44, pp. 147-189): Academic Press.
- Francesconi, K. A., & Kuehnelt, D. (2004). Determination of arsenic species: a critical review of methods and applications, 2000-2003. *Analyst*, 129(5), 373-395. doi: 10.1039/b401321m
- Frantz, C., Stewart, K. M., & Weaver, V. M. (2010). The extracellular matrix at a glance. *J Cell Sci, 123*(Pt 24), 4195-4200. doi: 10.1242/jcs.023820
- Fu, J., Woods, C. G., Yehuda-Shnaidman, E., Zhang, Q., Wong, V., Collins, S., ... Pi, J. (2010). Low-level arsenic impairs glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in pancreatic beta cells: involvement of cellular adaptive response to oxidative stress. *Environ Health Perspect*, 118(6), 864-870. doi: 10.1289/ehp.0901608
- Gamble, M. V., Liu, X., Ahsan, H., Pilsner, J. R., Ilievski, V., Slavkovich, V., . . . Graziano, J. H. (2006). Folate and arsenic metabolism: a double-blind, placebo-controlled folic acidsupplementation trial in Bangladesh. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 84(5), 1093-1101.
- Garciafigueroa, D. Y., Klei, L. R., Ambrosio, F., & Barchowsky, A. (2013). Arsenic-stimulated lipolysis and adipose remodeling is mediated by g-protein-coupled receptors. *Toxicol Sci*, 134(2), 335-344. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kft108
- Gerli, M. F. M., Moyle, L. A., Benedetti, S., Ferrari, G., Ucuncu, E., Ragazzi, M., . . . Tedesco, F. S. (2019). Combined Notch and PDGF Signaling Enhances Migration and Expression of

Stem Cell Markers while Inducing Perivascular Cell Features in Muscle Satellite Cells. *Stem Cell Reports*, *12*(3), 461-473. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2019.01.007

- Germolec, D. R., Spalding, J., Yu, H. S., Chen, G. S., Simeonova, P. P., Humble, M. C., . . . Luster, M. I. (1998). Arsenic enhancement of skin neoplasia by chronic stimulation of growth factors. *Am J Pathol*, 153(6), 1775-1785.
- Gillies, A. R., & Lieber, R. L. (2011). Structure and function of the skeletal muscle extracellular matrix. *Muscle Nerve*, 44(3), 318-331. doi: 10.1002/mus.22094
- Gnocchi, Viola F., et al. "Further characterisation of the molecular signature of quiescent and activated mouse muscle satellite cells." *PloS one* 4.4 (2009): e5205.
- Goetsch, K. P., Snyman, C., Myburgh, K. H., & Niesler, C. U. (2015). Simultaneous isolation of enriched myoblasts and fibroblasts for migration analysis within a novel co-culture assay. *BioTechniques*, 58(1), 25-32. doi: 10.2144/000114246
- Golding, J. P., Calderbank, E., Partridge, T. A., & Beauchamp, J. R. (2007). Skeletal muscle stem cells express anti-apoptotic ErbB receptors during activation from quiescence. *Exp Cell Res*, 313(2), 341-356. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2006.10.019
- Goodpaster, B. H., Krishnaswami, S., Resnick, H., Kelley, D. E., Haggerty, C., Harris, T. B., ... Newman, A. B. (2003). Association between regional adipose tissue distribution and both type 2 diabetes and impaired glucose tolerance in elderly men and women. *Diabetes Care*, 26(2), 372-379.
- Goodpaster, B. H., Thaete, F. L., & Kelley, D. E. (2000). Thigh adipose tissue distribution is associated with insulin resistance in obesity and in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 71(4), 885-892.
- Granados, A., Gebremariam, A., Gidding, S. S., Terry, J. G., Carr, J. J., Steffen, L. M., . . . Lee, J. M. (2019). Association of abdominal muscle composition with prediabetes and diabetes: The CARDIA study. *Diabetes Obes Metab*, 21(2), 267-275. doi: 10.1111/dom.13513
- Grau-Perez, M., Kuo, C. C., Gribble, M. O., Balakrishnan, P., Jones Spratlen, M., Vaidya, D., ... Navas-Acien, A. (2017). Association of Low-Moderate Arsenic Exposure and Arsenic Metabolism with Incident Diabetes and Insulin Resistance in the Strong Heart Family Study. *Environ Health Perspect*, 125(12), 127004. doi: 10.1289/EHP2566
- Grounds MD. Phagocytosis of necrotic muscle in muscle isografts is influenced by the strain, age, and sex of host mice. J Pathol. 1987; 153:71–82.
- Grounds MD, Sorokin L, White J. Strength at the extracellular matrix-muscle interface. Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sport. 2005;15:381–391
- Guglielmi, Giorgia. "Arsenic in drinking water threatens up to 60 million in Pakistan." Science. Asia/Pacific, Climate, Earth, Health. 23 Aug 2017. doi: 10.1126/science.aap7590 https://www.sciencemag.org/news/2017/08/arsenic-drinking-water-threatens-60-millionpakistan
- Gumucio, J. P., Qasawa, A. H., Ferrara, P. J., Malik, A. N., Funai, K., McDonagh, B., & Mendias, C. L. (2019). Reduced mitochondrial lipid oxidation leads to fat accumulation in myosteatosis. *FASEB J*, 33(7), 7863-7881. doi: 10.1096/fj.201802457RR
- Hall, M., Chen, Y., Ahsan, H., Slavkovich, V., van Geen, A., Parvez, F., & Graziano, J. (2006).
  Blood arsenic as a biomarker of arsenic exposure: Results from a prospective study. *Toxicology*, 225(2-3), 225-233. doi: DOI 10.1016/j.tox.2006.06.010
- Hathaway GJ, Proctor NH, Hughes JP, Fischman ML. 1991. Arsenic and arsine. In: Proctor NH, Hughes JP, editors. Chemical hazards of the workplace. Third edition. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold. p 92–6.

- Hawke, T. J., & Garry, D. J. (2001). Myogenic satellite cells: physiology to molecular biology. J Appl Physiol (1985), 91(2), 534-551. doi: 10.1152/jappl.2001.91.2.534
- Hawkesworth, S., Wagatsuma, Y., Kippler, M., Fulford, A. J., Arifeen, S. E., Persson, L. A., ... Vahter, M. (2013). Early exposure to toxic metals has a limited effect on blood pressure or kidney function in later childhood, rural Bangladesh. *Int J Epidemiol*, 42(1), 176-185. doi: 10.1093/ije/dys215
- Hawksley, L. and N. Archives. <u>Bitten by Witch Fever: Wallpaper & Arsenic in the Victorian</u> <u>Home</u>, Thames & Hudson. 2016.
- Hays, A. M., Lantz, R. C., Rodgers, L. S., Sollome, J. J., Vaillancourt, R. R., Andrew, A. S., ... Camenisch, T. D. (2008). Arsenic-induced decreases in the vascular matrix. *Toxicol Pathol*, 36(6), 805-817. doi: 10.1177/0192623308323919
- Hernández-Hernández, J. Manuel, et al. "The myogenic regulatory factors, determinants of muscle development, cell identity and regeneration." *Seminars in cell & developmental biology*. Vol. 72. Academic Press, 2017.
- Hong, G. M., & Bain, L. J. (2012). Sodium arsenite represses the expression of myogenin in C2C12 mouse myoblast cells through histone modifications and altered expression of Ezh2, Glp, and Igf-1. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 260(3), 250-259. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2012.03.002
- Hood, Ernie. The apple bites back: claiming old orchards for residential development. (2006): A470-A476.
- Hughes, M. F., Beck, B. D., Chen, Y., Lewis, A. S., & Thomas, D. J. (2011). Arsenic exposure and toxicology: a historical perspective. *Toxicol Sci*, 123(2), 305-332. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfr184
- Hunt, Katherine M., et al. The mechanistic basis of arsenicosis: pathogenesis of skin cancer. Cancer letters 354.2 (2014): 211-219.
- IARC. (2017). *IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Arsenic, metals, fibres, dusts: Nickel and Nickel Compounds.* Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer Retrieved from http://monographs.iarc.fr/ENG/Monographs/vol100C/mono100C-10.pdf.
- Irintchev A, Zeschnigk M, Starzinski-Powitz A, Wernig A. Expression pattern of M-cadherin in normal, denervated, and regenerating mouse muscles. Dev Dyn 199: 326–337, 1994
- Iyer, Sandhya, Caesar Sengupta, and A. Velumani. "Blood arsenic: pan-India prevalence." *Clinica Chimica Acta* 455 (2016): 99-101
- Javadov, S., Jang, S., Rodriguez-Reyes, N., Rodriguez-Zayas, A. E., Soto Hernandez, J., Krainz, T., . . Frontera, W. (2015). Mitochondria-targeted antioxidant preserves contractile properties and mitochondrial function of skeletal muscle in aged rats. *Oncotarget*, 6(37), 39469-39481. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.5783
- Joe, A. W., Yi, L., Natarajan, A., Le Grand, F., So, L., Wang, J., . . . Rossi, F. M. (2010). Muscle injury activates resident fibro/adipogenic progenitors that facilitate myogenesis. *Nat Cell Biol*, *12*(2), 153-163. doi: 10.1038/ncb2015
- Kelleger, Katy. "Scheele's Green, the Color of Fake Foliage and Death." the Paris Review. 2 May 2018. Retrieved from <u>https://www.theparisreview.org</u>
- Kitchin, K. T., & Wallace, K. (2008). The role of protein binding of trivalent arsenicals in arsenic carcinogenesis and toxicity. *J Inorg Biochem*, *102*(3), 532-539. doi: 10.1016/j.jinorgbio.2007.10.021

- Kitzmann, M., Bonnieu, A., Duret, C., Vernus, B., Barro, M., Laoudj-Chenivesse, D., . . . Carnac, G. (2006). Inhibition of Notch signaling induces myotube hypertrophy by recruiting a subpopulation of reserve cells. *J Cell Physiol*, 208(3), 538-548. doi: 10.1002/jcp.20688
- Kjaer, M. (2004). Role of extracellular matrix in adaptation of tendon and skeletal muscle to mechanical loading. *Physiol Rev*, 84(2), 649-698. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00031.2003
- Klei, L. R., Garciafigueroa, D. Y., & Barchowsky, A. (2013). Arsenic activates endothelin-1 Gi protein-coupled receptor signaling to inhibit stem cell differentiation in adipogenesis. *Toxicol Sci*, 131(2), 512-520. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfs323
- Kozul, C. D., Ely, K. H., Enelow, R. I., & Hamilton, J. W. (2009). Low-dose arsenic compromises the immune response to influenza A infection in vivo. *Environ Health Perspect*, *117*(9), 1441-1447.
- Kozul, C. D., Hampton, T. H., Davey, J. C., Gosse, J. A., Nomikos, A. P., Eisenhauer, P. L., ... Hamilton, J. W. (2009). Chronic exposure to arsenic in the drinking water alters the expression of immune response genes in mouse lung. *Environ Health Perspect*, 117(7), 1108-1115. doi: 10.1289/ehp.0800199
- Kuang S, Kuroda K, Le Grand F, Rudnicki MA. Asymmetric self-renewal and commitment of satellite stem cells in muscle. Cell. 2007;129(5):999–1010.
- Kuo, C. C., Howard, B. V., Umans, J. G., Gribble, M. O., Best, L. G., Francesconi, K. A., . . . Navas-Acien, A. (2015). Arsenic exposure, arsenic metabolism, and incident diabetes in the strong heart study. *Diabetes Care*, 38(4), 620-627. doi: 10.2337/dc14-1641
- Kuo, C. C., Moon, K. A., Wang, S. L., Silbergeld, E., & Navas-Acien, A. (2017). The Association of Arsenic Metabolism with Cancer, Cardiovascular Disease, and Diabetes: A Systematic Review of the Epidemiological Evidence. *Environ Health Perspect*, 125(8), 087001. doi: 10.1289/EHP577
- Lambertini, L., & Byun, H. M. (2016). Mitochondrial Epigenetics and Environmental Exposure. *Curr Environ Health Rep*, 3(3), 214-224. doi: 10.1007/s40572-016-0103-2
- Lantz, R. C., & Hays, A. M. (2006). Role of oxidative stress in arsenic-induced toxicity. *Drug Metab Rev*, 38(4), 791-804. doi: 10.1080/03602530600980108
- Laricheva, Elena. "Why is Green the Color of Poison?" MEL Science. 13 May 2015. Retrieved from <u>http://blog.melscience.com</u>
- Lawrence, J.F., Michalik, P., Tam, G., Conacher, H.B.S., 1986. Identification of arsenobetaine and arsenocholine in Canadian fish and shellfish by highperformance liquid chromatography with atomic absorption detection and conformation by fast atom bombardment mass spectrometry. J. Agric. Food Chem. 34, 315–319.
- Lee, S. Y., & Long, F. (2018). Notch signaling suppresses glucose metabolism in mesenchymal progenitors to restrict osteoblast differentiation. J Clin Invest, 128(12), 5573-5586. doi: 10.1172/JCI96221
- Lemaire, M., Lemarie, C. A., Flores Molina, M., Guilbert, C., Lehoux, S., & Mann, K. K. (2014). Genetic Deletion of LXRalpha Prevents Arsenic-Enhanced Atherosclerosis, But Not Arsenic-Altered Plaque Composition. *Toxicol Sci*, 142(2), 477-488. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfu197
- Lemaire, M., Lemarie, C. A., Molina, M. F., Schiffrin, E. L., Lehoux, S., & Mann, K. K. (2011). Exposure to Moderate Arsenic Concentrations Increases Atherosclerosis in ApoE(-/-) Mouse Model. *Toxicological Sciences*, 122(1), 211-221. doi: DOI 10.1093/toxsci/kfr097
- Lemaire, M., Negro Silva, L. F., Lemarie, C. A., Bolt, A. M., Flores Molina, M., Krohn, R. M., . . . Mann, K. K. (2015). Arsenic Exposure Increases Monocyte Adhesion to the Vascular

Endothelium, a Pro-Atherogenic Mechanism. *PLoS One*, 10(9), e0136592. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0136592

- Leroy, M. C., Perroud, J., Darbellay, B., Bernheim, L., & Konig, S. (2013). Epidermal growth factor receptor down-regulation triggers human myoblast differentiation. *PLoS One*, 8(8), e71770. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0071770
- Li, H., You, L., Xie, J., Pan, H., & Han, W. (2017). The roles of subcellularly located EGFR in autophagy. *Cell Signal*, *35*, 223-230. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2017.04.012
- Light, N., & Champion, A. E. (1984). Characterization of muscle epimysium, perimysium and endomysium collagens. *Biochem J*, 219(3), 1017-1026. doi: 10.1042/bj2191017
- Lipton, B. H., & Schultz, E. (1979). Developmental fate of skeletal muscle satellite cells. *Science*, 205(4412), 1292-1294. doi: 10.1126/science.472747
- Liu, Chia-Chuan, et al. "The geochemical characteristics of the mud liquids in the Wushanting and Hsiaokunshui Mud Volcano region in southern Taiwan: Implications of humic substances for binding and mobilization of arsenic." Journal of Geochemical Exploration 128 (2013): 62-71.
- Liu, J., Lu, Y., Wu, Q., Goyer, R. A., & Waalkes, M. P. (2008). Mineral arsenicals in traditional medicines: orpiment, realgar, and arsenolite. *Journal of Pharmacology and experimental therapeutics*, 326(2), 363-368.
- Liu, W., Yin, T., Ren, J., Li, L., Xiao, Z., Chen, X., & Xie, D. (2014). Activation of the EGFR/Akt/NF-kappaB/cyclinD1 survival signaling pathway in human cholesteatoma epithelium. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol*, 271(2), 265-273. doi: 10.1007/s00405-013-2403-6
- Liu, Z. (2010). Roles of Vertebrate Aquaglyceroporins in Arsenic Transport and Detoxification. In T. P. Jahn & G. P. Bienert (Eds.), *MIPs and Their Role in the Exchange of Metalloids* (Vol. 679, pp. 71-81). New York, NY: Springer New York.
- Lord, Gillian, Nick Kim, and Neil I. Ward. Arsenic speciation of geothermal waters in New Zealand. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring* 14.12 (2012): 3192-3201.
- Maesner, Claire C., Albert E. Almada, and Amy J. Wagers. "Established cell surface markers efficiently isolate highly overlapping populations of skeletal muscle satellite cells by fluorescence-activated cell sorting." *Skeletal muscle* 6.1 (2016): 35.
- Majumder, S., & Banik, P. (2019). Geographical variation of arsenic distribution in paddy soil, rice and rice-based products: A meta-analytic approach and implications to human health. *Journal of environmental management*, 233, 184-199. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.12.034
- Mandal, B. K., & Suzuki, K. T. (2002). Arsenic round the world: a review. *Talanta*, 58(1), 201-235.
- Mantha, M., Yeary, E., Trent, J., Creed, P. A., Kubachka, K., Hanley, T., ... Creed, J. T. (2017). Estimating Inorganic Arsenic Exposure from U.S. Rice and Total Water Intakes. *Environ Health Perspect*, 125(5), 057005. doi: 10.1289/EHP418
- Marinkovic, M., Fuoco, C., Sacco, F., Cerquone Perpetuini, A., Giuliani, G., Micarelli, E., . . . Cesareni, G. (2019). Fibro-adipogenic progenitors of dystrophic mice are insensitive to NOTCH regulation of adipogenesis. *Life Sci Alliance*, 2(3). doi: 10.26508/lsa.201900437
- Martin, E. M., Styblo, M., & Fry, R. C. (2017). Genetic and epigenetic mechanisms underlying arsenic-associated diabetes mellitus: a perspective of the current evidence. *Epigenomics*, 9(5), 701-710. doi: 10.2217/epi-2016-0097
- Mathew, Sam J., et al. "Connective tissue fibroblasts and Tcf4 regulate myogenesis." *Development* 138.2 (2011): 371-384.

- Matthews., David A., "The Arsenic Dress: How Poisonous Green Pigments Terrorized Victorian Fashion." Pictorial. 04 November 2015. Retrieved from <a href="https://pictorial.jezebel.com">https://pictorial.jezebel.com</a>
- Maull, E. A., Ahsan, H., Edwards, J., Longnecker, M. P., Navas-Acien, A., Pi, J., . . . Loomis, D. (2012). Evaluation of the Association between Arsenic and Diabetes: A National Toxicology Program Workshop Review. *Environ Health Perspect*, 120(12), 1658-1670. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1104579
- Mazumder, D. G., & Dasgupta, U. B. (2011). Chronic arsenic toxicity: Studies in West Bengal, India. *Kaohsiung Journal of Medical Sciences*, 27(9), 360-370. doi: DOI 10.1016/j.kjms.2011.05.003
- McDermott, J. R., Jiang, X., Beene, L. C., Rosen, B. P., & Liu, Z. (2010). Pentavalent methylated arsenicals are substrates of human AQP9. *Biometals*, 23(1), 119-127. doi: 10.1007/s10534-009-9273-9Meharg, A. A., Williams, P. N., Adomako, E., Lawgali, Y. Y., Deacon, C., Villada, A., . . . Yanai, J. (2009). Geographical variation in total and inorganic arsenic content of polished (white) rice. *Environ Sci Technol*, 43(5), 1612-1617.
- Meier, Alisson. "Fatal Victorian Fashion and the Allure of the Poison Garment." Hyerallergic. 20 June 2014. Retrieved from <u>https://hyperallergic.com</u>
- Miljkovic-Gacic, I., Ferrell, R. E., Patrick, A. L., Kammerer, C. M., & Bunker, C. H. (2005). Estimates of African, European and Native American ancestry in Afro-Caribbean men on the island of Tobago. *Hum Hered*, 60(3), 129-133. doi: 10.1159/000089553
- Miljkovic, I., Cauley, J. A., Wang, P. Y., Holton, K. F., Lee, C. G., Sheu, Y., . . . Osteoporotic Fractures in Men Research, G. (2013). Abdominal myosteatosis is independently associated with hyperinsulinemia and insulin resistance among older men without diabetes. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 21(10), 2118-2125. doi: 10.1002/oby.20346
- Miljkovic, I., Kuipers, A. L., Cauley, J. A., Prasad, T., Lee, C. G., Ensrud, K. E., ... Osteoporotic Fractures in Men Study, G. (2015). Greater Skeletal Muscle Fat Infiltration Is Associated With Higher All-Cause and Cardiovascular Mortality in Older Men. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 70(9), 1133-1140. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glv027
- Miljkovic, I., & Zmuda, J. M. (2010). Epidemiology of myosteatosis. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*, 13(3), 260-264. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e328337d826
- Miljkovic, N., Lim, J. Y., Miljkovic, I., & Frontera, W. R. (2015). Aging of skeletal muscle fibers. *Ann Rehabil Med*, 39(2), 155-162. doi: 10.5535/arm.2015.39.2.155
- Miller, T. A., Lesniewski, L. A., Muller-Delp, J. M., Majors, A. K., Scalise, D., & Delp, M. D. (2001). Hindlimb unloading induces a collagen isoform shift in the soleus muscle of the rat. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol, 281(5), R1710-1717. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.2001.281.5.R1710
- Mitchell, Valerie L. "Health risks associated with chronic exposures to arsenic in the environment." Reviews in Mineralogy and Geochemistry 79.1 (2014): 435-449
- Mitchell, W., Ng, E. A., Tamucci, J. D., Boyd, K. J., Sathappa, M., Coscia, A., . . . Alder, N. N. (2020). The mitochondria-targeted peptide SS-31 binds lipid bilayers and modulates surface electrostatics as a key component of its mechanism of action. *J Biol Chem.* doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA119.012094
- Moon, K. A., Oberoi, S., Barchowsky, A., Chen, Y., Guallar, E., Nachman, K. E., . . . Navas-Acien, A. (2017). A dose-response meta-analysis of chronic arsenic exposure and incident cardiovascular disease. *Int J Epidemiol*, *46*(6), 1924-1939. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyx202
- Moyle, L. A., Tedesco, F. S., & Benedetti, S. (2019). Pericytes in Muscular Dystrophies. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, 1147, 319-344. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-16908-4\_15

- Mukherjee, S. C., Rahman, M. M., Chowdhury, U. K., Sengupta, M. K., Lodh, D., Chanda, C. R., . . . Chakraborti, D. (2003). Neuropathy in arsenic toxicity from groundwater arsenic contamination in West Bengal, India. J Environ Sci Health A Tox Hazard Subst Environ Eng, 38(1), 165-183.
- Mukhopadhyay, R., Bhattacharjee, H., & Rosen, B. P. (2014). Aquaglyceroporins: generalized metalloid channels. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1840(5), 1583-1591. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2013.11.021
- Murphy, Malea M., et al. "Satellite cells, connective tissue fibroblasts and their interactions are crucial for muscle regeneration." *Development* 138.17 (2011): 3625-3637.
- Nachit, M., & Leclercq, I. A. (2019). Emerging awareness on the importance of skeletal muscle in liver diseases: time to dig deeper into mechanisms! *Clin Sci (Lond)*, 133(3), 465-481. doi: 10.1042/CS20180421
- Nachman, K. E., Punshon, T., Rardin, L., Signes-Pastor, A. J., Murray, C. J., Jackson, B. P., . . . Karagas, M. R. (2018). Opportunities and Challenges for Dietary Arsenic Intervention. *Environ Health Perspect*, 126(8), 84503. doi: 10.1289/EHP3997
- Nagata, Y., Ohashi, K., Wada, E., Yuasa, Y., Shiozuka, M., Nonomura, Y., & Matsuda, R. (2014). Sphingosine-1-phosphate mediates epidermal growth factor-induced muscle satellite cell activation. *Exp Cell Res*, 326(1), 112-124. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2014.06.009
- Nakahara H, Yanokura M, Murakami Y. Environmental effects of geothermal waste water on the near-by river system. *Journal of Radioanalytical Chemistry*. 1978;45(1):25–36
- Naujokas, M. F., Anderson, B., Ahsan, H., Aposhian, H. V., Graziano, J. H., Thompson, C., & Suk, W. A. (2013). The broad scope of health effects from chronic arsenic exposure: update on a worldwide public health problem. *Environ Health Perspect*, 121(3), 295-302. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1205875
- Ng, J. C., Wang, J. P., Zheng, B., Zhai, C., Maddalena, R., Liu, F., & Moore, M. R. (2005). Urinary porphyrins as biomarkers for arsenic exposure among susceptible populations in Guizhou province, China. *Toxicol Appl.Pharmacol.*, 206(2), 176-184.
- Ngole-Jeme, V. M., Ekosse, G. E., & Songca, S. P. (2018). An analysis of human exposure to trace elements from deliberate soil ingestion and associated health risks. *J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol*, 28(1), 55-63. doi: 10.1038/jes.2016.67
- Nigra, A. E., Nachman, K. E., Love, D. C., Grau-Perez, M., & Navas-Acien, A. (2017). Poultry Consumption and Arsenic Exposure in the U.S. Population. *Environ Health Perspect*, *125*(3), 370-377. doi: 10.1289/EHP351
- Nigra, A. E., Ruiz-Hernandez, A., Redon, J., Navas-Acien, A., & Tellez-Plaza, M. (2016). Environmental Metals and Cardiovascular Disease in Adults: A Systematic Review Beyond Lead and Cadmium. *Curr Environ Health Rep, 3*(4), 416-433. doi: 10.1007/s40572-016-0117-9
- Nilwik, R., Snijders, T., Leenders, M., Groen, B. B., van Kranenburg, J., Verdijk, L. B., & van Loon, L. J. (2013). The decline in skeletal muscle mass with aging is mainly attributed to a reduction in type II muscle fiber size. *Exp Gerontol*, 48(5), 492-498. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2013.02.012
- NRC. (2014). National Research Council: Critical aspects of EPA's IRIS assessment of inorganic arsenic: interim report. Washington, DC.
- Nyanza, E. C., Joseph, M., Premji, S. S., Thomas, D. S., & Mannion, C. (2014). Geophagy practices and the content of chemical elements in the soil eaten by pregnant women in

artisanal and small scale gold mining communities in Tanzania. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth, 14, 144. doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-14-144

- Oberoi, S., Devleesschauwer, B., Gibb, H. J., & Barchowsky, A. (2019). Global burden of cancer and coronary heart disease resulting from dietary exposure to arsenic, 2015. *Environ Res*, *171*, 185-192. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2019.01.025
- Olguin, H. C., Yang, Z., Tapscott, S. J., & Olwin, B. B. (2007). Reciprocal inhibition between Pax7 and muscle regulatory factors modulates myogenic cell fate determination. *J Cell Biol*, *177*(5), 769-779. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200608122
- Onishi, H., and K. H. Wedepohl. Handbook of geochemistry. Vol. II, Edited by KH Wedepohl (1969)
- Oremland, R. S., & Stolz, J. F. (2003). The ecology of arsenic. Science, 300(5621), 939-944.
- Owusu-Ansah, E., Yavari, A., Mandal, S., & Banerjee, U. (2008). Distinct mitochondrial retrograde signals control the G1-S cell cycle checkpoint. *Nat Genet*, 40(3), 356-361. doi: 10.1038/ng.2007.50
- Pal, A., Nayak, B., Das, B., Hossain, M. A., Ahamed, S., & Chakraborti, D. (2007). Additional danger of arsenic exposure through inhalation from burning of cow dung cakes laced with arsenic as a fuel in arsenic affected villages in Ganga-Meghna-Brahmaputra plain. J Environ Monit, 9(10), 1067-1070. doi: 10.1039/b709339j
- Parute, E. (2018). The Color Green. Between Freshness, Beauty and Danger. *Fashionologia Historiana*. Retrieved from: https://www.fashionologiahistoriana.com/
- Parvez, F., Chen, Y., Brandt-Rauf, P. W., Slavkovich, V., Islam, T., Ahmed, A., . . . Ahsan, H. (2010). A prospective study of respiratory symptoms associated with chronic arsenic exposure in Bangladesh: findings from the Health Effects of Arsenic Longitudinal Study (HEALS). *Thorax*, 65(6), 528-533. doi: 10.1136/thx.2009.119347
- Parvez, F., Chen, Y., Yunus, M., Olopade, C., Segers, S., Slavkovich, V., ... Ahsan, H. (2013). Arsenic exposure and impaired lung function. Findings from a large population-based prospective cohort study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 188(7), 813-819. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201212-22820C
- Parvez, F., Wasserman, G. A., Factor-Litvak, P., Liu, X., Slavkovich, V., Siddique, A. B., . . . Graziano, J. H. (2011). Arsenic exposure and motor function among children in Bangladesh. *Environ Health Perspect*, 119(11), 1665-1670. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1103548
- Pasut, A., Chang, N. C., Rodriguez, U. G., Faulkes, S., Yin, H., Lacaria, M., . . . Rudnicki, M. A. (2016). Notch Signaling Rescues Loss of Satellite Cells Lacking Pax7 and Promotes Brown Adipogenic Differentiation. *Cell Rep.* doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.06.001
- Patterson, T. J., & Rice, R. H. (2007). Arsenite and insulin exhibit opposing effects on epidermal growth factor receptor and keratinocyte proliferative potential. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 221(1), 119-128. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2007.02.003
- Paul, M. K., Bisht, B., Darmawan, D. O., Chiou, R., Ha, V. L., Wallace, W. D., . . . Gomperts, B. N. (2014). Dynamic changes in intracellular ROS levels regulate airway basal stem cell homeostasis through Nrf2-dependent Notch signaling. *Cell Stem Cell*, 15(2), 199-214. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2014.05.009
- Penrose, W. R., Conacher, H. B., Black, R., Meranger, J. C., Miles, W., Cunningham, H. M., & Squires, W. R. (1977). Implications of inorganic/organic interconversion on fluxes of arsenic in marine food webs. *Environ Health Perspect*, 19, 53-59. doi: 10.1289/ehp.771953

- Petrick, J. S., Blachere, F. M., Selmin, O., & Lantz, R. C. (2009). Inorganic arsenic as a developmental toxicant: in utero exposure and alterations in the developing rat lungs. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, 53(5), 583-591. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.200800019
- Piver, WT. Mobilization of arsenic by natural and industrial processes. Top Environ. Health. 6 (1983).
- Podgorski, J. E., Eqani, S., Khanam, T., Ullah, R., Shen, H., & Berg, M. (2017). Extensive arsenic contamination in high-pH unconfined aquifers in the Indus Valley. *Sci Adv*, 3(8), e1700935. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1700935
- Pontius, F. W., Brown, K. G., & Chen, C.-J. (1994). Health implications of arsenic in drinking water. *Journal - American Water Works Association*, 86(9), 52-63. doi: 10.1002/j.1551-8833.1994.tb06246.x
- Prado, C. M., Purcell, S. A., Alish, C., Pereira, S. L., Deutz, N. E., Heyland, D. K., . . . Heymsfield, S. B. (2018). Implications of low muscle mass across the continuum of care: a narrative review. *Ann Med*, 1-19. doi: 10.1080/07853890.2018.1511918
- Punshon, T., Jackson, B. P., Meharg, A. A., Warczack, T., Scheckel, K., & Guerinot, M. L. (2017). Understanding arsenic dynamics in agronomic systems to predict and prevent uptake by crop plants. *Sci Total Environ*, 581-582, 209-220. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.12.111
- Rahman, A., Vahter, M., Ekstrom, E. C., & Persson, L. A. (2011). Arsenic exposure in pregnancy increases the risk of lower respiratory tract infection and diarrhea during infancy in Bangladesh. *Environ Health Perspect*, 119(5), 719-724. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1002265
- Ramsey, K. A., Bosco, A., McKenna, K. L., Carter, K. W., Elliot, J. G., Berry, L. J., ... Zosky, G. R. (2013). In utero exposure to arsenic alters lung development and genes related to immune and mucociliary function in mice. *Environ Health Perspect*, 121(2), 244-250. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1205590
- Reinders, I., Murphy, R. A., Brouwer, I. A., Visser, M., Launer, L., Siggeirsdottir, K., . . . Age, G. E. S. R. S. (2016). Muscle Quality and Myosteatosis: Novel Associations With Mortality Risk: The Age, Gene/Environment Susceptibility (AGES)-Reykjavik Study. Am J Epidemiol, 183(1), 53-60. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwv153
- Relaix, Frédéric, et al. "A Pax3/Pax7-dependent population of skeletal muscle progenitor cells." Nature 435.7044 (2005): 948.
- Reznikova, T. V., Phillips, M. A., Patterson, T. J., & Rice, R. H. (2010). Opposing actions of insulin and arsenite converge on PKCdelta to alter keratinocyte proliferative potential and differentiation. *Mol Carcinog*, 49(4), 398-409. doi: 10.1002/mc.20612
- Roberts, Edward W., et al. "Depletion of stromal cells expressing fibroblast activation protein-α from skeletal muscle and bone marrow results in cachexia and anemia." *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 210.6 (2013): 1137-1151.
- Roboz, G. J., Dias, S., Lam, G., Lane, W. J., Soignet, S. L., Warrell, R. P., Jr., & Rafii, S. (2000). Arsenic trioxide induces dose- and time-dependent apoptosis of endothelium and may exert an antileukemic effect via inhibition of angiogenesis. *Blood*, 96(4), 1525-1530.
- Rozario, T., & DeSimone, D. W. (2010). The extracellular matrix in development and morphogenesis: a dynamic view. *Dev Biol, 341*(1), 126-140. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2009.10.026
- Rumian, A. P., Wallace, A. L., & Birch, H. L. (2007). Tendons and ligaments are anatomically distinct but overlap in molecular and morphological features--a comparative study in an ovine model. *J Orthop Res*, 25(4), 458-464. doi: 10.1002/jor.20218

- Sahu, A., Mamiya, H., Shinde, S. N., Cheikhi, A., Winter, L. L., Vo, N. V., . . . Ambrosio, F. (2018). Age-related declines in alpha-Klotho drive progenitor cell mitochondrial dysfunction and impaired muscle regeneration. *Nat Commun*, 9(1), 4859. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-07253-3
- Sanchez, T. R., Perzanowski, M., & Graziano, J. H. (2016). Inorganic arsenic and respiratory health, from early life exposure to sex-specific effects: A systematic review. *Environ Res.* doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2016.02.009
- Sanchez, T. R., Powers, M., Perzanowski, M., George, C. M., Graziano, J. H., & Navas-Acien, A. (2018). A Meta-analysis of Arsenic Exposure and Lung Function: Is There Evidence of Restrictive or Obstructive Lung Disease? *Curr Environ Health Rep*, 5(2), 244-254. doi: 10.1007/s40572-018-0192-1
- Santanasto, A. J., Goodpaster, B. H., Kritchevsky, S. B., Miljkovic, I., Satterfield, S., Schwartz, A. V., . . . Newman, A. B. (2017). Body Composition Remodeling and Mortality: The Health Aging and Body Composition Study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 72(4), 513-519. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glw163
- Santos, G. S. P., Magno, L. A. V., Romano-Silva, M. A., Mintz, A., & Birbrair, A. (2019). Pericyte Plasticity in the Brain. *Neurosci Bull*, *35*(3), 551-560. doi: 10.1007/s12264-018-0296-5
- Schultz, E. (1989). Satellite cell behavior during skeletal muscle growth and regeneration. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, *21*(5 Suppl), S181-S186.
- Seale P, Sabourin LA, Girgis-Gabardo A, Mansouri A, Gruss P, Rudnicki MA: Pax7 is required for the specification of myogenic satellite cells. Cell 2000, 102:777-786.
- Sele, V., Sloth, J. J., Julshamn, K., Skov, K., & Amlund, H. (2015). A study of lipid- and watersoluble arsenic species in liver of Northeast Arctic cod (Gadus morhua) containing high levels of total arsenic. J Trace Elem Med Biol, 30, 171-179. doi: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2014.12.010
- Sell, H., Dietze-Schroeder, D., & Eckel, J. (2006). The adipocyte-myocyte axis in insulin resistance. *Trends Endocrinol Metab*, *17*(10), 416-422. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2006.10.010
- Sharples, S.B. "II. Scheele's Green, Its Composition as Usually Prepared, and Some Experiments upon Arsenite of Copper: Presented, June 14, 1876." American Academy of Arts and Sciences, Boston. Proceedings (1846-1906), vol. XII, 1877, pp. 11.
- Shaughnessy, D. T., McAllister, K., Worth, L., Haugen, A. C., Meyer, J. N., Domann, F. E., ... Tyson, F. L. (2014). Mitochondria, energetics, epigenetics, and cellular responses to stress. *Environ Health Perspect*, 122(12), 1271-1278. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1408418
- Shelar, S. B., Narasimhan, M., Shanmugam, G., Litovsky, S. H., Gounder, S. S., Karan, G., ... Rajasekaran, N. S. (2016). Disruption of nuclear factor (erythroid-derived-2)-like 2 antioxidant signaling: a mechanism for impaired activation of stem cells and delayed regeneration of skeletal muscle. *FASEB J*, 30(5), 1865-1879. doi: 10.1096/fj.201500153
- Sherwood, C. L., Lantz, R. C., & Boitano, S. (2013). Chronic arsenic exposure in nanomolar concentrations compromises wound response and intercellular signaling in airway epithelial cells. *Toxicol Sci*, *132*(1), 222-234. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfs331
- Siegel, Ashley L., Paige K. Kuhlmann, and D. D. W. Cornelison. "Muscle satellite cell proliferation and association: new insights from myofiber time-lapse imaging." Skeletal muscle 1.1 (2011): 7.
- Silbergeld, E. K., & Nachman, K. (2008). The environmental and public health risks associated with arsenical use in animal feeds. *Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1140*, 346-357. doi: 10.1196/annals.1454.049

- Simeonova, P. P., & Luster, M. I. (2002). Arsenic carcinogenicity: relevance of c-Src activation. *Mol Cell Biochem*, 234-235(1-2), 277-282.
- Simeonova, P. P., Wang, S., Hulderman, T., & Luster, M. I. (2002). c-Src-dependent activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor and mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway by arsenic. Role in carcinogenesis. J Biol Chem, 277(4), 2945-2950. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109136200
- Sinczuk-Walczak, H., Szymczak, M., & Halatek, T. (2010). Effects of occupational exposure to arsenic on the nervous system: clinical and neurophysiological studies. *Int.J.Occup.Med.Environ Health*, 23(4), 347-355.
- Sloth, J. J., & Julshamn, K. (2008). Survey of total and inorganic arsenic content in blue mussels (Mytilus edulis L.) from Norwegian fiords: revelation of unusual high levels of inorganic arsenic. J Agric Food Chem, 56(4), 1269-1273. doi: 10.1021/jf073174+
- Smedley, Pauline L., and David G. Kinniburgh. A review of the source, behaviour and distribution of arsenic in natural waters. *Applied geochemistry* 17.5 (2002): 517-568.96New York Chapman and Hall (pg. 163-81)
- Smith, A. H., Ercumen, A., Yuan, Y., & Steinmaus, C. M. (2009). Increased lung cancer risks are similar whether arsenic is ingested or inhaled. *J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol*, 19(4), 343-348. doi: 10.1038/jes.2008.73
- Smith, A. H., Marshall, G., Yuan, Y., Liaw, J., Ferreccio, C., & Steinmaus, C. (2011). Evidence from Chile that arsenic in drinking water may increase mortality from pulmonary tuberculosis. *Am J Epidemiol*, 173(4), 414-420. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwq383
- Smith, L., Cho, S., & Discher, D. E. (2017). Mechanosensing of matrix by stem cells: From matrix heterogeneity, contractility, and the nucleus in pore-migration to cardiogenesis and muscle stem cells in vivo. *Semin Cell Dev Biol*, 71, 84-98. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2017.05.025
- Soucy, N. V., Ihnat, M. A., Kamat, C. D., Hess, L., Post, M. J., Klei, L. R., . . . Barchowsky, A. (2003). Arsenic stimulates angiogenesis and tumorigenesis in vivo. *Toxicol Sci*, 76(2), 271-279. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfg231
- Soucy, N. V., Mayka, D., Klei, L. R., Nemec, A. A., Bauer, J. A., & Barchowsky, A. (2005). Neovascularization and angiogenic gene expression following chronic arsenic exposure in mice. *Cardiovasc Toxicol*, 5(1), 29-41.
- States, J. C. (2015). Disruption of Mitotic Progression by Arsenic. *Biol Trace Elem Res, 166*(1), 34-40. doi: 10.1007/s12011-015-0306-7
- Stearns-Reider, K. M., D'Amore, A., Beezhold, K., Rothrauff, B., Cavalli, L., Wagner, W. R., ... Ambrosio, F. (2017). Aging of the skeletal muscle extracellular matrix drives a stem cell fibrogenic conversion. *Aging Cell*, 16(3), 518-528. doi: 10.1111/acel.12578
- Steffens, A. A., Hong, G. M., & Bain, L. J. (2011). Sodium arsenite delays the differentiation of C2C12 mouse myoblast cells and alters methylation patterns on the transcription factor myogenin. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 250(2), 154-161. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2010.10.006
- Steinmaus, C., Ferreccio, C., Acevedo, J., Balmes, J. R., Liaw, J., Troncoso, P., ... Smith, A. H. (2016). High risks of lung disease associated with early-life and moderate lifetime arsenic exposure in northern Chile. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 313, 10-15. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2016.10.006
- Straif, K., Benbrahim-Tallaa, L., Baan, R., Grosse, Y., Secretan, B., El Ghissassi, F., . . . Group, W. H. O. I. A. f. R. o. C. M. W. (2009). A review of human carcinogens--Part C: metals, arsenic, dusts, and fibres. *Lancet Oncol*, 10(5), 453-454.

- Straub, A. C., Clark, K. A., Ross, M. A., Chandra, A. G., Li, S., Gao, X., . . . Barchowsky, A. (2008). Arsenic-stimulated liver sinusoidal capillarization in mice requires NADPH oxidase-generated superoxide. *J Clin Invest*, 118(12), 3980-3989. doi: 10.1172/JCI35092
- Straub, A. C., Klei, L. R., Stolz, D. B., & Barchowsky, A. (2009). Arsenic requires sphingosine-1-phosphate type 1 receptors to induce angiogenic genes and endothelial cell remodeling. *Am J Pathol*, 174(5), 1949-1958. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2009.081016
- Straub, A. C., Stolz, D. B., Vin, H., Ross, M. A., Soucy, N. V., Klei, L. R., & Barchowsky, A. (2007). Low level arsenic promotes progressive inflammatory angiogenesis and liver blood vessel remodeling in mice. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 222(3), 327-336. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2006.10.011
- Styblo, M., Del Razo, L. M., Vega, L., Germolec, D. R., LeCluyse, E. L., Hamilton, G. A., . . . Thomas, D. J. (2000). Comparative toxicity of trivalent and pentavalent inorganic and methylated arsenicals in rat and human cells. *Arch Toxicol*, 74(6), 289-299. doi: 10.1007/s002040000134
- Sung, T. C., Huang, J. W., & Guo, H. R. (2015). Association between Arsenic Exposure and Diabetes: A Meta-Analysis. *Biomed Res Int*, 2015, 368087. doi: 10.1155/2015/368087
- Szeto, H. H., & Liu, S. (2018). Cardiolipin-targeted peptides rejuvenate mitochondrial function, remodel mitochondria, and promote tissue regeneration during aging. Arch Biochem Biophys, 660, 137-148. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2018.10.013
- Szymkowicz, D. B., Schwendinger, K. L., Tatnall, C. M., Swetenburg, J. R., & Bain, L. J. (2018). Embryonic-only arsenic exposure alters skeletal muscle satellite cell function in killifish (Fundulus heteroclitus). Aquat Toxicol, 198, 276-286. doi: 10.1016/j.aquatox.2018.03.015
- Tan, X., Lambert, P. F., Rapraeger, A. C., & Anderson, R. A. (2016). Stress-Induced EGFR Trafficking: Mechanisms, Functions, and Therapeutic Implications. *Trends Cell Biol*, 26(5), 352-366. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2015.12.006
- Tedesco, F. S., Dellavalle, A., Diaz-Manera, J., Messina, G., & Cossu, G. (2010). Repairing skeletal muscle: regenerative potential of skeletal muscle stem cells. *J Clin Invest*, 120(1), 11-19. doi: 10.1172/JCI40373
- Tedesco, F. S., Moyle, L. A., & Perdiguero, E. (2017). Muscle Interstitial Cells: A Brief Field Guide to Non-satellite Cell Populations in Skeletal Muscle. *Methods Mol Biol*, 1556, 129-147. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-6771-1\_7
- Tokar, E. J., Benbrahim-Tallaa, L., & Waalkes, M. P. (2011). Metal ions in human cancer development. *Met.Ions.Life Sci.*, *8*, 375-401.
- Tomasek, J. J., Gabbiani, G., Hinz, B., Chaponnier, C. and Brown, R. A. (2002). Myofibroblasts and mechano-regulation of connective tissue remodelling. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 3, 349-363.
- Tseng, C. H., Huang, Y. K., Huang, Y. L., Chung, C. J., Yang, M. H., Chen, C. J., & Hsueh, Y. M. (2005). Arsenic exposure, urinary arsenic speciation, and peripheral vascular disease in blackfoot disease-hyperendemic villages in Taiwan. *Toxicol Appl.Pharmacol.*, 206(3), 299-308.
- Tsitkanou, S., Della Gatta, P. A., & Russell, A. P. (2016). Skeletal Muscle Satellite Cells, Mitochondria, and MicroRNAs: Their Involvement in the Pathogenesis of ALS. *Front Physiol*, 7, 403. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2016.00403
- Tyler, C. R., & Allan, A. M. (2014). The Effects of Arsenic Exposure on Neurological and Cognitive Dysfunction in Human and Rodent Studies: A Review. *Curr Environ Health Rep*, 1, 132-147. doi: 10.1007/s40572-014-0012-1

- Uezumi, A., Fukada, S., Yamamoto, N., Ikemoto-Uezumi, M., Nakatani, M., Morita, M., . . . Tsuchida, K. (2014). Identification and characterization of PDGFRalpha+ mesenchymal progenitors in human skeletal muscle. *Cell Death Dis, 5*, e1186. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2014.161
- Uezumi, A., Fukada, S., Yamamoto, N., Takeda, S., & Tsuchida, K. (2010). Mesenchymal progenitors distinct from satellite cells contribute to ectopic fat cell formation in skeletal muscle. *Nat Cell Biol*, *12*(2), 143-152. doi: 10.1038/ncb2014
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. Dangers in the Manufacture of Paris Green and Scheele's Green. Monthly Review of the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, vol. 5, no. 2, 1917, pp. 78–83. JSTOR. Retrieved from www.jstor.org/stable/41829377
- [USGS] United States Geological Survey. Study estimates about 2.1 million people using wells high in arsenic. 18 Oct 2017. Available from: <u>https://www.usgs.gov/news/study-estimates-about-21-million-people-using-wells-high-arsenic</u>
- Verma, M., Asakura, Y., Murakonda, B. S. R., Pengo, T., Latroche, C., Chazaud, B., ... Asakura, A. (2018). Muscle Satellite Cell Cross-Talk with a Vascular Niche Maintains Quiescence via VEGF and Notch Signaling. *Cell Stem Cell*, 23(4), 530-543 e539. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2018.09.007
- Vic. "Emerald Green or Paris Green, the Deadly Regency of Pigment." 5 March 2010. Jane Austen's World. Retrieved from <u>https://janeaustensworld.wordpress.com</u>
- Vigouroux, C., Caron-Debarle, M., Le Dour, C., Magre, J., & Capeau, J. (2011). Molecular mechanisms of human lipodystrophies: from adipocyte lipid droplet to oxidative stress and lipotoxicity. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, *43*(6), 862-876. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2011.03.002
- Voermans NC, Bönnemann CG, Huijing PA, Hamel BC, van Kuppevelt TH, de Haan A, Schalkwijk J, van Engelen BG, Jenniskens GJ. Clinical and molecular overlap between myopathies and inherited connective tissue diseases. Neuromuscul. Disord. 2008;18:843– 856.
- Wagatsuma, A., & Sakuma, K. (2013). Mitochondria as a potential regulator of myogenesis. *ScientificWorldJournal*, 2013, 593267. doi: 10.1155/2013/593267
- Wakabayashi, N., Chartoumpekis, D. V., & Kensler, T. W. (2015). Crosstalk between Nrf2 and Notch signaling. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 88(Pt B), 158-167. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2015.05.017
- Wallace, D. C., & Fan, W. (2010). Energetics, epigenetics, mitochondrial genetics. *Mitochondrion*, *10*(1), 12-31. doi: 10.1016/j.mito.2009.0906
- Wang, C. H., Hsiao, C. K., Chen, C. L., Hsu, L. I., Chiou, H. Y., Chen, S. Y., . . . Chen, C. J. (2007). A review of the epidemiologic literature on the role of environmental arsenic exposure and cardiovascular diseases. *Toxicol.Appl.Pharmacol.*, 222(3), 315-326.
- Wang, Y., & Pessin, J. E. (2013). Mechanisms for fiber-type specificity of skeletal muscle atrophy. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*, *16*(3), 243-250. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e328360272d
- Wasserman, G. A., Liu, X., Loiacono, N. J., Kline, J., Factor-Litvak, P., van Geen, A., . . . Graziano, J. H. (2014). A cross-sectional study of well water arsenic and child IQ in Maine schoolchildren. *Environ Health*, *13*(1), 23. doi: 10.1186/1476-069X-13-23
- Wasserman, G. A., Liu, X., Parvez, F., Factor-Litvak, P., Ahsan, H., Levy, D., ... Graziano, J. H. (2011). Arsenic and manganese exposure and children's intellectual function. *Neurotoxicology*, 32(4), 450-457. doi: 10.1016/j.neuro.2011.03.009
- Wei, Q., & Paterson, B. M. (2001). Regulation of MyoD function in the dividing myoblast. *FEBS Lett*, 490(3), 171-178. doi: 10.1016/s0014-5793(01)02120-2

- Weinhouse, C. (2017). Mitochondrial-epigenetic crosstalk in environmental toxicology. *Toxicology*, 391, 5-17. doi: 10.1016/j.tox.2017.08.008
- Welch, A. H., Westjohn, D. B., Helsel, D. R., & Wanty, R. B. (2000). Arsenic in Ground Water of the United States: Occurrence and Geochemistry. *Ground Water*, 38(4), 589-604. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6584.2000.tb00251.x
- Whorton, James C., the Arsenic Century. <u>How Victorian Britain was Poisoned at Home, Work, &</u> <u>Play</u>, Oxford, Oxford University Press, 2010.
- Williams, A. S., Kang, L., & Wasserman, D. H. (2015). The extracellular matrix and insulin resistance. *Trends Endocrinol Metab*, 26(7), 357-366. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2015.05.006
- Woolsen, E.A. Man's perturbation of the arsenic cycle. In: Lederer, W.H. & Fensterheim, R.J., ed. Arsenic: industrial, biomedical and environmental perspectives. Proceedings of the Arsenic Symposium, Gaithersburg, MD. New York, Van Nostrand Reinhold, 1983.
- Wren, T. A., Bluml, S., Tseng-Ong, L., & Gilsanz, V. (2008). Three-point technique of fat quantification of muscle tissue as a marker of disease progression in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: preliminary study. AJR Am J Roentgenol, 190(1), W8-12. doi: 10.2214/AJR.07.2732
- Wright, Jennifer. "The History of Green Dye is a History of Death." Racked. 17 March 2017. Retrieved from <u>https://www.racked.com</u>
- Wu, F., Molinaro, P., & Chen, Y. (2014). Arsenic Exposure and Subclinical Endpoints of Cardiovascular Diseases. Curr Environ Health Rep, 1(2), 148-162. doi: 10.1007/s40572-014-0011-2
- Yanagishita, Masaki. "Function of proteoglycans in the extracellular matrix." *Pathology International* 43.6 (1993): 283-293.
- Yao, Y., Wang, G., Li, Z., Yan, B., Guo, Y., Jiang, X., & Xi, Z. (2010). Mitochondrially localized EGFR is independent of its endocytosis and associates with cell viability. *Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai)*, 42(11), 763-770. doi: 10.1093/abbs/gmq090
- Yen, Y. P., Tsai, K. S., Chen, Y. W., Huang, C. F., Yang, R. S., & Liu, S. H. (2010). Arsenic inhibits myogenic differentiation and muscle regeneration. *Environ Health Perspect*, 118(7), 949-956. doi: 10.1289/ehp.0901525
- Yokohira, M., Arnold, L. L., Pennington, K. L., Suzuki, S., Kakiuchi-Kiyota, S., Herbin-Davis, K.,... Cohen, S. M. (2011). Effect of Sodium Arsenite Dose Administered in the Drinking Water on the Urinary Bladder Epithelium of Female Arsenic (+3 Oxidation State) Methyltransferase Knockout Mice. *Toxicological Sciences*, 121(2), 257-266. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfr051
- Yoshida, N., Yoshida, S., Koishi, K., Masuda, K., & Nabeshima, Y. (1998). Cell heterogeneity upon myogenic differentiation: down-regulation of MyoD and Myf-5 generates 'reserve cells'. *J Cell Sci*, *111* (*Pt* 6), 769-779.
- Young, J. L., Cai, L., & States, J. C. (2018). Impact of prenatal arsenic exposure on chronic adult diseases. *Syst Biol Reprod Med*, 64(6), 469-483. doi: 10.1080/19396368.2018.1480076
- Yurchenco PD, Patton BL. Developmental and Pathogenic Mechanisms of Basement Membrane Assembly. Curr. Pharm. Des. 2009;15:1277–1294.
- Zammit PS, et al. Muscle satellite cells adopt divergent fates: a mechanism for self-renewal? J Cell Biol. 2004;166(3):347–357.
- Zerr, George; Rübencamp, R. A Treatise on Colour Manufacture 1st ed. Mayer, C. (trans.) (ed.) Griffin & Co. Ltd., London (1908).

- Zhang, C., Ferrari, R., Beezhold, K., Stearns-Reider, K., D'Amore, A., Haschak, M., . . . Ambrosio, F. (2016). Arsenic Promotes NF-kB-Mediated Fibroblast Dysfunction and Matrix Remodeling to Impair Muscle Stem Cell Function. *Stem Cells*, 34(3), 732-742. doi: 10.1002/stem.2232
- Zheng, L. Y., Umans, J. G., Yeh, F., Francesconi, K. A., Goessler, W., Silbergeld, E. K., ... Navas-Acien, A. (2015). The Association of Urine Arsenic with Prevalent and Incident Chronic Kidney Disease: Evidence from the Strong Heart Study. *Epidemiology*. doi: 10.1097/EDE.000000000000313
- Zhu, H., & Bunn, H. F. (2001). Signal transduction. How do cells sense oxygen? *Science*, 292(5516), 449-451.
- Zimmerman, S. D., McCormick, R. J., Vadlamudi, R. K., & Thomas, D. P. (1993). Age and training alter collagen characteristics in fast- and slow-twitch rat limb muscle. J Appl Physiol (1985), 75(4), 1670-1674. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1993.75.4.1670